The development of concrete operations: a short-term longitudinal study.

Sara Anne Cowper Meadows

Thesis submitted for the degree of Ph.D. University of London. July 1975.

Psychology Department, Bedford College, London



ProQuest Number: 10098279

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 10098279

Published by ProQuest LLC(2016). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code. Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

# Abstract

Piaget's theory of concrete operations structuresd'ensemble is discussed, and certain predictions derived from it investigated in a longitudinal study of 120 children aged between 5.0 and 11.10. The data of these testings were submitted to a variety of analyses. The results suggested that the development of concrete operations was unlike the succession of discontinuous generalised stages which Piaget has postulated. His model is criticised as taking insufficient account of individual differences and of the structure of the testing situation.

# Acknowledgements

I should like to thank the staff and pupils of the schools which took part in this study, the technicians of the Psychology Department of Bedford College, my typist Mrs. White, my supervisors, Professor B.M. Foss and Dr. J.M. Wilding, and all the very many psychologists, statisticians and teachers who were so generous with their time, advice and support.

# Table of Contents

		Page
Section 1. INTRO	DUCTION	1
<u>2</u> . OUTL	INE OF PIAGET'S THEORY OF COGNITIVE DEVELOPMENT	16
2.1.0.	General Theoretical Aspects	17
2.2.0.	Specific Theoretical Aspects	21
2.2.1.	Structures	21
2.2.2.	Equilibration	24
2.2.3.	"Stages"	26
2.2.4.	Structures-d'ensemble	30
2.3.	Models of the development of logical thought	34
2.4.	The learning of logical structures	39
2.4.1.	The training of Piagetian concepts	41
2.5.	Summary	44
<u>3</u> . THE (	CONCRETE OPERATIONS OF THOUGHT	45
3.1.	Conservation operations	49
3.2.	Classification operations	59
3.2.1.	Additive groupings: class inclusion	61
3.2.2.	Multiplicative classifications	68
3.2.3.	Role inclusion	73
3.3.	Relational operations	75
3.3.1.	Concepts of left and right	77
3.3.2.	Coordination of perspectives	82
3.3.3.	Reciprocal relations	89

		Page
Section 4. DES	IGN	92
4.1.	Aim	92
4.2.1.	Selection of tests	93
4.2.2.	Outline of tests	94
4.3.	Subjects	98
4.4.	Testing	99
4.5.	Outline of Analysis	100
<u>5</u> . Met	HOD	102
5.1.	Materials	102
5.2.	Procedure	103
<u>6</u> . RES	ULTS	112
6.1.0.	Scalogram analysis	113
6.2.0.	Correlational techniques	120
6.2.1.	Correlation matrices	120
6.2.2.	Factor analyses	135
6.3.	Discontinuities in developmental trends	141
6.3.1.	Changes in correlations and variances with age	142
6.3.2.	Trend analyses of the developmental curves	143
6.3.3.	Analysis of variance of change profiles	153
6.4.	Conservation tasks	155
6.5.	Classification tests	163
6.5.1.	Matrix test	163
6.5.2.	Class Inclusion	169
6.5.3.	Role Inclusion	183
6.6.	Relation tests	187

						rage
	6.6.1.	Conc	epts of left	and right		187
	6.6.2.	Coor	dination of p	perspectives	5	191
	6.6.3.	Reci	procal relati	lons (brothe	erhood)	
					test	198
	6.7.1.	Inte	lligence			202
	6.7.2.	Sex				203
	6.7.3.	Diff	erences betwe	en schools		203
	6.7.4.	Soci	al Class diff	Cerences		203
	6.8.0.	Diff	erences betwe	een administ	rations	205
	6.8.1.	Prac	tice effects			206
tion <u>7</u> .	DISCUS	SION .	AND CONCLUSIC	ONS		212
	Glossa	ry of	Piagetian te	erms		221
	Referen	nces				228
	Appendi	ix 1	Subjects' ra	w scores		258
	Appendi	ix 2	Summary of S	Split-plot A	nalyses	
			of Variance	for Develop	mental	
			Trends			271

Sect

# Section 1. Introduction

One of the most fascinating problems in developmental psychology is how children move from an infantile to an adult way of thinking. The question has two general aspects; first what is thought like at different ages, and second how does the transition from one way of thinking to another come about. It is fairly clear that these aspects are not independent, though some theorists have dealt with them separately. A complete theory of cognitive development must provide a complete description of the cognitive processes and structures typical of each level of functioning and of the processes and causes of development between the levels.

Piaget's theory is probably the strongest pretender to this title. It addresses itself to both aspects of cognitive development, providing logical models of the structure of thought at different ages and a largely biological model of the developmental process. The theory is said to apply to a wide variety of cognitive functions, though centering on logical abilities, and to the widest possible range of contents; and in the development of each and every function, applied to whatever content, there is said to be a sequence of qualitatively distinct age-related The process of development is continuous, being stages. almost a consequence of biological existence, but functional continuity gives rise to a succession of qualitatively different structures which are applied throughout cognitive activity at that level, giving "stages".

The question to be discussed in this thesis is whether Piaget is justified in concluding that there are in the cognitive development of middle childhood the clear general and distinctive stages and structures which he describes. It is a question of great importance for education and developmental psychology in general as well as for Piagetian theory, and there is rather a dearth of evidence on the generality and the formation processes of structures and stages. The second and third chapters of the thesis summarise Piaget's description of development, with particular reference to the middle childhood period; the fourth and subsequent chapters describe a study of the development of Piagetian concepts in primary school children using longitudinal and cross sectional comparisons and a variety of statistical techniques. The remainder of this introductory chapter is comprised of short sections on other theories of cognitive development, and research technique, placing Piaget's work in the context of current child psychology.

Theories of cognitive development.

**Covered Perhaps** the first important psychological accounts of cognitive development is that of Werner. His "Comparative Psychology of Mental Development" is mainly descriptive, but he gives a clear outline of "the nature of development". The basis is a biological principle described by Goethe; "the development of biological forms is expressed in an increasing differentiation of parts and an increasing subordination, or hierarchization." Werner describes this basic principle in various biological examples, including the genesis of the nervous system, and applies it also to mental functions. 3

"Among primitive peoples, and also children, there is found a kind of thinking which, with great justification, may be termed "concrete" thinking. Its distinctive characteristic lies in the fact that the conceptual activity operates in indivisible unity with motor-perceptual and imaginative processes. It is only gradually that a non sensori-motor - that is, abstract-mode of thinking separates itself from this unity. But even then, it will be found, the differentiation never indicates a complete discontinuity of higher and lower functions, a selfsubsistent status in each. It is characteristic of higher mental organisation that there should be an interrelationship of function and a subordination of the lower to the higher. Never is abstract thinking so self-sufficient that it can dispense with the material of sense. At the same time, thinking as a relating and comparative activity assumes the role of a central selective function commanding sensori-motor, perceptual and imaginative data. It mediates among the confusing multiplicity of sensuous impressions by means of judgments and interpretations, and imposes order and measure upon this manifold.

4

... It is reasonable, therefore, to identify the development of the human mentality with an increasing centralization by means of superior ordering functions which give form and direction to the lower activities." (Werner, 1948 p. 52).

This somewhat teleological invocation of a basic biological principle is not totally satisfactory as a psychological explanation; we are not told, for example, why or how differentiation and hierarchization take place. Other developmental theorists have named the dynamic, however. Gesell's emphasis, in an essentially normative theory, is on genetic predeterminism. "The basic configurations, correlations and successions of behaviour patterns are determined by the innate process of growth called maturation." (Gesell 1945). "The growth of tissues, of organs, and of behaviour is obedient to identical laws of development morphology" (Gesell 1954, p. 337). "Environmental factors support, inflect, and specify; but they do not engender the basic forms and sequences of ontogenesis" (Gesell 1954, p. 354). There is no theory of comparable stature at the opposite pole to Gesell, the

pole of extreme environmentalism. The S-R behaviourists who occupied that increasingly beleaguered standpoint tended to deny the existence of the higher-order processes which Werner describes as the end of cognitive development in favour of complex stimulus-response chains and associations, and to avoid the construction of elaborated theories. As Sheldon White (1970) points out, the self-imposed methodological and theoretical limitations of the learning theory tradition do create difficulties in a field like cognitive development where the subject's understanding of the situation is of critical interest. Learning theory techniques have provided useful tools for testing and educating children but have alone led to very little understanding or explanation. Attempts have been made to expand them (e.g. Berlyne 1965), but it has been necessary to introduce mediators between S and R: "Diagrammed at full length, what behaviour theorists have called an S-R connection becomes an organised assembly of adaptive behaviour virtually identical to what Piaget has called a sensori-motor schema, and the mediational properties of a "response produced cue" become - what? Perhaps something like the Plan of Miller, Galanter and Pribram (1960), perhaps something like the orientinginvestigatory schemata of conceptualisation of the Russians (Zaporochets 1961), perhaps something like the operation of Piaget (1960)."

It may be noted that for both the extremes of maturationism and learning the developing organism is passive. For the genetic predeterminists it is, as in the famous limerick, a tram; for the environmentalists, Locke's tabula rasa. In the more fertile intermediate body of interactionist theories the organism is active, and develops by interacting with its environment. The most elaborated interactionist theory is Piaget's, which will be considered at greater length in the next two chapters, but into this category comes also work by Miller, Galanter and Pribram (1960), Bruner (e.g. 1964, 1966, 1974), Simon (1962), McV. Hunt (1961, 1969) and Kagan (1967). Of these, only Bruner's could justly be called a theory of cognitive development; the other men's work centres on other fields and the illumination of children's thought is indirect. The thread which joins them is the idea of cognitive processes as self-motivating. Like Werner, they derive these dynamic properties from the nature of life - Miller et al. quote William James's "the stream of thought can never stop flowing", but they go beyond this to postulate a mechanism for its channelling. It is important not to equate TOTE plans (or their more elaborated forms), Hunt's match-mismatch key to motivation and Kagan's idea that the creation of a predictive schema

There once was a man who said "Damn! It is borne in upon me I am An engine that moves In predestinate grooves -I'm not even a bus I'm a tram!" M.E. Hare (St John's College Oxford 1905)

for an event is a major source of pleasure; but this work represents an important middle path between extremes.

There is an increasing amount of work on artificial intelligence which seeks analogies to and thus insights into cognitive development. Certain studies centre on Piagetian phenomena. Simon (1962) applies the informationprocessing theory of cognition with which he constructed such interesting programs as the General Problem Solver to child development. He proposes the structural characteristics of the GPS as capable of producing the phenomena which Piaget explains in terms of logical operational structures. Klahr and Wallace (1970, Farnham-Diggory 1972) model Kofsky's (1966) classification problems. Cunningham (1972), in a remarkable synthesis of Hebb and Piaget, copes with the phenomena of the sensori-motor period in a similar fashion.

Sheldon White (1965), reviewing the many observations of a marked change in children's behaviour at the ages of 5 to 7, allies them to his two level model of thought. Evidence from many sources suggests that the time of response partly determines the selection of responses available from the subject's repertoire, that there is temporal stacking of responses, which in adults consists of an "associative level" which is limited and conventional and relatively fast acting, and a "cognitive layer" which is slower and consists of more complex information processing.

It would appear that the former is developmentally fairly early: it would be sufficient to account for many of the phenomena found by experiments and summarised by White (p. 209), who suggests that the change at about 7 years of age is due to the laying down of the second sort of functioning. "Perhaps the 5 to 7 period is a time when some maturational development, combining perhaps with influences in the modal environment, inhibits a broad spectrum of first level function in favor of a new, higher level of function" (ibid p. 213).

Bruner's theory of cognitive development (Bruner 1964, 1966) focuses on "a human organism with capacities for representing the world in three modes, each of which is constrained by the inherent nature of the human capacities supporting it. Man is seen to grow by the process of internalizing the ways of acting, imaging and symbolizing that 'exist' in his culture, ways that amplify his powers." (Bruner 1966, p. 320). Development takes place, then, as much from the outside in as from the inside out. Bruner's three modes of representation have their origins at different stages of the child's life, but all three remain available for use. The final predominance in technologically advanced societies of language, a symbolic form of representation and encoding, would seem to be due to cultural factors; notably for the child the separation of learning from life as lived in the greater society, which turns learning into an act (and perhaps an end) in itself, much embedded in the context of language and symbolic activity. Bruner sees conflict between two modes of representation as a major source of development.

Almost all these theories of development, and indeed most others, are more or less indebted to Piaget. It has been a common thing for writers to use his observations as a foundation for their theory. What may be wondered is whether the data Piaget puts forward can truly bear the weight of interpretation posed upon them. It is this doubt which has led to the proliferation of replication studies, and which is not entirely resolved by the generally affirmative results of such studies. In particular there is the question of how one can justify claims of an invariant sequence of generalised stages on the basis of observations made cross-sectionally and using different tests on different children, that is having as data only approximate age-norms for each test. In very little of Piaget's work does one find reports of the same child doing several tests, and longitudinal investigations are also rarely reported. One aim of this study was to provide such data.

The methodological issues which must be considered in any developmental study are extremely complex (e.g. Wohlwill 1970, Nesselroade and Reese 1973). A fundamental difficulty in this case is the developmental diagnosis of conceptual acquisitions. As will be seen, Piaget's theory requires concurrences between the development of different abilities. The unwitting use of tests of different sensitivities may lead to diagnoses of synchrony (or asynchrony) which have no basis in reality. A part of the problem is that there

may be a range of senses on which a child may be said to "have" an ability in his repertoire; it may be more or less stable, generalised and consolidated. It has been suggested (e.g. Flavell and Wohlwill 1969) that the competenceperformance distinction may be useful, but there is as yet no consensus on this. Meanwhile pronouncements on the sequence of certain cognitive acquisitions must be regarded with some caution. As Hooper (1973) points out, the exact degree of correspondence of operations to be expected of Piagetian structures-d'ensemble is critical but undecided; the evidence suggests that there is marked task and situational specificity, the theory allows acquisition and consolidation phases within a given stage, and there is little information on the dimensional reliability and homogeneity of the tasks used as operational indices of cognitive development. Since Bryant and Trabasso (1971) have shown up the complexities and ambiguities inherent in one of the apparently simplest of Piagetian tasks, doubt on this last point has grown.

A very high proportion of psychologists working within the empirical tradition have grave and justified doubts about Piaget's methodology. Some criticisms are less fair than others; his lack of interest in the effects on cognitive acquisitions of such variables as intelligence and class is not surprising in one whose primary focus is on similarities between individuals, on an idealised model child, rather than on individual differences. Similarly his avoidance of complex statistical analysis represents a choice between alternative positions, as he himself recognises:-

"I think there are two ways of proving something: the first is to study one problem in as great detail as possible, using statistical methods, calculations of variations, and whatever else you may think feasible: the second is to keep moving from problem to problem, from field to field, seeking - and this is what counts convergences and links between one field and another .... When you pass from one field to another, either there is chaos or you find results which link up with observations already made, i.e. you find all sorts of convergences and analogies. I personally think it is far more satisfactory, as far as proof is concerned, to find these convergences and connections between fields than it is to work on only one problem using increasingly accurate statistical methods. Such statistical methods are of great value for critical purposes, but is not with them that we should start off." (Piaget 1971g p.6)

The implication of this statement is that his experiments may validly be regarded as pilot studies, rather than as the formal and finished experiments he is sometimes supposed to present. Certainly the characteristic lack of quantification of his data is one cause of the proliferation of replication studies. Close replications have confirmed his observations; it is the experiments which have departed radically from his procedures which have produced different results.

One of the most damaging criticisms of Piaget's work on cognition is his ambivalent attitude to children's use of language. It has even been suggested that many of his studies are merely disguised vocabulary-growth studies. Variations in the phrasing of presentation and questions do produce variations in the level of the child's response, and non-verbal forms of certain tests lead to manifestation of the concepts involved at earlier ages. It is hard however to separate the understanding of a concept and the understanding of its verbal-symbolic accoutrements. Piaget, believing that thought determines both the use and the understanding of language (as seen in Sinclair de Zwart's study of the use of scalars and vectors by conservers and non-conservers), cannot but be in disagreement with those who place more emphasis on the converse influence of language upon thought.

A more intractable problem of language is that the child in most experimental set ups responds with verbalisations, which may be faulty representations of his cognitions. Piaget recognises this problem and outlines safeguards against false translations; but he has not always observed his precautions. Repeatedly he indulges in long and involved interpretations of, for example, an explanation, as if it was a perfect reflection of the thought of the child, which as Kohnstamm (1968) points out is somewhat bizarre in the context of a theory which apparently regards language as a distorting mirror of structures, and rules out verbal teaching as a method of inducing learning.

A related criticism which has frequently been made about Piaget's experimental set ups is that they are too complex. Thus Braine (1959) uses a non verbal method for the study of the transitivity of length, and Frank (Bruner 1966) introduces screening in experiments on the conservation of liquid quantity. In both studies the concept involved appears at an earlier age than in the more complex Genevan situations. Bryant (1971, 1974, Bryant & Trabasso 1971) points out that the transitivity of length problem is ambiguous, since both success and failure may be due to other causes than the presence or absence of the concept involved. A series of elegant experiments, ruling out false positives due to parrotting and the use of absolute judgments of length, and false negatives due to forgetting, established beyond any doubt that four year olds could and did make transitive inferences.

It would appear however that Piaget's choice of complex situations was a deliberate one. In a remarkable and illuminating passage (translated in Kohnstamm 1968) Pascual-Leone and Bovet (1966) describe the requisite procedure for the diagnosis of operationality.

Having set up the distinction between "active" and "passive" acquisitions of concepts, they outline the requirements for the true diagnosis of an active, that is untaught, acquisition. These are extraordinarily strict; first there must be no immediate connection between the figurative structure of the experimental situation presented and the logical structure of the problem posed, and second

13

indices which deliberately stimulate the use of inappropriate schemas must be incorporated in the experimental situation. Thus these "confusing situations" are such as to militate against the appearance of an operation which is not firmly established. The consistent use of such a strategy cannot but lead to a model in which anything but a system of highly articulated and intimately co-ordinated operations is stigmatized as a false diagnosis or a "structure isolee".

Piaget has not however been consistently rigorous on this issue. Despite theoretical discussions which imply the contrary, countersuggestion has only been used as a matter of routine in certain of the conservation experiments. Nor is it clear that the criterion dilemma is of critical importance; Brainerd (1973) suggests that although age norms may differ if liberal criteria of manifestation are used instead of the traditional Piagetian conservative criteria, training effects may be observed with both sorts of criterion. In a later paper (Brainerd 1974) he argues also that false positives, which Piagetians suggest are incurred by the use of liberal criteria, will, like the false negatives risked by conservative criteria, increase the probability of synchronies between operations. It is psychometrically impossible to manufacture spuriously asynchronous data by committing criterion errors. Hence asynchronies in the evidence cannot be dismissed solely on the grounds of response criteria incorporating Type I or Type 2 errors, while spurious synchronies can be produced by either sort of criterion error, though error rates due

to conservative criteria are probably higher. Clearly one must proceed with the greatest caution.

To solve this constellation of problems, although necessary if a perfect theory of cognitive development is aimed at, is a task requiring immense resources of time and manpower. The humbler aim of this study is to use Piaget's own preferred test-forms and so test his claims from a point close to his own. It is assumed that the use of testing methods least removed from the original is most likely to produce confirmatory results; more information may perhaps be gained from moving backwards from the point where Piaget's formulations still hold than by confronting his theory with its failure to explain quite radically different phenomena.

spectrum, which is rightly says cannot be coupletely measured by the proof of the adult, is that of the providents. His final description of couplities proceedes is in terms of the logical and retional degratication of measured dysters decide from capitalies proceedes, not vice includes of these structures ind binget ()(9) that includes distribute from capitalies proceedes, not vice measured there attractives includes), we should be able to formalize that he legical boxes." (Fight 1976) p.3)

#### Section 2.

#### Outline of Piaget's Theory of Cognitive Development

Piaget's theory of cognitive development, itself developed over fifty years of experiment and observation, synthesizing as it does phenomena in fields as diverse as causality (Piaget 1930), classification (Piaget and Inhelder 1964), conservation (Piaget and Inhelder 1974), geometry (Piaget, Inhelder and Szeminska 1960), etc., summarised by Piaget himself (Piaget 1969) and by others (e.g. Flavell 1963, Beard 1969), is an elegant interpretation of a mass of often brilliant observations. Its focus is the fundamental epistemological problem "by what means does the human mind go from a state of less sufficient knowledge to a state of higher knowledge?" Piaget's preferred method of investigation of this question, which he rightly says cannot be completely answered by the study of the adult, is that of the biological sciences: observation and derived controlled experiment. His final description of cognitive processes is in terms of the logical and rational organisation of knowledge. He is clear (Fraisse and Piaget 1969) that logical systems derive from cognitive processes, not vice versa; but also that "if we are to be convinced of the existence of these structures (cognitive), we should be able to formalize them in logical terms." (Piaget 1971g p.3)

#### 2.1.0 General Theoretical Aspects

The basic assumptions of his theory are both biological and metaphysical. The first is that cognitive processes are derived from fundamental biological processes, are special forms of biological activity which share the essential characteristics of other biological processes. The two basic processes at work in all living organisms are said to be Adaptation and Organisation; the former can be divided into the twin processes -"functional invariants" - of Assimilation and Accommodation. Piaget uses biological analogies to elucidate these two processes, which he believes underlie all cognitive activity throughout life. "Assimilation occurs if it (a new element) is integrated into the organism's cycle without destroying it. But if the new element does not destroy the cycle it may modify it .... there has been an accommodation in the assimilation cycle if this cycle, while assimilating the new element is itself modified by the new element." (Piaget 1971b p. 172-3)

An example of Assimilation and Accommodation at work in a cognitive setting would be the activity of a baby coming into contact for the first time with a ring suspended from a string. He plays with it, looking, touching, grasping, making it swing to and fro etc. The new object is assimilated to the actions which he has learned to apply to objects; simultaneously the actions are modified by the properties of the object - its size, weight, hardness or softness etc., - and as they are thus accommodated they are generalised and differentiated. Rings too may be grasped, sucked and scanned, but in a slightly different way from other objects explored in the past.

The model Piaget uses to define Assimilation and Accommodation is very similar to the "transactional" model of Sameroff (1974). It contains elements A,B,C..., appertaining to the organism, and elements A',B',C'..., furnished by the environment, which interact and appear and re-appear in cyclical form thus:-

 $(A \times A') \longrightarrow (B \times B') \longrightarrow (C \times C') \longrightarrow \dots (Z \times Z') \longrightarrow$  $(A \times A') \longrightarrow$ 

If the environment changes so that B" is substituted for B', either the cycle is interrupted and the organism is destroyed through failure to adapt, or it maintains itself as before (if B" is essentially identical to B') or the cycle is slightly modified by the substitution of, for example,  $C_0$  for C.

 $(A \ge A') \longrightarrow (B \ge B'') \longrightarrow (C_2 \ge C') \longrightarrow \dots (A \ge A') \longrightarrow$ It may be seen that assimilation and accommodation do not occur separately, and adaptation may be defined as an equilibrium between them. They are not two different functions, but the two opposite poles of any adaptation, to be found at every level from the genome to the highest cognitive mechanisms. In the cognitive field, Piaget sees the balance of Assimilation and Accommodation as constituting "Intelligence".

The existence of the twin functional invariants implies that of patterns of organised behaviour in the organism. These Piaget calls "structures", linking them with the systems found in mathematics, the empirical sciences, logic and language. "As a first approximation, we may say that a structure is a system of transformations. Inasmuch as it is a system and not a mere collection of elements and their properties, these transformations involve laws: the structure is preserved or enriched by the interplay of its transformation laws, which never yield results external to the system nor employ elements that are external to it. In short, the notion of structure is comprised of three ideas: the idea of wholeness, the idea of transformation and the idea of self-regulation." (Piaget 1971s p. 5)

Avoiding the difficulties of the associationist and preformationist extremes, Piaget concentrates on the question of the laws regulating structures in his discussion of their nature. His fundamental belief in "reflective abstraction", that Reality is neither an absolute external Truth nor a metaphysical fantasy, leads him to the assertion "There is no structure apart from construction." (Piaget 1971s p. 140) Structure and construction are necessarily interdependent. In the field of psychology, structures develop from the initial "general co-ordinations of actions" of the infant to more stable and more flexible states describable in logico-mathematical terms. This construction attains a dynamic equilibrium rather than a static one, so development and construction are never complete. "Through the interplay of reflective abstraction, which provides ever more complex "materials" for construction, and of equilibration (self-regulation) mechanisms, which make for internal reversibility, structures - <u>in being</u> <u>constructed</u> - give rise to that necessity which a-priori theories have always thought it necessary to posit at the outcome. Necessity, instead of being the prior condition for learning, is its outcome." (Piaget 1971s p. 62) This necessity, in another, less formal, paper, Piaget calls "the great mystery of the stages." (Piaget 1971g p. 9)

"Equilibration" and "reflective abstraction" are the two remaining basic tenets of Piaget's theory. "Equilibration" clearly has its origins as a concept in biological phenomena such as homeostasis and homeorhesis. It is the self-regulatory mechanism of construction, and the co-ordinating factor in organic (including cognitive) growth. "Reflective abstraction" is a purely philosophical concept. It refers to the mode of cognitive functioning where properties or relations are not derived from things per se but from our ways of acting upon the things.

## 2.2.0 Specific Theoretical Aspects

Of the concepts basic to Piagetian theory outlined in the preceding section, many are not open to empirical test. "Assimilation" and "Accommodation", for example, are assumed to be the invariable components of an organism's functioning, but their existence cannot be either confirmed or dis-confirmed; "reflective abstraction" represents merely the most fertile choice amongst several epistemological positions. There are however certain other concepts equally central to the theory which are not in principle untestable; among the most important of these are the notions of "structure", "equilibration" and "stage". Each of these will be discussed below.

# 2.2.1 Structures

Piaget believes that the development of psychological structures continues from birth to adolescence. Its roots are in the "general co-ordinations of actions" of the infant, whose sensori-motor intelligence develops from the organism's first spontaneous movements and reflexes through later reflex-complexes and the older baby's acquired habits. The functional factors are, of course, assimilation and accommodation; the structural elements "are, essentially, certain <u>order</u> relations, <u>subordination</u> schemes and <u>correspondences</u>." (Piaget 1971s p. 63) These become mutually co-ordinated and "certain equilibriated structures, those that make for a modicum of 'reversibility', become established." (ibid). At this age, prior to the development of the semiotic function, the child's intelligence is entirely sensori-motor, does not involve representation and is essentially tied to action and co-ordination of actions.

When, in the second year of life, the child begins to represent and reflect, the structural elements implicit in sensori-motor intelligence are elaborated on the new plane of thought. Order relations, for example, give rise to the activity of ranking or ordering, correspondences are set up systematically (one to one, one to many, copy to original etc.), and subordination schemes separate out and lead to classificatory activity. While this behaviour undeniably shows the advent of logic, it is limited in two important respects; it does not admit of reversibility, and is therefore not operational, and there are as yet no principles of quantitative conservation. The achievement of these two principles between the ages of seven and ten marks the end of the pre-operational and the beginning of the concrete-operational stage.

The crucial difference between the modes of thought of the pre-school and the school-age child is that the latter uses "operations." Strictly, an operation is a "perfect" regulation in the cybernetic sense, that is it

is part of a system that also contains its inverse. Besides such logical operations as adding, subtracting, setting up correspondences etc., there are "infralogical" operations involving quantity, space etc., but all operations by definition are integral parts of organised systems of related acts. Operations must tend to gather together as total systems; "the isolated operation can never be the proper unit of analysis, because it gains all its meaning from the system of which it is a part. A given operation, put into effect in the here-and-now, always presupposes a structured system which includes other, related, operations, for the moment latent and inactive, but always potentially actualizable themselves, and, above all, always a force governing the form and character of the operation which is momentarily on stage." (Flavell 1963 p. 167)

The abstract structures which underlie all the operations of the middle-childhood period are said by Fiaget to be closely analogous to logico-mathematical groupings. Obviously the child is not aware of these groupings; Fiaget, though well aware of the possibility that the structure may be in the mind of the theorist rather than that of the child, has not been very explicit in producing conclusive evidence for their existence. His description of the groupings is derived as much from examination of the nature of logical class and relations operations per se as from watching children think; two at least of the "concrete-operational groupings" are

logically possible not empirically discovered. His main solution to the problem of the existence of structures is apparently to point to the child's feeling of necessity, of inevitability. The young child who has compared A and B, and then B and C, is uncertain about the relationship of **A** and C; the older child finds their relationship self-evident and necessary. Piaget feels that the only possible psychological reason for the sudden emergence of this feeling is that it comes from the closure or completion of a structure. "Once the internal compositions of the structure become interdependent and independent of external elements and are sufficiently numerous to allow for all types of arrangements, then the feeling of necessity manifests itself." (Piaget 1971g p. 5)

#### 2.2.2 Equilibration

Piaget sees equilibration as the most important mechanism of transition from one stage of development to the next. It is a continuous process giving rise to a succession of discontinuous organised systems of actions. These equilibrium states can be compared and contrasted on four main dimensions; the size of their field of application, their mobility between data, their permanence and their stability; they have the capacity to cancel or compensate for events tending to alter the existing state of equilibrium, particularly by reversibility. Equilibrium states are to be found at every level of the organism's functioning, as is the process of equilibration. This is linked to the twin functional invariants, assimilation and accommodation and to biological notions of homeorhesis and chreodes, and in cognitive development it subsumes the conventional causal factors of maturation and physical and social learning. Piaget regards equilibration as the coordinating fourth factor essential for the production of a smooth development.

It is very clear that the equilibration model implies a certain directedness in development. It need not lead to teleology, however; the imperfections of all but the final equilibrium states make development necessary but do not precisely specify the form of the next, "better" level. In retrospect one can see how the characteristics of the concrete operational stage gave rise to formal operational structures, but one could not have foreseen its particular form. Piaget's model of orthogenesis is similar in this to that of Werner (1948).

The equilibration model also places emphasis on the continuity of development, which a stage theory may disguise. Equilibration is the fundamental process at all levels, and each level can be described and differentiated in terms of the characteristics of equilibrium states. It is worth noting also that the model is of sufficient generality to apply also to fields apart from cognitive development, such as the history of science.

## 2.2.3 "Stages"

The notion of "stage" is one of the key aspects of Piaget's theory of the development of logical thought, and, perhaps as a consequence of its importance, it is one of the most severely criticised. Piaget has proposed five criteria which condition the use of the concept in the study of mental development.

The first of these criteria is <u>Hierarchisation</u>, that there is a fixed order of succession of stages in the developmental sequence. This criterion says nothing about the ages of accession to each stage, which are conditioned by the particular social, cultural or physical circumstances which obtain in each individual case, but merely stresses the inevitability of the sequence. Some of Piaget's most recent writings (e.g. Piaget 1971b) connect this invariant order with similar sequences in biological, and particularly embryological, development, and he may be supposed to believe that the stages of intellectual development also have a fundamental necessary order.

The second criterion is that of <u>Integration</u>. The acquisitions of a given stage  $S_2$  integrate those of the preceding stage  $S_1$  rather than simply substituting for them or juxtaposing them; but the integration is in the sense of transformation rather than of inclusion. Processes of restructuring and co-ordination are involved. As in vertical decalage, for example, a given conceptual content is restructured at several successive levels by the new kinds of operation which are available and operational representations re-integrate by co-ordinations the progressively more finely differentiated components of behaviour and operations.

"In short, in the case of inter-stage relations, integration finds expression in the co-ordination of more and more differentiated schemata (sensori-motor or representative), just as it was expressed, in the case of interperiod relations by a restructuring of the same conceptual contents via increasingly complex operations applied to increasingly differentiated fields." (Laurendeau & Pinard 1969 p. 129) Again this criterion probably relates to Piaget's biological conceptualisation of development, where new acquisitions do not appear out of nothing, but are, rather, a transformation of what has gone before.

The third characteristic of stages, clearly deriving from the equilibration model, is <u>Consolidation</u>. A period or stage must always involve at once an aspect of achievement of the recently acquired behaviour and an aspect of preparation for the behaviour of the following level. Piaget's earlier formulations of this property referred to successive levels in the stage, that of achievement being the jumping-off point for the acquisitions of the preparation stage; in the later descriptions (Piaget 1960a, 1971b) the separation is far less acute, the relationship of achievement and preparation being intrinsic to the whole of each and every stage. Thus the meaning of the criterion is relative to the particularities of the situation considered, the degree of refinement of the segmentation of the developmental scale and the level of theorisation involved.

The fourth characteristic of stages, one of the most important to be satisfied, is that of Structuring. The typical actions and operations of a given level are not simply juxtaposed, but are organically and intimately interconnected by ties of implication and reciprocal dependence; they form in short "structures d'ensemble". Clearly the degree of interdependence which can be expected at any moment is conditioned by the characteristic of consolidation. Structures d'ensemble are typical only of such relatively final genetic levels as the culminating periods of the sensori-motor and concrete-operational stages, which represent times when present achievement dominates the preparation for future achievement, moments of relative stability in the homeorhetic flow. Nevertheless the interdependence of cognitive structures is at the very heart of Piaget's theory, necessarily so since structures, whether sensori-motor schemata, concreteoperational groupings or the INRC group of the formal operations period, are based on the same fundamental operations, and are thus strictly isomorphic logically and complementary psychologically.

The fifth and last attribute of the concept of stage is that of Equilibration, which has been implied by the earlier criteria and is again based on biological notions. A succession of levels of equilibrium lies at the heart of the genetic process. Equilibration therefore pervades the whole of development; it is the continued and more general analogue to consolidation, which functions relative to a particular stage. The concept has very much in common with Bertalanffy's notion of "equifinality", which denotes the phases of relative stability which occur in the evolution of an open system. Essentially it means that the evolution of behaviour is characterised by the progressive co-ordination of overt or interiorised actions which are at first isolated from each other and centred on the results produced each time, rather than on the changes and transformations which link the results. Equilibration is clearly related to the criteria of Consolidation and Structuring.

"Stages" as outlined in Piaget's theory are, then, descriptive constructs abstracted from a continuing flow of development. They are relatively, not absolutely, static and finished periods. Their five basic attributes embody the rules governing the whole of the developmental process, over whose span there are periods of more and of less rapid change and development. Each stage takes off from a previous one, when the achieved state of relative completeness and complexity is found to be inadequate or inefficient, and the demands of the environment and the maturation of the organism make further development necessary.
New, more subtle and complex operations transform the acquisitions of the earlier stage, both refining them and improving on them, and setting up ultimately a new structure d'ensemble, which is itself liable to become inadequate and to be transformed - a process which continues until the end of cognitive development.

# 2.2.4 Structures-d'ensemble

Piaget's emphasis on structures and on equilibration and his delineation of stages in development leads inexorably to the notion of "structures-d'ensemble". All mental activity tends, according to Piaget, towards the realisation of a mental structure whose essential characteristics are stability, flexibility, generality and a state of equilibrium. Because of their nature such structures are called "structures-d'ensemble" or structured wholes. The structures-d'ensemble of cognitive activity are more stable and more general than perceptual or sensori-motor structures, and the formal operations structure-d'ensemble is more perfect than its predecessor, that of the concrete operations.

While structures-d'ensemble are a necessary consequence of equilibration, they are also entailed by the isomorphism which Piaget supposes to exist between logical and psychological structures. A logical operation does not exist in an isolated state but always implies other complementary operations; "the operation of inclusion of a class in a class of a superior order which subsumes it, for example, is not a reversible activity except insofar as it coexists in the subject's mind with its inverse, the exclusion of one class from the other, etc. The fundamental operatory entity consists, then, of systems or chains of operations. Now, since a system of operations obeys a certain number of laws of transformation, it is possible to define the relations between the operations in a system by a certain number of theoretical models which completely express the diverse interactions taking place. The eight groupings of concrete operations and the INRC group of formal operations, as defined by Piaget, are such models of structuresd'ensemble." (Nassefat 1963 p. 17, my translation)

As Brainerd (1973s) has more recently reaffirmed, the successful establishment of a structural model for each of the distinguishable levels of cognitive development transforms the almost insuperable problem of accounting for changes in a myriad of items of behaviour into the less formidable one of accounting for the change between one model and the next. Discussing the problem of a historical explanation of middle childhood cognition, (that is one in terms of its derivation from early childhood cognition), Brainerd writes "we have to confront the fact that any cognitive-behavioral catalogue for any developmental state will be <u>necessarily</u> incomplete because the set of specific cognitive behaviors for such a state is always potentially infinite .... we can try to do two things: (a) formulate the structure of early-childhood cognition and verify it

empirically, and (b) formulate the structure of middlechildhood cognition and verify it empirically. It might just be possible to obtain agreement on structural models for both periods and it might also be possible to verify that early-childhood and middle-childhood cognitions obey the laws of their respective structural models. Having done this, it would no longer be necessary to show how each early-childhood cognitive behaviour is translated into its middle-childhood counterpart. Instead, it would only remain to show how the early-childhood structure may be transformed into the middle-childhood structure. If the two structures happen to be behavioral versions of mathematical structures whose properties are wellknown, specifying the translation of one structure into another becomes a purely mechanical matter." (Brainerd 1973s p. 27-8).

Piaget's theoretical formulations are clearly intended to fit an explanation scheme of this sort, and the structures-d'ensemble themselves are models of thought at different stages. Inevitably they are abstractions from behaviour; they "account for what there is in common from the point of view of intellectual assimilation between the acquisitions proper to each stage, since this commonality cannot result from the physical or empirical properties of the material or symbolic objects on which the activity of intelligence exercises itself. Thus, in empirical and quantitative terms, the principal criterion of a genetic

stage is the homogeneity of the acquisitions which characterise it, and this correspondence makes possible a statistical approach to the study of the process of equilibration which leads to structures-d'ensemble." (Nassefat 1963 p. 127)

The constituents of a stage forming a structured'ensemble are of homogeneous cognitive level and develop in an integrated fashion under the influence of the equilibration process. Statistical concurrences and homogeneity are the outward and visible signs of their nature and development. "Structure and homogeneity become bound up to the extent that they both express the commonality of psychological content of the performances or variables considered." (Nassefat 1963 p. 204) Such a view may be interpreted as implying a considerable degree of consistency in the child's performance on tasks requiring constituent operations of a structure-d'ensemble.

### 2.3. Models of the development of logical thought

If the necessary and sufficient condition of success on a test a is the application of an operation A, then success on a shows the presence of A, and failure on a its absence. Conversely, the application of A leads to success on test a, and failure to apply A to failure on the test. There is no gap between performance and competence, and test behaviour and internal state are perfectly matched. Furthermore there will be the same match for all tests which similarly involve A; success on all tests  $a_1 \ \cdots \ a_n$  indicates the presence of A, failure its absence. Thus any individual having A readily in his repertory should pass all the tests  $a_1 \ \cdots \ a_n$ , anyone without A should fail them all.

It is further argued that the operation A is not independent of other operations B,C,D etc. These operations, which have similar logical descriptions, are said to develop in close mutually facilitating synchrony. Thus possession of A implies possession of B,C,D etc., and thus success on tests  $b_1 \cdots b_n$ ,  $c_1 \cdots c_n$ ,  $d_1 \cdots d_n$  etc. The operations are moreover described in terms of logical necessities, their development is all or none. The model in this form therefore permits only universal success or universal failure. There can be only two patterns of scores; FFFFFF or PPPPPP. There can be no doubt that this model, the most simple and strict picture of Piagetian theory, is a poor representation of reality. If the possible responses are sorted with a little more subtlety, several varieties of failure may be distinguished. It has been assumed that there is only one sort of behaviour, the use of A, which leads to success; if, similarly, each sort of failure is caused by one particular behaviour pattern, a number of levels of application of A can be seen, as since A is the necessary and sufficient condition for success on the test, a partial success shows that A is partially applied, and a total failure that it is not applied at all.

For many tests, the number of possible responses is virtually infinite. Discriminably different responses can be categorized as the same, however, and these may fall into a sequence from total failure through increasingly adequate performance to total success. Even where A may be applied in outwardly different forms, it is possible to categorize and order responses according to such criteria as degree of success, efficiency of information processing, specificity or generalness. One possible categorization commonly used is Fail: Transitional: Pass. Here the patterning would approximate to FFFFFF : TTTTTT : PPPPPP. Alternatively in the transitional stage there might be success on some tasks and failure on others, thus FFFFFF : FPFFFFP : PPPPPPP. This schematisation begins to admit the possibility of differential difficulty of tasks.

Among more complex and more realistic categorizations is that of Nassefat (1960). He outlines possible combinations of information-processing level and outcome, and shows that these must have an invariant order. Attempts at solution that employ none, a little or some but not all of the relevant information must inevitably fail, even if the procedures for drawing inferences are correct. Those which use all the relevant information correctly succeed. This system of categorization is applied in a later study (Nassefat 1963) of the transition from concrete to formal reasoning. 36

Similarly, Flavell and Wohlwill (Elkind & Flavell 1969) present a four-stage model of the development of an operation based on consideration of the consolidation/ stabilisation phase in Piaget's theory. Like Nassefat, they distinguish initially between A, the rules embodied in the task, and B, the actual mechanisms required for processing input and output. Thus there are three parameters which jointly determine a child's performance;  $P_a$ , the probability that A is functional in the child,  $P_b$  a coefficient of difficulty of the problem determining whether, given a functional operation, B will proceed successfully, and k, a parameter expressing the weight to be given to  $P_b$  in that particular child.  $P_a$  and k are thus performer parameters,  $P_b$  characterises the task. The model assumes that  $P_a$  changes gradually from O to 1;  $P_b$  also varies between O and 1 depending on such factors as familiarity of task materials, manner of presentation, information load, involvement of memory etc. Yet the importance of these factors varies between children, particularly with age; thus the introduction of (1 - K), as a power to which  $P_b$  is to be raised. K, the child's ability to abstract and process information, also changes from O to 1; thus the influence of task difficulty as expressed by  $P_b$  (1 - K), declines over the period of development.

$$P(success) = P_a \times P_b^{(1 - K)}$$

In the initial stage the operation A is absent,  $P_a$  is 0, the child fails all the problems requiring A. In the second stage,  $P_a$  changes from 0 to 1, while k remains equal or close to 0. Thus  $P(+) = P_a \ge P_b$ ; the child fails most problems, and shows the sort of inconsistencies and oscillations described by Piaget in his stages IIA and IIB.

In the third stage, corresponding to Piaget's stage IIIA, there is stabilisation and consolidation of the newly functional operation,  $P_a = 1$ . Initially however k = 0, and  $P_b$  is critical i.e. success depends on the difficulty of the task. Gradually however k increases towards 1, and  $P_b$  becomes of less and less importance. In the fourth stage,  $P_a = 1$  and k = 1, thus the child is able to apply the operation successfully to any problem. This model makes explicit and therefore testable, the sorts of relationships between performances on different tests which may be expected at different stages in the course of development. In stage 1 there is failure across all tasks and correlations between tasks will be low, for lack of variance. They remain low in stage 2 because of the oscillations and inconsistencies in response caused by intermediate values of  $P_a$ . As  $P_a$  increases in stage 2, and in stage 3, consistency should become more apparent, and there will be a stable pattern of passes on items corresponding to their difficulty. In stage 4, finally, there is success on all tasks, and correlations between them drop again for lack of variance.

## 2.4. The learning of logical structures

Piaget makes a categorical distinction between "active" and "passive" acquisitions. The former are the result of a spontaneous liaison of the subject's own actions "e.g. the sucking of the thumb which can become systematic from the second month onwards, is caused by a chance meeting resulting from the impulsive movement of the arms which all the same leads to a co-ordinations in the real sense." (Beth et al. 1957) The probability of an acquisition is governed by the ensemble of existing behaviour possibilities or schemas and their interactions. "Passive" acquisitions, on the other hand, are governed by the external situation: "the subject becomes sensitive to a liaison which he has not produced himself, and which he seems to experience as a function of the number of external repetitions without himself taking any part in these repetitions." (ibid) Acquisitions of this sort are associations between certain responses and certain stimuli, and although they may be stable they will retain the form of an isolated or "empirical" structure according to the degree in which they do not coincide with the internal choices of the organism. Only equilibration, says Piaget, can lead to deductive reasoning and structures d'ensemble; learning and training lead at best to inductively based and unco-ordinated structures. It must be noted here that Piaget's treatment of learning is, in this context, an extremely simplistic one, based on a conception of learning barely extendable even to operant conditioning.

It is characteristic of equilibrated structures that they develop in an interacting fashion. Piaget has adopted the concept of "chreods" (from the work of C.H. Waddington) as a model of development. A "chreod" is a "necessary route" which must be followed by an organ or part of an embryo in its development; it is particular to that organ or part, but progress along the chreod is governed by interaction between the chreods whose sum is the epigenetic system. This system is maintained in a state of dynamic equilibrium or homeorhesis. Thus the chreod is, at least in Piaget's formulation, a sort of channel which the formatory process must follow, such that if it deviates from its course under outside influence it is brought back on course, into a homeorhesis, by a complex interplay of regulatory mechanisms. Piaget conceives of cognitive development generally and of the development of particular intellectual structures as being analogous to embryological development, the construction of any cognitive structure containing a certain number and sequence of necessary stages whose passage is the equivalent of a chreod.

This view of development inspires two hypotheses; firstly that the cognitive structures of subjects who receive no training will develop in a mutually facilitating and interacting fashion, and secondly that the cognitive structures of trained subjects will be relatively patchy, inflexible and weak. This study is an investigation of the first hypothesis, but a short consideration of the second is appropriate.

# 2.4.1 The training of Piagetian concepts

It has been supposed in the past that Piaget had said that it was impossible to train children to perform concrete operational tasks. The demonstration of successful training was thus believed to cast doubt on his theory, particularly if the training procedure involved were markedly unlike the processes thought to underlie natural development. It may be seen from the preceding paragraphs that the possibility of successful training is not categorically denied; the claim is that it leads to a different sort of cognitive structure, which would not satisfy the criteria for the diagnosis of operationality. These criteria are extremely strict: "the surest criterion of the active character of behaviour is its manifestation in an experimental situation which expressly minimizes the probability of activation (that is to say, passive manifestation) of this behaviour." (Pascual-Leone & Bovet 1966)

Thus not only must the situation not suggest the correct answer, it must incorporate indices which deliberately stimulate the use of inappropriate schemas. Pascual-Leone and Bovet call these valid diagnostic situations "confusing situations"; thus such simplified test situations as that used by Braine in his study of the transitivity of length (Braine 1959) are said to have induced "passive acquisitions" and a figural method of problem-solving. A properly functioning operation must manifest itself under the most discouraging circumstances; there must be evidence also of all the related operations of the "structure d'ensemble", and an easy application to a large number of different materials or contents.

It appears to be the general strategy of Piagetian response to awkwardly successful training studies to point out that these drastic diagnostic criteria have not been fulfilled, and that it is therefore possible that learning has resulted only in an inductive "structure isolee". The point may be made that few of the subjects in the studies of the Centre d'Epistemologie Genetique are known to have been tested for generalisation and resistance of this sort. Nor is it always easy to distinguish the performances of trained subjects and subjects who acquired the operation without systematic outside intervention. Brainerd and Allen in their review of conservation training studies (Brainerd & Allen 1971) conclude 1) that the first-order quantitative invariants are trainable, 2) that there is good evidence for specific transfer of training, i,e. of the same concept to a different material, and some evidence of non-specific transfer, and 3) that while early acquired conservation is more resistant to extinction than lately acquired conservation there is no evidence that "natural" conservers are more resistant to extinction than trained ones. Lasry (1966) and Kohnstamm (1968), both training the class inclusion problem, were unable to distinguish between the performances of trained subjects and children who had spontaneously acquired.

It would appear therefore that although there is not enough evidence to decide the question it is more likely than not that training procedures can lead to operational task performance not markedly different from that of children who have achieved successful performance without formal intervention. If true, this leaves little ground for the belief that equilibration and learning lead to markedly different modes of thought. Besides further rigorous investigation of the results of training studies, it is necessary to establish the nature of the spontaneous development of operational thought.

esquence, The grouplings of chorace and of releasing and spain infranceical equivalence paralli, on the one hard, the explanation of the activation of a first the of a construct reacture, and an also choracteristic tes thereateristication of the activations of a first test. Use thereateristication of the activations of a first test. Endlair we benef of a state land. The sear despise we this include in activations of the search form of the state of activations of the search form of the server the search of the activations of the search form the search of activations of the search form of the server the search of activations of the search form of the server the search of activations of a first search of the server the search of activations.

## 2.5. Summary

Piaget's model of cognitive development consists of a sequence of qualitatively different levels of performance, with development between them guided and determined by the equilibration process. Each level of performance, or stage, consists of logically interdependent operations which develop and function in parallel and form a structure-d'ensemble. The sequence of stages is invariant, and each one represents a more perfect approximation to an equilibrium state than the last. The stage of middle childhood thought is described by the concrete operations groupings. Like the other structures-d'ensemble of the developmental sequence, "the groupings of classes and of relations and their infralogical equivalents permit, on the one hand, the explanation of the necessary and sufficient conditions of a structure reasoning, and, on the other hand, the characterisation of the achievement of a formative process through a system of operations of thought." (Inhelder, Sinclair and Bovet 1974 p. 42). The next chapter of this thesis is devoted to a description of the structured'ensemble of concrete operational groupings and their behavioural manifestations.

### Section 3.

# 3.0. The Concrete Operations of Thought

The term "operation" is a central one in Piaget's system. Operations are reversible transformations of very great generality which cohere into tightly integrated systems of actions. These "structure-d'ensemble" are, as their name implies, coordinated and equilibrated wholes, applicable to any content and common to all individuals of the same mental level. The principal cognitive achievement of the primary school age child is the construction and stabilisation of the "concrete operations."

Observation of the cognitive behaviours of children of 5 to 12 has led Piaget to describe their operational systems in terms of logico-mathematical structures which he calls "groupings." These structures, hybrids of the "group" and "lattice" structures, are thought to underlie not only operations dealing with logical classes and relations but those involved in the infralogical operations of space, time etc., and in interpersonal relationships and values. There are nine distinct groupings; one, the grouping of "pure equivalence" is a simple preliminary; of the eight major groupings four relate to class operations and four to relation operations. They possess some of the properties of both groups and lattices, and are thus relatively complex and inelegant mathematical structures.

The groupings are well described by Flavell (1963, p 173-187)

All the groupings are said to be engendered by a pair of mental operations - a "composition" operation of "logical addition" or "logical multiplication", and a "reverse" operation, of negation for the class groupings and of inversion or reciprocity for the relational groupings.

The central tenet of Piaget's grouping model is that one or more of the eight major groupings is a necessary condition for the emergence of every molar concept. He is far from perfectly explicit about which groupings underlie which concepts, but the same general predictions may be made for all areas. Firstly it is predicted that the appropriate composition and reverse operations should appear in children's reasoning before the molar concept. Secondly, within any given concept area the specific grouping structures necessary for the acquisition of that area must emerge in strict synchrony, as must the composition and reverse operations of each necessary grouping. This is a necessary consequence of Piaget's assumption that a grouping emerges from the gradual "interpenetration" of its composition and reverse operations. In part because of the vagueness of his matching of grouping and concept area, these hypotheses are hard to test; the growth of interest in testing for groupings is a recent development, and there is therefore relatively little evidence . What there is suggests that Piaget's hypotheses are not confirmed.

Brainerd (1973) argues that structural analysis is an important constituent of the explanation of development. If one is trying, for example, to account for middle childhood cognition in terms of early childhood cognition, the difficulty arises that the set of specific cognitive behaviours for any developmental stage is always potentially infinite, and therefore cannot be adequately listed. If however an empirically verified model can be set up for each stage it remains only to be shown how the earlier stage's model can be transformed into the later, a task which may be more easily completed. In his disavowing of finalism and teleology, and his postulation of structural models, Piaget's theory is the most complete example of structural analysis of childhood cognition. The theory fails however on several levels. His model of the early childhood structures which are transformed into the concrete operational groupings is inadequate. The early childhood structures are merely said to be "infralogical", that is they do not involve the same feelings of logical necessity as the operations of older children's thought, and they do not satisfy the reversibility property of groupings. The models of middle childhood and adolescent thinking are relatively more precise, but it is not entirely clear how the groupings are transformed into the INRC integration of group and lattice of the formal operations stage. Nor, more importantly still, could any of the models be said to be firmly "empirically verified", particularly not in their development.

It is necessary therefore to test the goodness of fit of Piaget's grouping model at all ages throughout the period in which the groupings are said to be developing. Such a test involves investigation of the sequence of modes of response, which should show increasing approximation to the perfect grouping structure, and also of the order of appearance of groupings and their constituents. Beilin's concept of functional convergence (Beilin 1965) implies that with increased experience there is a closer structural convergence; thus in a longitudinal study one might expect a greater degree of co-ordination of structures in the last testing than in the first.

After this general introduction to the concrete operational groupings there follows an attempt at the analysis of various tests of concrete operations in terms of the groupings which they involve. Because of the vagueness of Piaget's formulations, which also vary between books, the indication of groupings is somewhat tentative. The conversation tests are discussed first, then the tests supposedly involving classification groupings and finally tests of relational groupings.

#### 3.1. Conservation operation

## Piaget's work

The first formal description of the phenomena of the development of quantity conservation appears in Piaget and Inhelder (1941, 1962, 1974). Quantitative conservation is a development of the qualitative conservation - object permanence etc - achieved by the infant during the sensori-motor period. In the succeeding years the child's initially vague concept of quantity is differentiated into concepts of "amount of substance" or mass, weight and volume.

In Piaget's paradigmatic experiment the child makes or is given two balls of plasticine "the same size and same weight" and of identical appearance. One ball is then changed in shape as the child watches, and he is asked whether the standard and the transformed pieces of plasticine have the same quantity (or weight or volume). He is further asked to explain or justify his response, and may be subjected to counter-questioning by the experimenter. A similar technique is used for liquid and for discontinuous quantity.

Piaget analyses the results produced by this technique in terms of three stages. The first is of non-conservation; faced with the transformed substance the subject maintains that the quantity has changed. The second is a transitional stage, where the subject achieves the notion of conservation for some transformations but not for others. In the third stage conservation is generalised and is seen by the subject as a logical necessity applying to all transformations of this type.

Conservation, "the cognition of invariant aspects of a system under transformation" (Piaget and Inhelder 1969a p. 156), is believed by Piaget to be a necessary condition for all rational activity (Piaget 1955). The concept of the permanent object, the first of the conservations, is achieved in the first year of life; the achievement of the conservations of number, length, height, substance, weight and area marks the emergence of concrete operational reasoning. These are the "first-order" conservations; the more difficult "second-order" ones, e.g. volume and density, which require the simultaneous and co-ordinated use of both forms of reversibility are not achieved until rather later; it has been suggested (e.g. by Lovell & Ogilvie 1961b) that they require formal operational reasoning.

Piaget believes that conservation is achieved mainly by the child's increasingly proficient use of operations. For the first order conservations three operations are critical. The first is that of multiplying relations and compensation. A justification of conservation based on this operation would be that although the sausage  $A^1$  was longer than the ball A it was also thinner, and thus the same quantity overall. The second is that of reversibility by inversion; there is as much in  $A^1$  as in A because A

could be remade from  $A^1$ . The third operation is that of identity, which Piaget (Piaget & Inhelder 1969) subdivides into positive and negative identity. A typical explanation based on positive identity would be "it's the same substance"; a negative identity explanation focuses on what has not been done in the transformation e.g. "you didn't add any or take any away" or "you just rolled it". Piaget notes that knowledge of this sort of identity is not sufficient for conservation; "children at the pre-operational level also know that it was 'the same stuff' and that nothing had been taken away or added, but did not conclude from this that there was conservation." (Piaget & Inhelder 1969 p. 158). Explanations based on identity are therefore ranked as arguments for conservation by Piaget only when arguments based on compensation and inversion have been discovered.

The paradigmatic tests, the postulated operations, the categorisation of justifications and the levels of response for weight conservation are very similar to those for conservation of amount described above. Volume conservation, though often assumed to make the same demands as conservation of substance and weight, differs in certain important respects. Piaget (1958) says that while all conservations require the same reversibility of operations, which comprises the singulary operation of inversion-negation and the binary operation of reciprocity, the simple concrete operational conservations need only the sequential application of these two reversibilities, while the complex formal operational conservations need the simultaneous and co-ordinated application of both. There is a marked time lag or decalage between the achievement of these three conservations; Piaget suggests that the order (amount, weight, volume) follows a law of logical implication: the conservation of weight always implies the conservation of amount, the conservation of volume the conservation of both weight and amount.

Beard (1963) tested 60 children aged between 4.10 and 8.10 for conservation of amount and weight, using, amongst other materials, balls of plasticine and a transformation into a sausage. Between 47% and 86% of children conserved amount, between 38% and 58% weight. Hyde (1959, 1970), working in Aden, and using the same transformation, found Piaget's three stages of conservation but the success rate was very low for all her samples, and there were numerous reversals of the decalage between amount, weight and volume, which were not accounted for. Lovell and Ogilvie (1960) tested 322 children between 7.8 and 10.8 years of age and found the same stages at similar ages and the same decalage as Piaget. Interestingly, they found that conservation of weight was sometimes used as an explanation of conservation of amount, though reversibility, in the form of "they were the same before" was the most common reason.

Non-conservation appeared to derive from centering on a single dimension, as Piaget had pointed out, but there were indications that conservation might be situationspecific, and that while the operations which Piaget describes might be necessary for conservation they were not sufficient. Lovell and Ogilvie (1961a and b) also replicated conservation of weight and volume. Their work on volume similarly suggested that the concept developed very gradually, and whether the child conserved depended on the testing situation, particularly which aspect of the concept of volume was involved.

Uzgiris' (Uzgiris 1964) admirable study investigated conservation of amount, weight and volume using four different materials, and although she found the usual stages and decalage there was considerable inconsistency of responding on different materials, a result echoed by Beard (1963b). In the latter study children might show conservation of weight on the easiest materials while failing the conservation of amount problem on the hardest. She suggests that familiarity with the materials is important; Price-Williams et al. (1969) found that the children of potters in Mexican villages showed significantly more conservation behaviour and gave better justifications of conservation than did control group children with less experience of clay. Murray (1970) found no relation between stimulus mode and conservation, though there were the usual age differences. Goodnow and Bethon (1966), and

Mermelstein and Shulman (1967) show that lack of schooling does not appear to upset the development of conservation behaviour, but mental age is important, a finding supported by Keasey and Charles' (1967) comparison of normal and mentally retarded children matched for M.A., where the latter did no better than their partners though on average  $11\frac{1}{2}$  years older. Furth (1964) devised an ingenious non verbal technique for testing deaf subjects for conservation of weight, and found that their performance was comparable with that of hearing subjects who were two years younger.

Various attempts have been made to account for aspects of conservation behaviour in terms of aspects of the task situation. Frank (Bruner 1964, 1966) using screened jars to eliminate the perceptual factor of water levels elicited different conservation behaviour in her subjects at a younger age than Piaget. It must be noted however that blind children show non conservation behaviour, while Fleischman, Gilmore and Ginsbourg (1966), found that screening appeared to be irrelevant to the behaviour of 4 and 5 year olds on conservation of liquid and of beads tasks. Their subjects adamantly gave non-conservation answers even when sealed jars were used, a phenomenon which may be related to the fact that young children prefer to see the level reached when liquid is transferred from one container to another rather than whether any liquid has been spilled. (Jonckheere, personal communication) Goodnow (1973) neatly demonstrates the reason why Genevan

studies produce a much higher rate of compensation explanations for conservation than most English-language studies, where identity explanations predominate; when in her experiment she used "how do you know?" to provoke an explanation she received identity or action explanations; when she used the Genevan probe "look it comes all the way up to here" she elicited compensation reasons. Rose and Blank (1974) tested the hypothesis that, in the standard conservation situation, asking for a second judgment after producing a transformation was taken by the young child as a cue that he should change his judgment. They found that first grade children made fewer errors on a test of number conservation in the condition where they were explicitly asked to judge relative quantities only after the transformation. They repeated the test after a week; a repetition of the previous test showed similar results, while children doing the one judgment task after the standard task did worse, and children doing the standard task after the one judgment task did better.

Much attention has been paid to verbal factors in the conservation paradigm. At the simplest level, studies such as Lovell and Ogilvie (1960) which asked whether the sausage has "more" than the ball produce slightly different results, particularly age norms, from those where the question used involves "same" or "as much", e.g. Elkind (1961), Uzgiris (1964). Investigations of children's use of "more", "less" and "same", e.g. Donaldson and

Balfour 1968, Griffiths, Shantz and Sigel 1967, Palermo 1973, indicate the phrase used may be of critical importance. cf. Bittner and Shinedling 1968. Young children appear to use "less" as a synonym for "more"; the order of correct understanding was "more" before "same" before "less". Harasym, Boersma and Maguire (1971) found that semantic differential similarity or differentiation of "more" and "less" related significantly to the level of conservation behaviour shown. Siegel and Goldstein (1969), in addition to showing that children under five apparently do not understand "same" in a conservation task prequestion, say that they also tend to use a recency strategy in the test situation.

Murray (Murray and Johnson 1969, Nummedal and Murray 1969) points out extra semantic difficulties in the case of conservation of weight; children cannot separate the denotative and the connotative meanings of "large" and "heavy". They believe that "heavy", for example, means not only the denotative "contains a large mass" but the connotative "large", "hard to lift", "solid", "dense" etc. It may be wondered, in view of the difficulty which adolescents and adults find in conceptualising "mass" and "weight", and the persistence of the size-weight illusion, whether the confusion of connotative and denotative meanings is confined to non-conserving children. It cannot be doubted however that young children's concepts of weight are inadequate; they also believe that a change

in temperature brings a change in weight, colder = heavier and warmer = lighter. An interesting experiment by Halpern (1965) further illuminates the importance of the idea of weight. His 20 subjects, aged between 5 and 7, who all conserved weight and solved the transitivity of weight problem with equal sized weights were tested for transitivity of weight using objects where there was no relation between size and weight. Those children who gave empirical (perceptually based, compensatory) explanations on the conservation task made significantly more errors on the new transitivity problem than the children who gave deductive (atomistic or action-identity) explanations of conservation. In view of these difficulties, and the uncertain status of non-verbal techniques; it is clear that the results produced by the conservation paradigm must be interpreted with caution.

When John Flavell reviewed "learning studies" for his introduction to Piagetian theory (Flavell 1963) he had to report a surprising paucity of successful intervention. The situation, at least as far as conservation is concerned, is very different today. An enormous number of successful studies have been reported. The methods used include observation of a model e.g. Rosenthal and Zimmerman 1972, 1974, Zimmerman and Lanaro 1974; compensation training e.g. Sheppard 1974, Curcio et al. 1972; induction of "cognitive conflict" e.g. Gruen 1965 Bryant; verbal rule instruction or feedback e.g. Hamel and Riksen 1973,

Siegler and Liebert 1972; experience of measurement and quantification techniques e.g. Bearison 1969; and learning sets, e.g. Gelman 1969.

Reviewing "experimental inductions of 'first-order' quantitative invariants", Brainerd and Allen (1971) conclude that conservation behaviour is trainable, that transfer from the trained to an untrained area is possible, and that for obvious reasons it is easier to train a partial conserver than a non-conserver, and early acquired conservations are more resistant to extinction than late acquired ones. O'Bryan and Boersma 1971, 1972 show that conservers show different eye movement patterns from nonconservers, with fewer perceptual centrations and more visual explorations; Boersma and Wilton (1974) show that the eye movements of a group of erstwhile non conservers trained to conserve are very similar to those of "natural" conservers.

The form of the conservation tests used in this study was an Anglicized version of that devised by Elkind (1961b), which was given by him to 175 children and has been used since by other investigators (e.g. Pratoomraj and Johnson 1966). It uses two different forms of quantifier and the prediction, judgment and explanation questions which have been preferred by different investigators and are known to be highly correlated. In view of Piaget's belief that compensation and reversibility by inversion are crucial for conservation, groupings VII, the multiplication of relations, and V, the addition of asymmetrical relations, should be in evidence.

## 3.2. Classification operations

The second group of operations investigated in this study includes those relating to classes and classifications. A "class" is a collection of objects specified by listing or enumerating the objects (extension) or by mentioning the property or properties which objects must have to be included in the class (intension). The existence of a class A implies the existence of a system, since there must be a complementary class of non-members, conventionally called A'. By increasing or decreasing the number of defining properties a class and its complement may be related to other classes in a hierarchy; thus  $A + A^{T} =$ B,  $B + B^{1} = C$  etc. Classification thus implies the inclusion of individual elements in a class and the inclusion of that class in more comprehensive classes. An object may therefore be a member of more than one class, and it may be possible to set up multiplicative relations between classifications.

Piaget, in his main work on classification (Inhelder and Piaget 1964) investigates several different sorts of classificatory behaviour. He identifies the common roots of all these in the behaviour of the infant trying out his schemata on an object, saying that this is an attempt to classify in a practical manner by successive trials, and he also picks up Bruner's suggestion that perception involves classification, though he points out that perceptual classification may not involve the structuring and implications of the coordination of extension and intension. There are said to be three main stages in the development of classification. The child below the age of five is said to be unable to distinguish or co-ordinate extension and intension, and typically constructs graphic or "figural" collections of objects rather than classes. The spatial configuration of the objects is of overwhelming importance to the child. A little later the child sorts objects by their similarity on some criterion, but he cannot relate or co-ordinate his collections. Only with the onset of reversible operational thought at around seven years of age can the child recognise the inclusion of classes in a hierarchy, and synchronise logical addition and multiplication.

The most important groupings here are nos I to III; IV is also a classification grouping but there is no actual or potential evidence for it. Grouping I, the primary addition of classes, is the basis for the hierarchical construction of classes; grouping II, the secondary addition of classes, dealing with alternative hierarchies, is involved in re-classifications and in a less concrete way in the child's concept of role and nationality; grouping III, the bi-univocal multiplication of classes is involved in the co-ordination of classification systems in a one to one fashion into matrices.

# 3.21 Additive groupings: the quantification of class inclusion

Inhelder and Piaget (1964) deal initially with two aspects of class inclusion in children. The first is the fundamental ability to make a selection of objects on the basis of their similarities and differences. The second is the placing of the class of objects so selected in a hierarchy or network of classes, so that it is an element of larger more inclusive classes, and its elements are themselves members of classes of lesser extension.

It was early established that the ability to select by "sameness" increases with age. A series of studies have followed Vygotsky (1962) and used his apparatus; Sigel (1953) compared performance on pictures, familiar and untouched objects, and found very similar classifications for all materials. There was a trend in his sample of 7 yr olds, 9 yr olds and 11 yr olds from thematic to perceptual to conceptual classifications, but even the oldest subjects had difficulty in accepting E s abstract classification into animate and inanimate objects as a valid categorisation. Annett (1959) found a similar increase in generality of classification with age in a free sort situation. Over and Hornsby (1966), using a serial presentation of object names where the subject was asked to say how each new object was similar to and different from its predecessors, found increasing use of the superordinate with age; indeed some of the older

children resorted to the "hyperordinate", "they're all things". Generally there is a shift from narrow perceptually based groups to symbolically and linguistically justified classes which may be related one to another. Kofsky and Osler (1967) demonstrate that older subjects are much better than younger at producing a second alternative sort.

Piaget has been particularly interested in the quantification of class inclusion. He notes that young children find it difficult to compare the sizes of B and its subclass A; in a collection of flowers of which more than half are primroses, for example, they will say that there are more primroses than flowers, similarly that there are more ducks than birds, more fathers than men, more boys than children, more brown beads than wooden ones. Piaget says that young children answer as if the question involves a comparison between the two subclasses A and A<sup>1</sup>; an experiment by Ahr and Youniss (1970) using different subclass ratios and both "more" and "less" questions found that this was so for almost all 6 and 8 year olds. Piaget believes that to solve the class inclusion problem children must co-ordinate the two hierarchical equations, components of grouping I,  $A + A^{1} = B$  and  $A = B - A^{1}$  to deduce that therefore B > A. He also implies that the more abstract the classes the harder the problem will be. Thus the reason for children's later success on class inclusion of birds than of flowers

is that children have more experience of bunches of flowers than of collections of birds. This decalage would seem however to be receiving only a post hoc explanation somewhat incongruous with a structural account of class inclusion. Wohlwill's finding (Wohlwill 1968) that children do better with a verbal presentation than a pictorial one, replicated by Kohnstamm (1968) suggests that the ability to resist perceptual pregnance might be of great importance.

There is not very much evidence which could decide whether the operations Piaget suggests are in fact critical for solution of the class inclusion problem, or whether as Kohnstamm (1968) has claimed it is solved inductively from the relative sizes of A and B. In the latter case it would be necessary only to be able to think simultaneously of the whole and the part without the whole thereby ceasing to exist. The argument between the two views has centred on training studies. Piaget, believing that the problem is solved deductively, has said that learning can at best lead only to inductive reasoning and a "structure isolee". Morf's training study, in which children who could form classes by attribute similarity but did not understand hierarchical groupings were given experience of skills believed to underlie competence in class inclusion, produced very little improvement; a small number of those trained on multiple

membership of classes performed better on the post test than on the pre test. Kohnstamm (1963), in an experiment using a more "didactic" training method, but unfortunately without control group or extensive pre testing, produced a much higher rate of improvement.

Pascual-Leone and Bovet (translated and quoted Kohnstamm 1968) made most illuminating recommendations about the diagnosis of operationality, which if followed in detail might guarantee that only structures-d'ensemble could be found, and argued that Kohnstamm had not established that he had induced anything more than "structures isolées". Kohnstamm's reply to this has several parts. He points out first that Morf's results are open to the same criticism; second that a replication of his own experiment by Lasry in Montreal with better controls produced an improved performance in at least 10 out of 22 subjects which could not be distinguished from that of "naturally" (i.e. untrained) successful children. Kohnstamm's own, better controlled, replication again produced significant improvement; young children were taught to resort the perceptual centerings characteristic of their age in situations where, as Pascual-Leone and Bovet recommended, "experimental arrangements and procedures were designed to elicit awareness of the conflict between perceptual pregnance and operational necessity." (Kohnstamm 1968) It would appear, therefore, that training can produce performance identical in everything except the age of the subjects to that shown by untrained class includers.

Another body of evidence on the role of operations in the solution of the class inclusion problem is to be found in studies of groupings and processes in classification. Lovell, Mitchell and Everett (1962) in a series of experiments with primary school and ESN children, found that "operational mobility" Piaget's third stage, was achieved at about the same age (about 8) for all the normal children. A number of task instructions and stimulus - material manipulations significantly affected the children's performance however. Kofsky (1966) constructed a set of eleven experimental tasks to discover whether Piaget's postulated order of difficulty was supported, and whether the tasks formed a cumulative scale. There was a significant improvement with age on each test, but scalogram analysis suggested that "individuals vary in the sequence of mastery of cognitive tasks and the steps by which they master a particular cognitive task." Kofsky attributes some of this variation to methodological difficulties, which are also emphasised by Klahr and Wallace (1972). Here, as elsewhere, one source of difficulty is the gap between Piaget's hypothetical structures and processes and the complex experimental data, which Klahr and Wallace (1970) have attempted to bridge with a model of a computer program for the solution of certain of Kofsky's tasks.
Calvert (1972) provides almost unique longitudinal data on the development of classificatory behaviour. She tested children aged at the beginning of the study between 5 and 7 at intervals over a three year period, using a battery of ten Piaget - derived classification tests and the EPVT. She found that the tests fell into three groups, the ability to deal with similarities and differences, the recognition of the extension of related classes and the recognition and construction of a hierarchy of classes, which were achieved in that order, though there was considerable variation in the order of achievement within each group. In the case of the group concerned with the extension of related classes some of this variation may have been due to task differences. Like Kofsky (1966), she found that the (A + A<sup>1</sup> = B) comparison was achieved earlier than the  $(A = B - A^{T})$  and (B > A) comparisons. It may be doubted however whether the three tasks were really equal in situational complexity. In the  $(B - A^{1} = A)$  task, the only acceptable answer was not the simple and accurate description of A as, for example in Kofsky's case, "blue", where all B were squares, all A blue and all A<sup>1</sup> red, but the complete description, "blue squares", which is a somewhat pedantic and artificial answer. Similarly in the (B > A) task, there was a distractor set of red triangles in addition to the blue triangles and squares directly involved in the comparison. (It must be noted in addition that the standard class inclusion question is an unnatural one, bearing pejorative connotations in

its reference to the subclass, e.g. "are there more people, or more psychologists?"). Calvert (1972) also reports some lack of consistency of maintenance of response between administrations. 67

If Piaget's theory of class inclusion is correct, then, test data must show that the constituent operations of Grouping I,  $A + A^{1} = B$  and  $A = B - A^{1}$ , develop together in mutual interpenetration, and only when they are both established is the class inclusion question solved by combining them to infer that B > A. A test involving these three critical comparisons but using the same simple set with two sub-sets for each was therefore administered.

# 3.22 <u>Multiplicative classifications</u>

In the sixth chapter of "The Early Growth of Logic in the Child" (Inhelder and Piaget 1964) Piaget and Inhelder turn to the consideration of multiplicative classification, that is the co-ordination of alternative systems of subclasses. Such classifications may most neatly be represented by matrices; their structure is described by grouping III, the bi-univocal multiplication of classes in one-to-one correspondence. An example would be a set of elements which could be divided into two classes A, and A<sup>1</sup>, according to one criterion, say colour, and simultaneously into two different classes  $A_2$  and  $A_2^1$  on the basis of a second criterion, say form. If we wish to arrange these resultant groups in such a way that the elements belonging to any of the original subclasses are next to each other, the only possible form of spatial representation is that of a 2 by 2 matrix.

 $\begin{array}{ccc} & \mathbb{A}_{1} & \mathbb{A}_{1}^{1} \\ \mathbb{A}_{2} & \mathbb{A}_{1}\mathbb{A}_{2} & \mathbb{A}_{1}^{1}\mathbb{A}_{2}^{1} \\ \mathbb{A}_{2}^{1} & \mathbb{A}_{1}\mathbb{A}_{2}^{1} & \mathbb{A}_{1}^{1}\mathbb{A}_{2}^{1} \end{array}$ 

Piaget's series of matrix tests, very like Raven's Matrices in form, required the child to find the missing member of a 2 by 2 or 2 by 3 matrix.

Piaget notes (Inhelder and Piaget 1964 p. 151) that multiplicative classifications are more complex than additive classifications from a logical point of view; they involve all the criteria of class inclusion (ibid p. 48) and two further ones (ibid p. 152-3). The two types of classification are however mastered at approximately the same time, perhaps because the symmetry of the matrix's graphic representation makes primitive perceptually based solutions possible. He notes that children of 4 to 5 are better at answering tests involving 3 attributes than are 6 to 7 year olds, provided that they do not have too many elements available for completion. There was no such superiority on the 2 by 2 matrices, which lend themselves less to perceptual or graphic solutions.

Piaget goes on from matrix completion tests to matrix construction or "spontaneous cross-classification" tests. In these tests the child is presented with an unclassified set of elements which could be divided into  $A_1$  and  $A_1^1$ ,  $A_2$  and  $A_2^1$ , and is required to classify them all into a given number of subclasses in different ways. The simplest type of reaction amounts to a separate consideration of the two criteria without any co-ordination between them in any part of the test; in the next level one criterion is applied to all the elements and the other to only some of them; next come successive applications of the criteria without anticipation of the cross-classificatory structure, which can only arise from simultaneous awareness of the two dichotomies. Only in the final stage have anticipation and

simultaneous awareness been established from experience of experimentation by the subject.

One aspect of multiplicative classification which has been singled out by replicators is the possibility of solutions which are perceptual or graphical rather than operational. Parker and Day (1971) compared the performance of 6 to 9 year olds on partial 3 row and 3 column matrices with combinations of perceptual, functional or abstract attributes. They found that combination of perceptual attributes was found at an earlier age than combination of functional attributes, and the combination of abstract attributes came last. Moreover, children who made errors tended to choose the picture representing the type of attribute preferred at that developmental level as criterion in object-sorting tasks. Overton and Jordan (1971) working with 4 year olds and 6 year olds found that the hypothesis that preference for a particular perceptual stimulus category as a basis for classification would enhance performance on that dimension in 4 year olds and have the opposite effect in 6 year olds was not supported. Overton and Brodzinsky (1972) also found no evidence of facilitating perceptual conditions which produced successful solutions before the development of logical class multiplication abilities. The findings that matrices containing realistic pictures are completed successfully before those containing geometric figures (Overton and Jordan 1971) and that there was no significant difference between performance on objects and on pictures of objects (Overton, Wagner and Dolinsky 1971) also go against the perceptual facilitation hypothesis. Indeed in Overton and Brodzinsky's comparison of situations and instructions supposedly inducing perceptual or rule-following sets it appeared that a perceptual approach was if anything a hindrance to correct performance, even in the youngest group (of 4 year olds).

Mackay, Fraser and Ross (1970) made an interesting comparison between matrices where the elements were discrete (e.g. different shapes and colours), ordered (e.g. different widths and heights) or mixed (e.g. colour x height). Subjects were required to solve replacement, reproduction and transposition tasks modelled after Bruner and Kenney (1966). The first experiment showed that ordered matrices were harder than discrete; a second that in the construction (replacement) task discrete and mixed matrices were solved earlier than ordered ones, and reproduction was easier than transposition for the mixed and relational matrices but not for the discrete. They conclude that probably ikonic capacity is important in reproduction; and that multiple classification appears before multiple seriation, a decalage which challenges Piaget's principle that, depending on the same groupings, they emerge synchronously.

The form of the multiplicative classification test used in this study was that standardised by Lovell, Mitchell and Everett (1962) from Piaget's own test (Inhelder and Piaget 1964 p. 165). Their study found that operationality was achieved at roughly the same time for all their tests. Piaget has explicitly said that multiplicative and additive classifications develop in parallel from the same roots. It might therefore be expected that there should be good agreement between performances on these tests. 3.23 Role Inclusion - children's concepts of nationality and geographical inclusion

Piaget in "Judgment and Reasoning in the Child" examines children's notions of country and of nationality. The answers of about 200 children living in Geneva and questioned about the relationship of Geneva and Switzerland fell into three stages, which he relates to the stages of development of the part-whole relation of class inclusion. In the first stage, Geneva and Switzerland were seen as two different juxtaposed places; the second stage was one of transition towards the part-whole inclusion and was marked by fluctuations and uncertain answers - specifically the geographical inclusion might be understood but not the logical. In the third stage children recognised that Geneva was a part of Switzerland, that one could be in both places at once and that they were both "Genevese" and Swiss. Failures on the test, Piaget believes, are primarily due to failure on the class inclusion problem.

The test was replicated by Beard (1957) on 60 6 year old West London children. They were asked whether they could be in their local borough (e.g. Acton, Kilburn) and in London at the same time, and then whether they could simultaneously be in London and in England. In each case, about half the children said that this was possible. Jahoda (1964) carried out a larger scale replication on 144 Glasgow children aged between 6 and 11. He assessed their understanding of spatial inclusion and nationality

(Scottish and British), and the level of their geographical knowledge. He found that Piaget's assumption that spatial inclusion preceded logical inclusion was not well founded, and it also appeared that the understanding of and the spatial representation of geographical relations were not identical functions. In this study, Beard's (1957) questions were used, with certain additional checks on the geographical knowledge of the child. Naming of the borough was replaced by the child's preferred name for his home district (e.g. Camden Town rather than Camden).

# 3.3. Relational operations

The third group of operations investigated in this study includes those dealing with relations. Piaget's work is probably the best systematic study of the development of relational concepts in the representation of space. Early work (Piaget 1926) on simple asymmetrical relations such as concepts of left and right, related to the child's concepts of kinship, is followed and extended by studies of more complex aspects of spatial representation. These later studies (Piaget and Inhelder 1956, Piaget, Inhelder and Szeminska 1960) deal with every aspect of the gradual development of the child's idea of space.

Spatial representation, like other concepts, has its roots in the sensori-motor period, but depends on the development of the capacity for the use of symbols, which allows the child to consider objects which are not present in his perceptual field. Representation is initially by internalised actions which gradually become co-ordinated into a total system and with the onset of operations are completely mobile and reversible. There is a long progression from the static and fragmented internalisation of sensori-motor schemata to the system of spatial operations. Piaget distinguishes between three sorts of spatial representation which appear in sequence. The earliest corresponds to topological geometry, and is limited to the inherent properties of a single object without relation to other objects, including such properties as proximity, linear order, enclosure and continuity. The next level, projective geometry, deals with objects in relation to a given perspective and adds concepts of rectilinearity and perspective. Euclidean geometry quantifies these relations and provides a stable reference system which defines objects with reference to a total framework. The historical order of study of these three systems reverses this order; Piaget's research indicates that the order of development in the child corresponds to the logical rather than the historical sequence. 76

Of the three tests of relations used in this study, two, concepts of left and right and co-ordination of perspectives, involve the use of projective geometry. The third, concepts of brother, is a test of non-spatial relations which Piaget regards as being analogous to the concepts of left and right test. Accounts of the literature on each test follow.

## 3.3.1. Concepts of left and right

The concepts of left and right are included in the group of relationships which constitute projective space, that is which describe the positions of objects in relation to external observers as well as in terms of the relations between the objects themselves. The use of the system of projective space provides an expansion and enrichment of the closed system of topological relations, changing relations of interiority and exteriority into more flexible and more fertile relations of perspective. With the concepts of before-behind and above-below, and their combinations, the concepts of left and right are an important part of the construction of projective space.

Piaget's first consideration of the child's concepts of left and right may be found in "Judgment and Reasoning in the Child" (Piaget 1926), where he describes the results of his systematic replication of a test by Binet. Binet and Simon's first scale located an item on leftright discrimination (designation by S of his own right hand and left ear) at the age of six years; the 1911 revision moved this item to the age of seven years, and Terman in his 1916 American adaptation included three or six places on the child's body. The test was solved by most six year olds, and only rarely by mentally deficient children of any age. Piaget's interest was not however in diagnosis of mental defect but in the elucidation of the child's conception of space. He expanded Binet's test so that it produced evidence on the child's ability to free himself from egocentrism and to use the logic of relations. The child was required to indicate his own left and right hands and feet, and subsequently those of the experimenter who stood facing him, and he was questioned about the left-right relations of first two and then three objects in a line before him. This last test was repeated with the objects exposed for thirty seconds and then concealed before questioning began.

75% of the five year old children could indicate their own hands and feet correctly, and 75% of the seven year olds could correctly label two objects in front of them, but it was clear that "left" and "right" are purely absolute names, since it was not until the age of eight that these middle class children could correctly indicate left and right for a person opposite to them. Only at eleven and twelve years of age were the relations between the three objects correctly described, and the distinction between the absolute "to the left" and "to the right" and the completely relative "to the left of" and "to the right of" clearly made. Younger children tended to say that the only possible description of the central object was that it was "in the middle".

Piaget describes these results in terms of a development through three successive stages. The first stage is one of pure egocentrism, where the child relies completely on his own point of view in distinguishing left and right. At about eight years old, he less egocentrically admits the point of view of another person and can thus recognise a partial relativity of left and right. Later still, at about eleven, his concepts of left and right are completely objectified and he can consider relative positions from the point of the objects themselves. This decline in egocentrism is related by Piaget to changes in the child's conception of kinship relations. Werner's analysis (Werner 1948) of children's spatial concepts similarly compares the subjective and realistic character of the child's first spatial intuitions to certain forms of primitive behaviour and to certain pathological ideas of space in adults.

The test of concepts of left and right devised by Piaget is one of those studied by Elkind in his replication series. Elkind (1961d) administered a slightly modified form of Piaget's test to 210 children aged between five and eleven. The results were comparable to Piaget's, with small age differences and an identical order, and the same tendency for the younger children to use "left" and "right" in an absolute sense, and the older children to give them a relative meaning. Elkind replaces Piaget's

explanation in terms of the progressive socialisation of child thought with the concept of differentiation. The young child's concept of space is said to be nondifferentiated, in that he cannot differentiate his own point of view from another's. Paradoxically however his concept is also over-differentiated, since he uses "left" and "right" as labels appropriate only for his own body, without being conscious of his own point of view. Similarly, calling the child's intermediate stage of distinguishing also another's left and right but only as absolutes, a stage of "concrete differentiation" as opposed to the "abstract differentiation" achieved when the concepts of left and right are extended to the relations existing between objects themselves, involves ambiguity. The evidence of the test itself cannot decide between these two formulations.

Harris (1972) raises a further difficulty by pointing out that the discrimination of left and right is a notoriously difficult one and so may not be altogether a good test of the logic of relations. **#H**e compared the performance of 5 year olds and 7 year olds on discrimination and relational questions about three dimensions, leftright, up-down and infront-inback. Almost all the 5 year olds discriminated the latter two perfectly, and about three quarters of them handled the relational questions successfully also. Only 3 of the 27 children however were even near perfect on the relations of left and right,

and only 13 could discriminate between them with near perfect accuracy. The 7 year olds performed better overall but they still found the left-right dimension considerably harder than the other two. Harris suggests two sources of this difference; first "environmental variables", for example the great salience of the before-behind dimension which maps on to "can reach" - "can't reach", and second "structural variables" - the bilateral symmetry of the human brain has been suggested (e.g. by Corballis and Beale (1970)) as an extra source of difficulties in left-right discrimination. It is interesting that left-right differentiation was better established than up-down in children who had been paralysed by poliomyelitis and were bedridden (Voronova, cited in Laurendeau and Pinard 1970).

The concepts of left and right test is one of those included by Laurendeau and Pinard (1970) in their battery of Piagetian tests. They found stages and ages roughly comparable to Piaget's. The form of test used in this study is similar to theirs.

# 3.3.2. Co-ordination of perspectives

Piaget's Co-ordination of Perspectives test was devised to study the development of projective concepts of space. It is one of a series of experiments including the construction of a projective straight line, drawing objects as they would look from different positions, drawing projections of shadows, etc. It requires the integration of partial individual perspectives one with another into a general system which includes all the relationships which exist between the observer and each object he observes and between the objects themselves. It especially requires the simultaneous use and co-ordination of the left-right and before-behind dimensions, and is thus closely related to but a step beyond the discrimination of left and right test described in the preceding section. Success on this task indicates a complete grasp of the projective concepts of space.

In the co-ordination of perspectives test the child is shown a scale model of three mountains and tested for his ability to represent the appearance of the mountains from a viewpoint other than his own, by drawing it or by selecting one of a series of pictures, or by choosing the position from which a particular view would be seen. Piaget gave the test to about 100 children aged between 4 and 12, and found the usual sequence of stages. The youngest children responded at random or chose their own view on all trials, because they could not recognise that there was more than one possible point of view. With gradual differentiation and a decrease in egocentricity, other viewpoints are chosen, though it takes quite a long time before the child succeeds on the most difficult positions. Perfect performance requires the co-ordination of left-right and before-behind relations.

The test is the most difficult of those replicated by Dodwell (1963) in his investigation of Piaget's account of spatial concepts. More than half of his 194 subjects gave "mixed" responses on the different parts of his test; 44 of the youngest were "purely egocentric", 11 of the oldest were completely successful in their co-ordination of perspectives. The remaining 30 subjects were at a transitional stage B which "includes various partly correct transitional types of response." It is not clear either what these types of response were, or how the performance of these subjects differed from those in the "mixed" category. Dodwell seems however to concede that Piaget's results are supported by his own findings.

A larger scale and more fully reported replication is that of Laurendeau and Pinard (1970). They used a somewhat simplified apparatus and discarded two of Piaget's probes. They found that to require the subject to construct rather than recognise views was time consuming and disagreeable to the subjects, and placing a doll at the correct position for a certain view, though less tiresome to the children, was hard to interpret and not productive of much new information. Their analysis of stages rests therefore on the child's choice of picture of the view from a given position. Choice was from a series of 9, two of which were impossible.

Laurendeau and Pinard describe a series of four main stages, two of which have substages. The first stage (0) is one of incomprehension or refusal; children classified under this stage refused to complete the test, or believed that any picture would be correct, or chose a picture because of a secondary preoccupation such as its proximity on the table to the little man or its having been previously pointed out by the experimenter. Subjects in stage 1 had a consistently egocentric attitude, revealed by the consistent choice of the picture showing the subject's own view. Stage 2 is one of partial decentration, an oscillation between completely egocentric choices and complete decentration. Children in this stage do attempt to construct the doll's perspective without having previously seen it themselves, but they typically can consider only one of the two projective dimensions (left-right and before-behind); thus they may consider that two pictures differing only on the unconsidered dimension are equivalent, or employ completely post-hoc justifications of their choice. The division of this stage into substages 2A and 2B is based on the proportion of decentration.

Subjects classified in 2B achieved 2 out of 3 total decentrations, subjects in 2A one or none. In the last stage, 3, there was complete co-ordination of the projective relations in all parts of the test. The child recognises the picture which corresponds exactly to the doll's viewpoint, and his explanation refers explicitly to the left-right and before-behind relations between the mountains and the observer. Only 40 of the 450 children between  $4\frac{1}{2}$  and 12 reached this stage; even at the oldest level only about a quarter were in stage 3, half in stage 2B or above. The test was again found to be the hardest of the Piagetian spatial tests replicated. It need not be thought, however, that it properly belongs to the "formal operations" period; "it hardly requires more than the kind of simple operational reversibility, limited to a single system, whereby the subject must be able to (a) conserve the relative positions of the elements of the system despite any particular change of viewpoint, an achievement which implies at least the operations of vicariousness or reciprocity of perspectives; (b) place these elements in a one-to-one correspondence along two projective dimensions simultaneously, an achievement which does not surpass the operations of logical multiplication of order or position relations." (Laurendeau and Pinard 1970 p. 401). Thus the groupings involved probably include grouping VII, the bi-univocal multiplication of relations and grouping V, the addition

of asymmetric relations. As far as relationships with other tests goes, success on the co-ordination of perspectives task should be preceded or at least accompanied by success on the construction of matrices task (groupings III and VI) and on the left-right discrimination task (grouping V).

The co-ordination of perspectives task has also been given to a large sample of children by Lee (1971). It seemed in his sample to be more like the formal operations tasks in his battery of tests than like the conservation tasks (of mass and liquid); it also correlated quite highly with the left-right discrimination task. He used a partially screened scene; after a first, normally conducted, trial series the subject was asked to choose the correct picture a second time and if his choice was wrong or his explanation inadequate he was shown the scene from the doll's position and asked to choose again. Transitional subjects who could recognise the perspective when they saw it and correct their choice were thus differentiated from those who could not. Lee's scoring was by levels which correspond to Laurendeau and Pinard's stages 1, 2A, 2B and 3.

Fishbein, Lewis and K**E**iffer (1972) investigated the co-ordination of perspectives task using toys instead of mountains. They found that task complexity (number of toys, number of photographs to choose from) had a significant effect, and also that while the number of errors made decreased with age the older children made proportionately more egocentric errors than the younger. Brodzinsky, Jackson and Overton (1972) found no difference in performance of 6, 8 or 10 year olds on a single object or on several objects. The performance of the 8 year olds was improved somewhat if the scene was shielded during the choice period. Shantz and Watson (1971), with children between  $3\frac{1}{2}$  and  $6\frac{1}{2}$  as subjects, found that most errors on the mountain perspective test were choices of the subject's own view, which is in accordance with Piaget's findings. 87

It appeared desirable to reduce the visual complexity of the perspectives task. In Piaget's, Lee's and Fishbein et al's experiments, amongst others, the child could use salient features of the objects to identify the correct picture and need never use the relations between the objects. In this study, as in Laurendeau and Pinard's, therefore, the objects, "mountains", were paper cones of different sizes and colours but of the same appearance from all sides. The questioning procedure used was as in Lee (1971).

# 3.3.3. Reciprocal relations

Piaget's account of the child's concept of brotherhood (Piaget 1928) stems, like his investigation of their ideas of left and right, from items in Binet's intelligence test. In this case the item was one of a set of absurd sentences, "I have three brothers; Paul, Ernest and myself" and the child was required to explain the absurdity. Only about 30% of nine to twelve year olds could do this; errors seemed to fall into two classes. In the first group, children failed because they did not view "myself" as a brother to Paul and Ernest, and judged the sentence to be absurd because there are only two brothers; in the second the relational "have a brother" was seen as synonymous with the classificatory "is a brother" and so no absurdity was seen. Piaget argues that the relational and the class aspects of brother are distinct and co-ordinated in the adult, but undifferentiated in the child.

To test this hypothesis he carried out a large scale investigation on "about 240 children between 4 and 12", asking them how many brothers and sisters they had, how many had each of their siblings, and how many there were in the family, and similar questions relating to hypothetical families, and finally requiring a definition of "brother" or "sister". He found that children find it difficult to see themselves as brothers or sisters to their siblings, and also to include themselves in the total of brothers or sisters in the family, and they have even more difficulty with hypothetical families. The definitions fell into three stages. In the first "brother" was merely a synonym of "boy", so that an only child could be a brother; in the second "brother" was recognised as a relational term, but not as a reciprocal one; thus to be a brother one must have an older brother, and the first born son cannot be a brother however many siblings he has. Finally the notion of "brother" becomes entirely relational. Piaget relates these developments to the child's concepts of left and right, and of country, and suggests that the child's difficulties stem from his inability to free himself from his own perspective. "He does not realise that a brother must necessarily be the brother of somebody, that an object must necessarily be to the right or left of somebody, or that a part must necessarily be part of a whole, but thinks of all these notions as existing in themselves, absolutely. ... The child unconsciously extends his own immediate point of view to all possible points of view (realism), instead of consciously generalizing a relation which he has conceived clearly as relative and reciprocal (relativism) ... It is because he fails to grasp the reciprocity existing between different points of view that the child is unable to handle relations properly." (Piaget 1928 pp. 131-134). The critical structure is grouping VI, the addition of symmetrical relations.

The best early replication of this study is by Danziger (1957). He questioned 41 children between 5 and 8 on 5 relational terms - brother, sister, daughter, cousin and uncle. He found the same sequence of levels - categorical, concrete relational, abstract relational - as Piaget; all the kin terms went through this sequence but not together. The attributive thinking of the lower levels lacked reciprocity, and the most advanced children in the definition task thought of kin terms not as isolated entities but as part of an interconnected web of relationships.

Elkind (1962b) included Piaget's work on concepts of brotherhood in his series of replications, proposing "differentiation" as the critical dimension of development here as in the area of concepts of left and right. The answers of his 210 subjects were similar to those of Piaget's and Danziger's, though perhaps because they came from smaller families they were markedly better than Piaget's subjects at enumerating their own brothers and sisters. Elkind's analysis is in terms of degrees of differentiation and symmetry of the class and relational aspects of brotherhood.

A third study was carried out by Haviland and Clark (1974). Their subjects, thirty children between 32 and 9, were questioned on 15 kin terms, a basic hypothesis of the study being that children's earliest word meanings do not match those of the adults around them because the lexical entries for the words are incomplete. They suggest that for kinship terms, as for other lexical items, the first features learnt are perceptual e.g. sex, age, behaviour, clothing style (what do you have to have to be a brother? Pants with pockets); thus Piaget's Stage I is a result of having learned only property features. Kinship terms next acquire relational components, though they are still not reciprocal (your grandmother is somebody who's your mother's mother). Finally the child achieves reciprocity, learning to use the inverse rule (a grandmother is a lady who has a grandchild). From these principles Haviland and Clark derive a predicted order of acquisition of relational terms, based on their lexical complexity; thus terms with only one relational component (e.g. father = (X parent of Y)) are achieved before those where the same relational component is repeated (e.g. grandson = (X child of A)(A child of Y)), which in turn precede those where two different relational components (e.g. brother (X child of A)(A parent of Y)) or both types of relational components and a recursion (e.g. aunt (X child of A)(A parent of B)(B parent of Y)). The stages, the order and the ages of acquisition of kin terms found in their sample were consonant with this neo Piagetian description.

The procedure used in this study is a replication of Piaget's.

#### Section 4 Design

#### Part 1. Aim

The aim of the experiment was to provide data on certain concrete operations which would be evidence on the following points:

- the magnitude of the correlations between different tests of the same grouping of operations, compared with those between tests belonging to different groupings
- the changes in correlations between tests over the period in which concrete operations are said to be attained and integrated
- 3) the sequence of attainment of different operations, and the incidence of decalages
- 4) the "fit" of test scores to a "stage" model of development
- 5) the effect of test experience and the test-retest reliability of different tests

#### 4.21 Selection of tests

Tests were selected so as to sample the various concrete operational groupings as widely as possible. It was not felt desirable to invent new testing procedures, as such a variety existed already. Where there were alternatives in the literature one was chosen according to the following criteria:

- responses should clearly and unequivocally indicate the level of the child's thought
- the administration procedure should be standardised, simple and short
- scoring categories should be clear, ordered and objective
- 4) test material and procedure should be such that the child's attention is held
- 5) the test should have been administered to as large a number of children as possible

All the tests used had been devised by Piaget or his co-workers and had subsequently been used in replication experiments, some, inevitably, more widely than others.

Because of the necessity of maintaining the child's interest over a large number of tests, and thus inevitably a long period of time, the nominal exclusion of material and procedural factors by standardising the content of tests was decided against. Instead test material was varied and logically similar tests were separated as much as possible. The verbal content of tests was minimised and the active participation of the child maximised. These choices doubtless increased errors and differences due to environmental variation, but the attention and enthusiasm of the children were very marked. The generally high level of motivation makes it appear likely that variation due to varying concentration and to boredom was decreased.

# 4. 22 The tests - outline and source

#### a) Conservation tests (A, W, V)

The subject was asked first to make the two quantities "the same", then to predict, next judge and then explain his judgment. He was given encouragement and verbal confirmation for the initial equality only, his further responses being recorded without comment. The procedure was essentially that of Elkind (1961), but after the child's explanation of his judgment he was asked a supplementary question. Children who said that the quantity had not changed, i.e. made a conserving response, were asked to explain how the quantity could be made different; children who said that the quantity had changed, i.e. made a non conserving response, were asked to explain how the quantity could be made the same.

# b) Classification tests

#### i) Multiplicative classification (matrix) test (M)

The subject was asked to sort cards presented in disorder into the constituent subclasses and to combine these classes as in Lovell et al. (1962). The questions were designed to determine whether the subject understood that the four separate subclasses could be recombined additively in two different ways, and that these classifications could be combined as a multiplicative classification.

# ii) Class inclusion test (C)

The subject was shown a card on which were drawn shapes forming a class B with two subclasses A and  $A^1$ , of unequal sizes, and was asked to indicate each of them. Questions requiring the quantification of inclusion were then asked; the child kept the card in front of him as he answered. Questioning concerned the relative sizes of B and A +  $A^1$ , B and the larger subclass A, and the result of removing the subclass  $A^1$ . The form of questioning was as in Calvert (1972).

iii) Role inclusion test (R)

The child was asked where he lived, and it was established by mutual agreement that this district (Camden Town) was in London. He was then asked whether it was possible to be in Camden Town and in London at the same time, and why, and later a similar question concerning London and England, or if the child preferred it as the name of the country, Britain. This questioning procedure was derived from Beard (1957). The child was also asked about the possibility of being in London, but not in Camden Town and vice versa, and similarly for London and England.

- c) Relationship tests
- i) Position (Po)

The child was first asked to indicate left and right on his own limbs, then for the experimenter sitting opposite to him, and was then questioned about the relative positions of first two and then three objects placed before him. Questioning was as in Laurendeau and Pinard (1970).

#### ii) Co-ordination of perspectives (Pe)

A model scene consisting of three mountains was placed in front of the child with six pictures representing the mountains as seen from different sides laid out next to it. The child was asked to indicate the picture which showed what a little doll placed looking at the mountains would see without himself moving to look. After doing this for four positions around the scene, questioning was repeated and the child was asked to explain his choice. When he had done so, the model was turned so that the little doll and the child had the same view, and the child was asked to choose the correct card for the last time. This procedure was as in Lee (1971).

#### iii) Brotherhood test (Re)

As in Piaget (1926) and Elkind (1962), the child was asked about the numbers of brothers and sisters in various families described to him, and in his own family. He was also asked to define "brother". Questioning was designed to determine whether he was aware of the reciprocal nature of brotherhood.

#### 4.3. Subjects

All subjects were pupils in ILEA primary schools, which were selected for the study by members of the Research and Statistics group of the ILEA. Four schools serving the same area of an Inner London borough provided a total of 137 children for the first testing. These children were all British-born, speaking English as a first language, and without serious educational or emotional problems. They were selected as a representative cross-section of their class by the class teacher in consultation with the head teacher. Because of changes of school over the period of a year, several further schools were visited; children who moved out of the ILEA area or who changed schools more than once in a year were not followed up. The final sample consisted, therefore, of 120 children, twenty in each age group between 5 and 10.

The four main schools in the study were in the same Inner London borough within half a mile of each other. Two were infants' schools, two primary schools. All the children came from the surrounding area; they were however a heterogeneous group socio-economically. The pupils of School 2, a mixed C of E primary school, were predominantly from lower working-class backgrounds. There was a relatively high proportion of immigrant and single-parent families. The children from school 1 came from the same area and were similarly mixed, but there were a few more children of professional parents, and as one might expect in an infants' school fewer gross socio-economic problems. School 4, another C of E primary school, was on the edge of a redeveloped area from which most of its pupils were drawn. They were mostly from upper working class families; there was a rather high degree of parental involvement in the school. There were very few immigrant children. School 3 was an infants' school with an extremely high reputation in an area being colonised by the middle classes. The vast majority of the children came from upper middle class families.

Subjects were 60 boys and 60 girls aged between 5.1 and 10.10 at the first time of testing. All were right handed. The occupation of the parent was discovered from school records:- 29 in Class 1 or 2; of these 13 were teachers or lecturers. 12 were white collar workers, 7 skilled manual workers; 54 were manual workers. 18 had no occupation recorded in the school's records.

#### 4.4. Testing

All subjects were tested individually in a quiet room. At the first session, the first test given was the Crichton Vocabulary test, which served the dual purpose of accustoming the child to the experimental situation, and of providing some indication of the child's confidence, fluency and style of interaction. The nine Piagetian tests were then given in an order which separated logically similar tests while randomising the arrangement within these constraints (A, Po, C, W, Pe, M, V, Re, Ro). Alternate children were

given the tests in the reverse order. The testing session was broken for a short time if the child needed it, or after half an hour. Raven's Coloured Matrices Series A,  $A_B$ , B was given as the last test. Testing in the second and third sessions proceeded in the same way, but the two intelligence tests were not repeated. At the end of the second testing session, the child was asked whether he had done anything in that session which he had not done the first time, and which tests he remembered. At no time in any session was the child told about the correctness or otherwise of his answer; the demeanour of the tester was supportive and accepting throughout, but inexplicitly so. The younger children were rewarded at the end of the first session with a Smartie. No children refused to submit to re-testing.

## 4.5. Outline of Analysis

The data from this study consist of pass/fail scores on a number of sub items for each test which combine into a score of 0, 1, 2 or 3 for each test. These ordinal scores reflect the stages which Piaget and his co-workers have suggested occur in the development of each concept, and also the level of information processing employed in that area by the child.

One objective of the study was the elucidation of the structural aspects of concrete operations. It was thus necessary to search for groupings or patterns of responses in the data. Scalogram analyses, X<sup>2</sup> tests and factor analyses were employed to this end.

A second objective was the investigation of the "fit" of the data to an age-related "stage" model of development. The data were therefore subjected to a comparison of variances and correlations at different ages and to an examination of deviations in the development of scores on each test from a linear trend. The changes in the individual's scores over the three testing sessions were also examined.
# Section 5. Method

# 5.1. Materials

- Conservation tasks. Two identical balls of Play-Doh each weighing about 3 oz.
- 2) Position test. A white card 6" by 4" on which was placed first a 2 penny piece and a small pencil, second the same coin and pencil and a key.
- 3) Class Inclusion test. A white card 6" by 4" on which was drawn eight circles, each outlined in black ink.
   5 were coloured light red and three dark blue.
- 4) Perspective test. A brown board 13" square on which three paper cones were placed. The largest (3" high) was red, the second (2" high ) yellow and the smallest (1<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>" high) blue. Six white cards 6" by 4" on which triangles of the appropriate colour and size had been stuck in place to represent the view of the mountains from the chosen places. A plasticine man 1" high with clearly marked front and back.
- 5) Matrix test. 16 cards 3" by 4" on each of which a rabbit was drawn. 4 rabbits were brown and in a sitting position, 4 brown and running. 4 were black and sitting, 4 black and running. 2 boxes 6" by 4", 1 board 12" by 8" divided into 4" parts.
- Reciprocal relationships test. A white card 6" by 4" on which was drawn a "family" of 3 boys and 2 girls.

# 5.2. Procedure

# 1) Conservation of Amount

The two balls of Play-Doh were put side by side in front of the child. E then asked:

"Do both balls have the same amount of plasticine, is there as much plasticine in this ball as in this one?"

"If the child said "no" he was encouraged to "make them the same" or was persuaded that they were in fact identical. E applauded the judgment of equality.

E then asked:

"Suppose I roll one of the balls out into a sausage, will there be as much plasticine in the sausage as in the ball, will they both have the same amount of plasticine?" and the child's answer was recorded. One of the balls was then rolled out into a sausage which was replaced next to the unchanged ball. E asked:

"Is there as much plasticine in the ball as in the sausage, do they both have the same amount of plasticine?" The child's answer was recorded and he was then asked (if he had not already volunteered a reason) "Why?" "How do you know?" The next question varied according to whether the child's responses so far indicated that he was a conserver or a non-conserver. Children who claimed that the amount in the sausage was still the same as the amount in the ball were asked "how could we make it so that there was a <u>different</u> amount of plasticine in the sausage from in the ball?" and the children who claimed that the amount in the sausage was now different from the amount in the ball were asked: "how could we make it so that there was the same amount of plasticine in the sausage as in the ball?"

#### Scoring

The simplest possible scheme of one mark each for the prediction, judgment and counterquestioning sections was adopted. Procedure for the Conservation of Weight and Conservation of Volume tests was identical; the form of question was respectively: "Is there the same amount of weight in the ball as in the sausage, do they both weigh the same?" and "Does the sausage take up the same amount of space as the ball, do they both take up as much room?"

2) Position test

E, sitting facing the child, asked:

1) "Show me your right hand

left leg right ear left hand right leg left ear." 2) "Show me my left hand

right ear left leg right hand left ear right leg."

E then put before the child a white card on which she placed a pencil and a penny so placed that from the E's position no object was to left or right of another and the relationships were before/behind merely. She asked:

105

3) "Is the pencil to the left or the right of the penny? Is the penny to the left or the right of the pencil?" E then took the pencil and the penny into her hands, and asked:

4) "You see this penny. Is it in my right hand or my left hand? You see this pencil. Is it in my left hand or my right hand? E then put the pencil, the penny and a key side by side on the card and asked:

5) "Is the pencil to the left or right of the penny? Is the penny to the left or right of the key? Is the key to the left or right of the pencil? Is the pencil to the left or right of the key? Is the penny to the left or right of the pencil? Is the key to the left or right of the pencil? 0 - complete failure/incomprehension (less than 6 correct on question 1)
1 - own left and right only (only questions 1 and 3 correct)
2 - left and right division applicable to other people (questions 1, 2, 3 and 4 correct)
3 - relative notion of left and right (all questions correct)
Consistent reversers ( 4 of 120) were marked correct

(cf Laurendeau & Pinard).

# 3) Class Inclusion

E put in front of the child a card showing 5 red and three blue circles and said:

"Show me the round ones Show me the pink ones Show me the blue ones"

Agreement was reached as to the best names for the colours and E then asked the following 3 questions in random order:

"Are there more round ones or more pink ones and blue ones?

If you took the blue ones, what would be left for me, the pink ones, the blue ones or the round ones? Are there more round ones or more pink ones?"

<u>Scoring</u> was again very simple; one point for each correct answer.

#### 4) Perspective test

E put the brown board in front of the child and placed the mountains on it one by one, saying:

"Now we are going to play with some mountains. You see, there are 3 mountains; a red one, the biggest one; a yellow one, a little smaller, and then the blue one which is very small. And this little man is going to go for a walk around the mountains and he is going to take some pictures of the mountains. Now you have to guess what will be in the pictures that the little man is going to take. These are the pictures that he takes."

E then put the little man at A (the position in front of the child) facing the mountains and said:

"Watch, I am putting the man here. Now, what does the little man see? What will the picture look like when he takes it? Show me the picture that the man sees when he is standing there."

When the child had answered the little man was moved to E (at  $180^{\circ}$  to the child) then to C (at  $90^{\circ}$  to the child) and then to F (at  $270^{\circ}$  to the child) and the question was repeated. Any attempt by the child to move to look was discouraged. When he had chosen a picture for each of the four positions E said: "Now, we're going to do it again, and this time I want you to tell me why you chose the picture, explain why it is that one. You can change your mind if you like."

The little man was then replaced at A and the question repeated. When the child had clearly produced the most adequate reason for his choice of which he was capable, E turned the board so that he could view the mountains from behind the little man, and the child was again asked to choose the correct picture - "the one the little man would take from there." This procedure was repeated for the 3 remaining positions.

<u>Scoring</u> was according to Lee (1971) 0 - choice of viewpoint random or own 1 - imperfect verbalisation and incorrect choices 2 - correction on viewing only 3 - correct initially.

#### 5) Matrix test

The 16 pictures of rabbits were randomly dealt out in front of the child and E said:

"Put together those that are alike, those that go together."

When the child showed he had finished sorting E, having noted his sorting, gave him two identical red boxes and said: "Put some in this box and some in that box"

The child was encouraged to put all the rabbits into the boxes. When he had done this E said:

"Now take them out of the boxes; put together those that are alike and put them in different parts of this card."

When the child had done this E indicated two piles of rabbits alike in either colour or shape and asked:

"Can you put these with these? Why?"

The question was repeated for a pair similar in the other respect, and questioning continued until it was quite clear how the child's answers were coordinated.

#### Scoring

0 - partial or figural collections on question 1 only
1 - question 2 correct only, i.e. sort and 1 combination only
2 - alternates not combines colour and shape
3 - combines colour and shape and can say "why".

#### 6) Reciprocal relationships

E gave the child a picture of a "family" of 3 boys and 2 girls and said:

"Show me the boys in that family - show me the girls". When the child had done this E asked:

- "How many brothers are there in this family? How many sisters? How many brothers and sisters?" The picture was then removed and E said:
- 2) "There are 3 brothers in a family, John, Peter and Richard. How many brothers has John? has Peter? has Richard?"

The child's answers were recorded. E then said:

- 3) "In another family there's a little boy called Paul, and he has three brothers, William and Tom and Brian. How many brothers has William? has Tom? has Brian? How many brothers altogether in this family?" Girls were asked about a family of 4 girls.
- 4) The next question was: "What is a brother?" Questioning on this theme was continued until the child's definition was clear. He was then asked:
- 5) "How many brothers have you? How many sisters? How many brothers has your brother? has your sister? How many sisters has your brother? has your sister?

<u>Scoring</u> was according to Piaget (1926) 0 - no differentiation - no relation, brother = boy 1 - concrete differentiation - definition by perceptual properties, e.g. size, cohabitation

- 2 asymmetrical relation
- 3 symmetrical abstract relation

# 7) Role inclusion

The child was asked where he lived, and it was established by mutual agreement that his home district X (e.g. Camden Town, Primrose Hill, Regent's Park) was in London. He was then asked: "Can you be in X and in London at the same time? - Why? - Can you be in X but <u>not</u> in London? Can you be in London but <u>not</u> in X?" A similar procedure was followed over the question of the inclusion of London in England.

# Scoring

- 0 no idea of relative positions of district, London and England; denial of possibility of being in any two places at one time
- 1 confusion and inconsistency on both questions, but not outright denial

of the property affects in the interior as a religious

2 - correct on only one inclusion

3 - correct on both inclusions.

Most of the data of this investigation are ordinal in nature. As far as possible, therefore, non parametric methods of analysis have been used. Certain robust parametric analyses have been employed, in the realisation that conclusions from their results must be extremely tentative.

One objective of the study was the elucidation of the structural aspects of concrete operations. This objective implies the search for groupings or patterns of responses in the data. Two main techniques were used; firstly scalogram analysis and secondly correlation matrices and their application in a factor analysis.

A second objective was the investigation of the 'fit' of the data to an age-related 'stage' model of development. The data were subjected to a comparison of variances and interrelations at different ages and to an examination of deviations in the relation between age and scores on each test from a linear trend. The changes in the individual's scores over the three testing sessions were also examined.

The description of the general stage- and structurerelated analyses will be followed by a consideration of the individual tasks, with particular reference to the order of acquisition of the constituent groupings, and an analysis of the apparent effects of such variables as intelligence, sex and school.

# 6.1.0. Scalogram Analysis

Scalogram analysis is a method of investigating the response patterns of subjects to a set of items or tasks. It was originally devised as a non-metric method for scaling items on questionnaires about attitudes and opinions (Guttman 1950), but its use has been extended to the analysis of data from cognitive tasks, for example spatial concepts (Dodwell 1963), conservation of quantity, weight and volume (Uzgiris, 1964), classificatory development (Kofsky 1966), number concepts (Wohlwill 1960) and other Piagetian tasks (e.g. Siegelmann and Block 1969).

Theoretically if a set of m dichotonous items is scalable then the number of response patterns should not exceed m + 1. The scale has a cumulative property such that if any given item is passed (or responded to positively, in attitude studies) it is very likely that the subject has also passed all the items lower in the scale, similarly if any given item is failed the subject will fail all the items higher in the scale. Subjects may be assigned a score which is the rank order position of their particular pattern in the sequence; with a perfect scale the subject's response pattern may be known from his rank order position. As the number of errors within the subjects' response patterns increases, however, that is as the number of patterns of scores found exceeds m + 1, so the possibility of prediction of response patterns or "reproducibility" of the scale decreases. The measurement of error, the coefficient of reproducibility or "Rep" is given by

114

Rep. = 1 - Total number of errors Total number of responses

Guttman suggests that this coefficient should not be less than .90; a lower Rep. suggests the presence of sub-scales or of more than one causative factor. The minimum marginal reproducibility is the minimum rep. for the scale given the proportions of successes and failures.

The coefficient of scalability is given by the formula  $\frac{\text{Rep} - \min. \text{ marg. rep}}{1 - \min. \text{ marg. rep}}$ 

(Dixon 1971). It is desirable that this coefficient should be greater than .6; a smaller coefficient indicates an unacceptably high proportion of non-scale response patterns.

The basic premise of the use of scalogram analysis to trace developmental processes is that scalability of responses to a set of problems is evidence for a single developmental continuum. It is clearly necessary that there should be an independent validation of the psychological dimension defined by the items, and that the ranking of subjects on this dimension should correspond with psychological development. Thus there must be a significant association between rank order position and chronological age; in a longitudinal study one may have direct evidence of this in the form of a change with increasing age in the direction of a higher scale type. Although scalogram analysis is an improvement for the purposes of developmental analysis on such cross-sectional data as age-norms, it is not to be regarded as a substitute for longitudinal evidence only. Longitudinal research can validate the conclusions about the relationship of scale type and age drawn from scalogram analysis. Wallace (1965) suggests that with increasing age there should be a change in the direction of a higher scale type, and any given subject should respond in accordance with the scale whenever he is tested. Versey (1974) found a stable rank ordering of items and of subjects over four testings, which fits Wallace's suggestions.

14

115

In this study, three scalogram analyses, one for each testing, were prepared using the computer program BMD05S (Dixon 1971). In each the number of items was 9, which is just under the minimum number suggested by Guttman, the number of levels on each item was 4, the number of subjects 120.

The scale resulting from the analysis of the first testing had nineteen levels, a coefficient of reproducibility of .892, a minimum marginal reproducibility of .426 and a coefficient of scalability of .811. Looking at the matrix of ranked responses (Summary Table 6.1), it is found that 17% of cases fall into the bottom three categories, failing all the tests; a further 14% pass only the easiest test, Re, 10% two tests Re and A. The next easiest tests are R. M and W; a further 31% pass some or all of these tests in addition to Re and A. 19% also pass C, forming scalelevel 4; the top three categories take up 9% of cases.

Analysis of the results of the second testing gave rise to a scale with seventeen levels, with a coefficient of reproducibility of .890, a minimum marginal reproducibility of .482 and a coefficient of scalability of .787. There is little change in the order of the tests, which is the same as in the first testing except that M and R have changed places and M is now the easier. On this testing only 10% of cases fell into the bottom three categories, failing all tests; a further 25% passed Re and either A or M or both. The next easiest test was R; 13% passed A, M, Re and R, 15% also passed W, 5% added C, 12% Po. A further 8% passed Pe, forming the fourth level; the top three levels, 12%, were differentiated by their responses to V, ranging from total failure to success.

The third testing produced still fewer levels, sixteen only; the coefficient of reproducibility was .918, the minimum marginal reproducibility .582 and the coefficient of scalability .66. This time only two children failed all the tests, only four passed only the easiest, Re, a total of 5%. 6% passed Re and M, 6% A, M and Re, 9% A, M, R and Re. 16% passed five tests, most commonly A, M, R, Re and W; 15% passed six tests, usually failing V, Pe and Po.

The remaining 43% were differentiated in level mainly by their response to V; 25% failed the test completely, 5% partially, and 13% passed it.

It may be seen from these pattern frequencies that there was a general improvement in performance between testing sessions. The rank order of items was very stable (12=.98, 723=.98, 713=.95), the rank order of subjects slightly less so  $(r_{12} = .65, r_{23} = .72,$  $r_{13}$ = .62). The results of this study, like those of Versey (1974), support the assumptions that older subjects score higher on the scale than younger and that the scale is valid to the same extent for all ages. Although the coefficients of reproducibility are in the cases of the first two testings just under the .9 recommended by Guttman as a minimum level, the coefficients of scalability are for each scale well over Green's suggestion of .6 (Green 1956). They are far short however of the value of 1.00 which indicates perfect consistency. There is a stable and perhaps unidimensional general pattern but much individual variation. This variation may have been due in part to a lack of reliability of some or all of the tests, and it may be seen from the changes between testings and the scoring data discussed test by test in later sections that some tests were more reliable than others. Low Reps. are often taken as indicating that several subscales are present rather than one homogeneous scale; in this case they may be indicative of less operational generalisability than Piaget has supposed.

			TVE												
	50	Tasks achieved	(cumulat	None	Re		М	V	Ħ	24	II		O	Pe, Po	Δ
	rd testing	ution of scores	Fraction	.0167	.0167		.0333	. 0333	. 0250	.0250	.0083	. 1500	.0833	. 2500	.1250
	Thi	Distrib m Scale	Freq.	N	2010		4 4	4	M	71 00	12	<u>ço</u> oc	10	30	100
		Ereq.	Level	16	15		100	14	10	5,00	2	or	4		V ~
	ng	Tasks achieved (cumulative)		None or almost none	Re		A or M		A & M		R	M	Po	Ре	Λ
T TREVETS	cond testi	ution of scores	Fraction	.0417 .0500 .0083	. 0417	6140.	.0083		.0750	. 1333	.0167	.0500	. 1167	.0750	.0750
mmary o	Se	Distrib n Scale	Freq.	m07	5	5		-	90	210		20	14	σц	00
SIS: SU		Freq. Guttma	Level	1001	14	13	247	-	10	200	2	or	14	MO	U 7-
 Scalogram Analy	testing	Tasks achieved (cumulative)		None or almost none	Re		A	24	;	М	M		C	PO CA	A
 Table 6.1.	First	stribution sale scores	Fraction	.0833 .0583 .0250	. 1000	.0167	.0167	. 0667	.0083	.0553	.0417	.0500	7191.	.0083	.0333
		ncy Distr tman Scal	Freq.	9 c~m	2010	5	α	00	- (	20 4	- 50	or	53	5	0 7
		Freque	Level	120	10.	14	57	12	10	5 00	00	or	14	ma	J L

Figure 6.1. Scalogram Analysis: Task order First, second and third testings: 9 items Task 1 2 3 Task Conservation of V -- V Conservation of volume volume perspectives perspectives Co-ordination of Left-right position Po----- Po Left-right position Class inclusion C --------- C Class inclusion - ----Conservation of - W Conservation of W weight weight - R Role Inclusion Multiplication of M. relations (matrix) Role Inclusion R A Conservation of amount M Multiplication of Conservation of A . relations (matrix) amount - Re Reciprocal Reciprocal Re relationships relationships T12  $T_{23} = .98$ T13 = .95 .98

# 6.2. Correlational techniques

The ideas of operations and particularly of structuresd'ensemble imply that scores on tests of Piagetian thought will be positively correlated. Such correlations should be particularly high for tests involving the same or very closely related operations, for example the conservation tests. The hypothesis was put forward that correlations would be higher within tests of the same group of operations (e.g. conservation, classification, relation) than between tests from different groups. It was also believed that there would be correlations between changes in performance over testing.

Because of the complexity of relations possible between nine different tests, each repeated three times, further analysis was undertaken in the hope of revealing the underlying structure of the data.

# 6.2.1. Correlation matrices

Pearson's r, Spearman's ho, Kendall's  $\uparrow$  and  $\phi$  coefficients were calculated and compared. Because of the essentially ordinal nature of the data, non-parametric correlational techniques are to be preferred, and only the Kendall's  $\uparrow$ matrices will be discussed here. The matrices for the other correlation coefficients were, of course, very similar. Correlation matrices were calculated for the sample as a whole and for each of the six age groups. These matrices follow as Tables 6.2.1 a - g. It may be seen from these Table 6.2.1a. Correlation matrix (Kendall's T): the complete sample

 	1	14-1							14 .																									
 12.					1.44		and the second second		-		2.4.		00.1	***25 .	***70.	***2G.	.43***	**55.	.13	**62.	.41***	***0¢.	*** 20 *	.47***	** 75*	. 36***	. 301 + +	.24*	.39***	** 75 .	*:55***	***65*	***05.	**62*
 -11			in the liter			+						. 00.	*44×44	. 42 × * ×	***2G*	***07.	.43***	* 4 12 * * *	***55.	**45.	***/5*		.37 * * *	***40.	. 30**	***65.	· 37 × * ×	***00.	.25**	.42×**	***45	***1G.	*** 45*	.27**
 10		and the second	The second					2011 - 142		1	.00	1 *02.	.27**	.21*	**55.	.23*	.15	.15	76.	. 36***	. 64	.21*	.20*	**62*	.14	.10	.12	.12	**15*	.16	**95.	.22*	.26**	. 11
. 6		and a second second						* * * * *		.00	. 02 1	.23*	.11	.23*	.27**.	.17	.23+	. 52+	.36***	. 42	. 34**	.25**	.21*	.26**	.15	.18*	.21.*	.41×**	. 44	.24 **	.23*	.21*	.15	. 68
8		in the manufacture of the		there is a					. 20	1 ++ 45.	60.	.33**	. 46***	.37***	***65.		*****	.62***	. 3U**	- *25*	* 34 * *	.40***	. 52**	*** 5 4	.36***	***67*	.55***	. 37 * * *	.15	.15***	42***	.40***	***15.	.22*
1								.00	.73*** 1	.29**	.17	.46***	.47***	.47***	* 4 4 * *	***6P.	. 68***		.42***	.24**	.44**	***44.	* 4 F * * *	* 54 * *	.47***	.03***	* 2H * * *	. 34**	.23*	* 4 4 * *	***5c.	*** > 54	***5G.	** 45.
9		•					.00	.18* 1	.13	. 03	92.	.15	.12	. 112	68.	.15	.11	.17	.38	. 42	. 39		. 35	. 07	.12	60.	. 48	61.	.15	. 49	. 01	. 41	. 46	.18
5				10		99	52*** 1		15 1	- 10	52	- 10	- 90	- 80	- 86	. 60	- 20	• 48	. 25		- 50	- +81	14	. 20	- 50	- 60	- 61	15 -	35	28	. 85	- 11	- 27	- *12
4		1			20	19* 1.	24** .	57***	44**	24**	2 *** .	51 * * *	- *** -	46 ***	- ***20	- ***	57 * * *	50×**	54 ×*	52××	52444 .	· ***/9	52*** .	58 * * *	43***	48***	40 ***	32**	3:** .	534** .	· *** 40	54*** .	. ***90	27**
3				00	1 1.	. *** .	83***	. 40	. 22	12 .	13 .	. 10	. 22		. 60	. 10	. 10	. 11	. 40		. 80	. 91	. *	. 60	. 40	. 10	. 10	. 50	27** .	. 01	. 01	. 51	. 60	. 21
N	-		0	N*** 1.	- ***6	. 1	**6	***	18***	• **19	. ** .	2*** .	·· ***8	***6	. ***8	*** /	- ***2	*** /	57 * * * · ·	**8:	3***	**** *	***	. ***	··· ···	. ***5	3***	2*** .	5***	. ***5	4***	7***	. ***9	*5
 		0	1 ××× 1.5	14** .b	B*** .6	1. ***69	··· ***	7*** .	4*** .	4**	*0	J. *** . t	3*** .4	J. *** .U	2*** .5	3*** ·		54** 4	. ***29	**6	3* ***61	2*** .4	19 × × × 91	7*** • C	24** .3	S* ** *C	1. *** d	·· ***	5** •4	4*** .5	6 * * * • 5	5 * * * • 5	S*** 5	2** *5
		1.6	5	···	· .	· 1	d	č	· · 5		1	· •	5.	4.	ę.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· ·	5	E		4.		· · ·	g.	. 4	•	. 5	. ·	2.	÷.	4.		¢.	
			*	ANDARD	RAW	STANDAR	NATE	ZE .	IE .	1E	Ē	ut		UNE	I VE ONE	ONE	10	01	02	101	2		TWO	IVE TWO	1.40	INEE	IREE	1455	IREE	KEE .	E	THREE	IVE THRE	THREE
		NGE	RAVEN RAI	RAVEN ST	CHICHTON CHICHTON	CRICHTON	1.9.ESTI	ANUUNT DI	VEIGHT D	DILUME O	NATRIX 0	L455 J4	SOLE DNE	1:CI1150e	PERSPECT	RELATION	T TRUOPAL T	VEIGHT TH	IDLUME T	IATRIX TA	LASS TH	KULE THO	NCILISO	PERSPECT.	IELATION	ANDUAT TU	EIGHT TI	TULUKE IN	ATRIX TI	LASS THE	THRE THRE	NOILISO	ERSPECT	RELATION
		1 1	2	3	0 4	5	9	7 4	8	1 0	10	11 0	12 8	13 5	14 P	15 8	15 A	17 4	18 4	19	23 0	21 A	22 P	23 1	24 8	23 4	20 4	27 V	24 %	29 0	3.3 R	31 P	32 P	33 R
							+																											

Service Areas

i.e.i.

4.0.4

.

121

~

Table 6.2.1a continued

There wanted

1.30 .51\*\*\* 1.00 .39\*\*\* .52\*\* 13 POSITION ONE 14 PERSPECTIVE ONE 15 RFLATION ONE

11 4													
16	AMOUNT TAU	***10.	. 45***	*** 0.9 ·	1.30								
17	WEIGHT THO	.41 ***	***G5.	.31 **	.53***	1.30							
18	VOLUME TWO	**(35.*	***55.	.24**	. 34 **	*** 44.	1.30						
19	MATRIX THU	.23*	**85.	.30**	***65.	.32**	.13	1.30					
53	CLASS TWO	* 35 * *	***GV.	.56***	***65.	***35.	.36***	**02*	1.00				
21	ROLE THO	.26**	. 5.5 * *	***65.	***50."	. 36***	.2/**	***uç.	.52***	1.00			
22	PUSITION THO	.45***	.46***	***25.	.42***	.42***	.31 **	.28**	*****	***1G.	1.86		
23	PEKSPECTIVE TWO	***60**	.7.0***	.58***	***2G*	*** 27***	**16.	*** 77.	.51 ***	41 * * *	*****	1.60	
24	RELATION 140	.25**	.34**	.52 ***	***96*	***65.	.24**	.27**	.42***	.48***	.20*	.42***	1.00
25	AMOUNT THREE	.39 ***	.41***	***95.	***9R*	* 2 5 * * *	**1.5.	***05*	* 43 * * *	.48***	***17.	.55***	. 54*
24	NEIGHT THREE	***65.	.48***	.41 * * *	. 55 * * *	***65*	.38***	.20**	***66.	.35***	***65.	***67*	.36*1
27	VOLUME THREE	.30**	.35***	.22*	**25.	.45***	***29.	.23*	.40***	.22*	.28**	. 33**	.25*
24	MATRIX THREE	. 33 * *	***/5.	*** 77.	.23*	.14	.19*	.29**	.25**	**55.	.29**		11.
50	CLASS IHREE	.41***	.42***	***65.	*****	.30***		.22*	***2G.	***50.	***25.	***15.	.54*
30	ROLE THRLE	.40+++	.51 * * *	.58***	***95.	.42***	.27**	.29**	***50.	.66***	***60.	***/9.	474
31	POSITION THREE	***95.	***07.	.32**	.53***	****25*	.37 * * *	* 50×*	***65.	***57.	***95.	.564**	. 36 *
3.5	PERSPECTIVE THRE	***65.	***10.	45***	***25.	***64.	.34**	***80.	*42***	.42***	.37***	.64***	30*
33	RELATION THREE	*27**	.31 **	.35***	.4.0.4.4	.34**	.17	.16	.24**	.24**	. 46	.32**	.57 *:
33	HELATION THREE	**/2.	**10.	*** 92.	***0.0 .	**92.	.17	.16	.24**	.24**	. 26	**25.	•
-											-		
										it a men	banner -		
											· · · · Manu	6	

t i i san an ini ini i

\* \*

i.	÷				
i a	tel	1.1			
. 1 1		ł		1 6	1
	÷			2	
		1 1			1 2 2
1	1	11	1		144
1	1.1	1 1	10		1 1 1
	14	1	1		114
	1.4		1.		
			1		100
	1			1	-
	11	1 1			11
- 1	1 :	-	1	1	1.1
3	11		1	1	00
	1 34			1	-
	11				*
N	0.0-}				80
3					
					-
5				00	181
				-	•••
				*	* *
-				**	* *
n				30	51
				* *	*
0			0	* *	* -
N			0.	44	m
			-		
			**	* .	*
58			39.	33	101
				• •	•••
		_	**	* *	* *
27		30	28	33	18
		-	•••	• •	1
		*	* *	* *	* *
6	5	* 8	* *	**	**
N	5		N 4	4	. n.
	-	•			
	***	*	* * *	* * *	***
52	00	23	20	57	55
	-	• •	• •	• •	•••
	1				
	1 1			100	HR.
			u.	SEB	L a
	27	L L	LU LU	THE	TH
	HH	T	TUT	H Z	HZ
		- 11	×	HOI	UC H
	NUC	N.D.	SS	шТ	AT AT
	W W W	101	CL A	10%	E E
				-	
	520	51	53	32	333
					A REAL PROPERTY AND

NI NG NI NG			
M1 Ne         M1 Ne         M2 Ne         M2 Ne         M3 Ne         M3 Ne         M4 Ne			
<ul> <li>I. Z. J. J. Z. J. Z. J. J. J. Z. J. J. J. Z. J. J. J. Z. J. J.</li></ul>			
и ока и	12		
1 2 2 3 4 7 6 1 7 6 7 6 7 6 7 6 7 6 7 6 7 6 7 6 7	=		5.5.
1 2 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	61	4.63 4.63 5.51 5.51 5.52 6.57 6.65 7.6 6.65 7.6 7.6 6.65 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 8.6 7.6 8.6 8.6 8.6 8.6 8.6 8.6 8.6 8.6 8.6 8	6 - 8 7
1 2 3 4 5 4 7 6 7 7 6 7 7 6 7 7 6 7 7 6 7 7 6 7 7 6 7 7 6 7 7 6 7 7 6 7 7 6 7 7 6 7 7 6 7 7 6 7 7 6 7 7 6 7 7 6 7 7 6 7 7 7 6 7 7 7 6 7 7 7 6 7 7 7 6 7 7 7 6 7 7 7 6 7 7 7 6 7 7 7 7 6 7	<b>o</b>		2 N
1 2 3 4 5 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	40 60 M 	1111 1111	28 27
1       2       3       4       5       4       5         AT ONE       1.00       1.00       1.00       1.00       1.00       1.00         AT ONE       1.00       1.00       1.00       1.00       1.00       1.00       1.00         AT ONE       1.00	1		7 G 1 S 1
1       2       3       4       5       4       5       4       5       4       5       4       5       5       4       5       5       4       5       5       4       5       5       4       5       5       4       5       5       4       5       5       4       5       6       5       6       5       6       5       6       6       5       6       6       5       6	• • • •		
1       2       3       4         11       0NE       1.00       1.00         11       0NE       -21       1.00         17       0NE       -21       27         1100       0NE       -22       -21         1100       -23       -23       -22         11100       0HE       -23       -22         11100       0HE       -23       -22         11100       0HE       -23       -23         11100       0HE       -23       -23         1111       -23       -12       -12         1111       -23       -12       -23         1111       -23       -23       -23         1111       -23       -23       -23         1111       -23       -24       -23         1111       -23       -44       -23         1111       -23       -44       -23         1111	1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	11111111111111111111111111111111111111	Ę
1       2       3         1       1       2       3         1       1       1       2       3         1       1       1       2       3         1       1       1       2       3         1       1       1       2       3         1       1       1       2       3         1       1       1       2       3         1       1       2       1       2       3         1       1       1       2       1       2         1       1       1       1       2       1       1       2         1       1       1       1       1       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       2       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       2       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1       1 <td>**************************************</td> <td>* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *</td> <td>22</td>	**************************************	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	22
1       2         1       2         2       2         3       2         3       2         3       2         3       2         3       2         3       2         3       2         3       2         3       2         3       2         3       2         3       2         3       2         3       2         4	M 98499 98495 1111	111 111 111111 1005050000000000000000000	242 • •
AT ONE       1         BHT ONE       1.00         BHT ONE       1.00         BHT ONE       1.00         ST NONE      21         ST NONE      25	S 55515		1 1 1
CUT ONE SHT ONE SHT ONE SHT ONE SHT ONE STANDORE S	4 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	**************************************	
	U.U.		
	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A		

Table 6.2.1b continued

24	228 228 228 228	
23	80105 811016 81101 811 811 811 811 811 811 811 811 8	
22	N N 0 0 0 0	
21	100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100	
20	00 20 00 00 1 4 2 2 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	
61	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
18	4 1 1 1 8 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 8 8 8 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	
17		
10		
15	900400404 10004040404 100040404 100040404 10040404 100404 100404 10040 100000000	27
14		26
13	* * * * * • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	25
	13 MATRIX TWO 14 CLASS TWO 15 CLEST TWO 16 POSITION TWO 17 PERSPECTIVE TWO 18 RELATION TWO 19 AMOUNT THREE 20 VEICHT THREE 21 VOLUME THREE 22 VOLUME THREE 23 CLASS THREE 23 CLASS THREE 24 ROLE THREE 25 POSITION THREE 26 PERSPECTIVE THREE 27 ROLE THREE 28 ROLE THREE 29 ROLE THREE 20 SITION THREE	

1.60

1.00

1.68

POSITION THREE PERSPECTIVE THRE RELATION THREE

25 26 27

124

-

Correlation matrix (Kendall's  $\Upsilon$ ): subgroup 2 (6.0 - 6.11 at first testing) 12 11 01 • 00 S N POSITION THREE PERSPECTIVE THRE RELATION THREE POSITION TWO PERSPECTIVE TWO RELATION TWO RELATION TWO AMOUNT THREE RELGHT THREE VOLUNT THREE NATRIX THREE ROLES THREE CLLASS THREE PERSPECTIVE ONE AMOUNT CNE MEIGHT ONE VOLUME ONE MATRIX CNE CLARSIX CNE ROLE ONE POSITION ONE Table 6.2.1c. AMDUNT TX0 MEIGHT TX0 VOLUNE TX0 MATRIX TX0 CLASS TX0 ROLE TX0 4 0 41 F 51 0 - 53 0 0 4 0 0 F 5 1 0

. 24					
23		1.60	104 104 104 104 104 104 104 104 104 104		
22		1.83			
21			2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 200		
20		1.20	. 72** 29		
19	122	8 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2000 2000 2000 2000		
18		1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	202 202 202 202		
17		1	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		
16	1.20		****		
15	1.00		222 240 240 240	27	1.66
14	1.63	28922444	6 6 6 6 7 7 8 9	26	1.00
13	1.69	8858989 865898 865898 86589 865999 8659 865	50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 5	25	1.200
	MATRIX THO MATRIX THO CLASS TRO KOLE TRO POSITION	PERSPECTIVE SELATION TWO ARCUNT THREE AFIGHT THREE VOLUME THREE MATRIX THREE CLASS THREE	KULE THREE POSITION THREE PEASPECTIVE THRE RELATION THREE		POSITION THREE PERSPECTIVE THRE Relation three
	1111 0 1 1 1	111 00 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	216 216		25.

Table 6.2.1c continued

7       8       7       8       10       11       12         288       1.22       1.22       1.22       1.22       1.22       1.22       1.22         2133       1.22       1.22       1.22       1.22       1.22       1.22       1.22         2134       1.22       1.22       1.22       1.22       1.22       1.22       1.22         2135       1.22       1.23       1.22       1.22       1.22       1.22       1.22         2135       1.22       1.23       1.22       1.24       1.25       1.25       1.25         2135       1.22       1.23       1.26       1.26       1.25       1.25       1.25         2135       1.25       1.26       1.26       1.26       1.26       1.26       1.26         2135       1.26       1.26       1.26       1.26       1.26       1.26       1.26         2135       1.26       1.26       1.26       1.26       1.26       1.26       1.26         2135       1.26       1.26       1.26       1.26       1.26       1.26       1.26         2136       1.26       1.26       1.26       1.26<
5     6     7     8     10     11     12       288     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60       288     1, 60     1, 60       298     1, 60     1
73     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.1     1.2       1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.1     1.2       1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.1     1.00       1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.1       1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.1       1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00
7     8     9     10     11     12       10     11     12     10     11     12       11     12     12     12     11     12       12     12     12     12     12     12       12     12     12     12     12     12       12     12     12     12     12       12     12     12     12     12       12     12     12     12     12       12     12     12     12     12       12     12     12     12     12       12     12     12     12     12       12     12     12     12     12       12     12     12     12     12       12     12     12     12     12       13     12     12     12     12       14     14     16     16     12       12     12     12     12     12       12     12     12     12     12       12     12     12     12     12       12     12     12     12     12       12     12     12     12 </td
5     7     8     9     10     11     12       28     1.00     1.0     1.0     1.1     12       28     1.00     1.0     1.0     1.1     12       28     1.00     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.1       28     1.00     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.1       28     1.00     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.0       28     1.00     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.0       28     1.00     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.0       28     1.00     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.0       28     1.00     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.0       28     1.00     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.0       28     1.00     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.0       29     1.00     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.0       100     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.0       110     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.0       111     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.0       112     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.0     1.0       113     1.0     1.0     1.
5     7     8     9     10     11       228     1.22     1.22     1.22     1.23     1.24       228     1.26     1.26     1.26     1.26     1.26       228     1.26     1.26     1.26     1.26       228     1.26     1.26     1.26     1.26       228     1.26     1.26     1.26     1.26       228     1.26     1.26     1.26     1.26       238     1.26     1.26     1.26     1.26       238     1.28     1.26     1.26     1.26       238     1.28     1.26     1.26     1.26       238     1.28     1.26     1.26     1.26       238     1.28     1.26     1.26     1.26       238     1.28     1.26     1.26     1.26       238     1.28     1.26     1.26     1.47       238     1.28     1.26     1.26     1.47       238     1.28     1.26     1.26     1.26       238     1.28     1.26     1.26     1.47       238     1.28     1.26     1.47     1.47       244     1.26     1.26     1.26       244     1.26     <
5     6     7     8     9     10       228     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       228     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       228     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       233     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       233     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       235     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       235     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       235     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       235     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       235     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       235     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       235     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       235     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       235     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       235     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       235     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       235     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       235     1.00     1.00     1.00     1.00       244     1.00     1.00 <t< td=""></t<>
5       5       7       8       9         233       1.40       1.60       1.40       9       9         233       1.22       1.60       1.60       1.60       1.60       1.60         233       1.35       1.22       1.60       1.60       9       9       9       9         233       1.10       1.55       1.60       1.60       1.60       9
5     6     7     8     9     10       228     1.20     1.20     1.20     1.20     1.20       228     1.20     1.20     1.20     1.20     1.20       238     1.20     1.20     1.20     1.20       255     1.22     1.20     1.20     1.20       255     1.22     1.20     1.20     1.20       255     1.22     1.20     1.20     1.20       255     1.22     1.20     1.20     1.20       255     1.22     1.20     1.20     1.20       255     1.22     1.20     1.20       255     1.23     1.23     1.26       255     1.23     1.26     1.26       255     1.24     1.26     1.26       255     1.28     1.26     1.26       255     1.28     1.26     1.26       255     1.28     1.26     1.26       255     1.28     1.26     1.26       255     1.28     1.26     1.26       255     1.24     1.26     1.26       255     1.28     1.26     1.26       255     1.24     1.26       255     1.24     1.26 </td
5       5       7       8       7       8         23       136       136       136       136       140         110       136       136       136       140       140         110       136       136       136       140       140         110       136       136       136       140       166       166         110       136       136       136       140       166       166       166         110       128       128       128       128       126       146       166         128       128       128       128       126       126       126       126         128       128       128       128       126       126       126       126         128       128       128       126       126       126       126       126         128       128       128       126       126       126       126       126         128       128       126       126       126       126       126       126       126         128       128       128       126       126       126       126
28     1.00     1.00     1.00       23     1.00     1.00     1.00       23     1.00     1.00     1.00       23     1.00     1.00     1.00       23     1.00     1.00     1.00       23     1.00     1.00     1.00       23     1.00     1.00     1.00       23     1.00     1.00     1.00       23     1.00     1.00     1.00       23     1.00     1.00     1.00       23     1.00     1.00     1.00       23     1.00     1.00     1.00       23     1.00     1.00     1.00       23     1.00     1.00     1.00       23     1.00     1.00     1.00       23     1.00     1.00     1.00       25     1.00     1.00     1.00       25     1.00     1.00     1.00       25     1.00     1.00     1.00       25     1.00     1.00     1.00       25     1.00     1.00     1.00       25     1.00     1.00     1.00       25     1.00     1.00     1.00       25     1.00     1.00     1.00 <t< td=""></t<>
28     1.00     1.00     1.00       23     1.00     1.00     1.00       23     1.22     1.00     1.00       23     1.22     1.00     1.00       23     1.22     1.00     1.00       23     1.22     1.00     1.00       23     1.22     1.00     1.00       23     1.22     1.00     1.00       23     1.23     1.00     1.00       23     1.23     1.00     1.00       23     1.23     1.00     1.00       23     1.23     1.00     1.00       23     1.23     1.00     1.00       23     1.23     1.00     1.00       23     1.23     1.00     1.00       23     1.23     1.00     1.00       24     1.10     1.10     1.10       25     1.10     1.10     1.10       25     1.10     1.10     1.10       25     1.10     1.10     1.10       25     1.10     1.10     1.10       25     1.10     1.10     1.10       25     1.10     1.10     1.10       25     1.10     1.10     1.20 <t< td=""></t<>
5     6     7     8       23     100     100     100     100       23     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100     100       100     100     100     100 </td
28     1.48     1.48     28       23     1.48     1.48     1.88       23     222     1.88     1.88       23     222     1.88     1.88       23     222     1.88     1.88       23     222     1.88     1.88       23     222     1.83     1.88       23     222     1.83     1.88       23     222     1.83     1.88       23     23     24     28       23     23     24     28       23     23     24     28       23     23     24       23     24     28       23     25     28       23     24     28       24     25     28       25     28     24       25     28     24       25     28     24       25     28     28       25     28     28       25     28     28       26     25     28       27     28     28       28     28     28       29     29     28       29     29     28       29     25 </td
5     6     7     8       23     23     1.00     1.00       23     23     1.00     1.00       23     23     53     1.00       23     23     53     1.00       23     23     53     1.00       23     23     53     1.00       23     23     53     1.00       23     23     53     1.00       23     23     53     1.00       23     23     53     1.00       23     23     53     1.00       24     23     53     1.00       25     23     53     1.00       25     23     53     1.00       25     24     53     53       25     24     53     54       25     24     53     54       25     24     55     54       25     25     55     55       26     27     55     56       26     26     55     56       26     27     55     56       26     27     56     56       27     27     57       26     56     56
5 28 5 28 5 53 5 54 5 55 5 55 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
5 6 7 7 5 6 7 7 5 6 7 7 5 7 6 7 7 5 7 7 7 7 5 7 7
5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
80-FF6000-F00000000000000000000000000000
00-FFUUUUU-FUUUUU-FUUU00000000000000000
4 8000000000000000000000000000000000000
M 000000000000000000000000000000000000
: . : .
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
ZZZZW H TATTER H ODOCZWZLZLE H SOZEZEZE H H Z ODOCZWZLZLE H SOZEZEZE H H Z H Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z Z
4 N M 3 N 9 F 80 5 4 N M 3 N 6 F 8 0 5 5 4 N M 3 N 9 F

127

-

Table 6.2.1d continued

24 1.00 .46*	69.69
* 300-33 M N 0-1/30 -	10 13 9
N 89.014 89.014 94.0140000000000000000000000000000000000	8
12 919910 919910 919910	
2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	60.9
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	000
1 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	83.8
14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 14 1	0.03
16 1458 1458 1458 1458 1458 1458 1458 1458	0.4.0
4 4 4 4 4 9 4 9 4 9 4 9 4 9 4 9 4 9 4 9	03.0
44 555 555 555 555 555 555 555 555 555	0.90
	0.00
ATRIX TWO OLSTWO DUELTON TWO DUELTON TWO DUELTON TWO DUELTION TWO ELATION TWO MOUNT THREE FLATENT THREE DUENT THREE DUENT THREE DASS THREE DASS THREE DUENT THREE	LATION THREE
EDECCA A S > EDEC	ц ш ж

POSITION THREE 1.00 PERSPECTIVE THRE 1.08 RELATION THREE 0.00 0.00

27 055

27

26

25



Table 6.2.1e continued

24												1.60	60.	.25	• 62*		
23											1.60	. 28	.43	**19.	•19		
22										1.03	**:9.	39	.29	.13	• . 69		
21									1.00	06	.28	. 83	.36	.29	.14		
20								1.00	0.40	. 53	**12.	82	* * * *	* 977 *	.33		
. 19							1.69	**00*	.26	.36	.36		. 43	.32	• 25*		
18						20.1	.28	.21	.25	16	. 67 .		.20	.13	**79.		
17					1.00	.08	03	.28	02	.62**	.40	* * 22*	.32	.37	02		
16				1.00 -	.38	11	.11.	.12	60.	.43	.34	29	**:09"	.35	25		
15			1.00	.73**	*67.	.22	.13	. 03	. 24	.22	.15		*¢7**	• 36	21		
14		1.20	*24.	.39	.51*	.28	.29	.31	.23	*55*	.72**	*25*	.48*	.56**	.16		
13	1.66	13.	.37	.34	**09*	•. 23	07	.16	.25	.32	.17		.32	.37	14		
	MATPLY TWO	CLASS TWO	ROLE TWO	POSITION TWO	PERSPECTIVE THO	HELATION TAO	AMOUNT THREE	WEIGHT THPEE	VOLUME THREE	MATRIX THREE	CLASS THREE	ROLE THREE	FOSITION THREE	PERSPECTIVE THRE	RELATION THREE		
	13	14	15	16	17	10	19	23	21	22	23	24	25	23	r.		

POSITION THREE	1.00	1.80	
RELATION THREE	61	.07	1.96

Correlation matrix (Kendall's T): subgroup 5 (9.0 - 9.11 at first testing) Table 6.2.1f.

12

10

0

0

N

CLASS THREE FOLE THREE FOSTTION THREE PEASPECTIVE THRE RELATION THREE HOLE ONE POSITION ONE POSITION ONE PERSPECTIVE ONE PERSPECTIVE ONE AMOUNT THO AMOUNT THO VOLUTE THO VOLUTE THO CLASS THO FOLE THO POSITION TRO PERSPECTIVE TWO NELATION TWO A TONTE THREE VOLUEE TRAEE VOLUEE TRAEE NATRIX THREE ANGUNT 048 WEIGHT 948 VOLUME 048 NATRIX 048 0483 048 HAND AND HO BHON THOMAN A

Table 6.2.1f continued

t	5.00.0 5.00.0 5.00.0	THATTANE
	÷;	
3	8550NH 8550NH 1 I	
22	5 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
13	1 8 8 7 7 7 8 8 7 7 8 8 7 7 8 8 7 8 8 7 8 8 7 8 8 7 8 8 7 8 8 7 8 8 7 8	
e,	4.00 4.00 5.07 5.17 4.15 6.19 6	
	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	
01	1.60 8.63 777 1.67 1.67 .19 .24 .24 .24 .12 .12	CHARMEN THE
11		
10	1 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
61		27 1.60
14	4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	26 1.03 15
51	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	25 1.25 .75***
	MATRIX TWO CLASS TWO ROLE T.O POSSITION TWO PERSPECTIVE TWO WELRITION TWO WELRITION TWO WELRITION THORE WATNIX THORE WATNIX THORE POLE THREE FOLE THREE FOLE THREE FOLE THREE FOLE THREE FOLE THREE FOLE THREE	POSITION THREE PERSPECTIVE THRE RELATION THREE
	N= N = N = S = S = S = S = S = S = S = S	2465

Correlation matrix (Kendall's T): subgroup 6 (10.0-10.10 at first testing) 12 11 10 0 Contraction 
 C 2 --FEASPECTIVE TWO RELATION TWO ANOURT THREE VALUME THREE CLASS ONE ROLE ONE PCSITION ONE PERSPECTIVE ONE RELATION ONE POSITION THREE PERSPECTIVE THRE RELATION THREE Table 6.2.1g. 440UNT 740 8215HT 740 8215HT 740 9012HE 740 912HE 740 8015 740 8015 740 AFOUNT ONE KEIGHT ONE VOLUME ONE MATRIX ONE CLASS DHE THREE ROLE 

Table 6.2.1g continued

24													1.03	.17	.14	8.28	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		1821.2
23												1.00	.14	. 48	.06	0.00			
22											1.00	11	10	.21	* 46*	6.00			
21										1.09	.26	.35	11.	.16	•13	0.40			
50									0.23	0.20	69.9	0.00	60.0	02.6	0.00	0.00			
19								0.00	02.0	0.00	· 53. 9	0.63	0.00	00.6	00.00	97.90			
18							0.00	0.03	0.00	60.3	0.02	0.03	0.03	09.00	00.00	0.00			
11						1.00	0.03	0.03	0.00	.32	.19	.15	•00•	50. 1	.15	0.63			
16	•				1.00	.23	0.00	0.0.0	03.6	27.	.32	00.	.28	.76***	.14	0.00			
15				1.69	.29	+0°.	0.00	0.00	0.00	.18	.24	.30	**10.	.23	.30	0.00			
14			1.90	.32	.35	. 25	60.03	00.3	0.00	• 39	19	**19.	.51.	.28	.10	0.03			
13		1.09	6.0.	.14.	.20	. 33	N0.0	0.00	00.0	.18	.28	.20	17	. 36	63.	90.0			
		13 MATRIX TWO	14 CLASS TWD	15 RCLE TWO	16 POSITION THO	17 PEUSPECTIVE TWO	18 RELATION THO	19 AMCUUIT THREE	24 WEIGHT THREE	21 VOLUME THREE	22 MATRIX THREE	23 CI.455 THREE	24 ROLE THREE	25 POSITION THREE	26 PERSPECTIVE THRE	27 RELATION THREE		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

20

5

Nord The s

·法了到194

0.00 1.00 1.05 POSITION THREE PERSPECTIVE THRE RELATION THREE 202

14 1 14 I

27

26

25

matrices that the correlations between Piagetian tests are indeed high, particularly and for obvious reasons if a large age range is used.

6.2.1.a. The complete sample

Correlations of Piagetian tests with chronological age are all positive, and with the exception of Matrix One significant at at least the .01 level. Correlations with the unstandardised Raven and Crichton scores, which reflect Mental Age, are similarly high and positive; correlations with the standardised Raven and Crichton scores and with the IQ test are very low, and tend to be negative. The Intelligence test scores are all positively correlated.

Almost all the correlations between Piagetian tests were significant at or beyond the .01 level. The exceptions were those tests with the most idiosyncratic distributions of scores, Volume One with its high proportion of total failures, Relation Three with its high proportion of total successes, and the Matrix tests, especially Matrix One. Intragroup correlations, with the possible exception of the Conservation group, were not markedly larger than correlations between groups. The largest correlations were those between the Amount and the Weight tests.

d'une an bit de la violate ant anges thinks prat, the

6.2.1.b Correlation matrices for separate age groups

136

As was to be expected with small and relatively homogeneous subsamples, all correlations were much reduced. Correlations with chronological age tended to be small and negative; correlations with intelligence test scores were larger and positive. Correlations among the Piagetian tests were mostly positive, but rarely significant. Intragroup correlations, with the possible exception of the Conservation group, were not markedly higher than those between groups. Apart from the correlations between the Amount and Weight tests, which were among the very largest for each age group (except the oldest), there was no consistent pattern of significant correlations between the different matrices. The matrix for the oldest group differs from the others in that there was no variance in performance on seven tests which were universally passed.

#### 6.2.2. Factor analyses

Factor analyses were carried out on the data in order to elucidate the underlying structure of the correlation matrices. Factor analysis is not in this case an ideal technique because it demands linear relations between the variables submitted to it, and the non-normality of the distribution of scores on certain of the tests used in this study is such as to violate this assumption to some degree. Such flaws in the data are not unique to this study, however, and failing a multivariate structural analysis which could cope with non parametric data factor analysis was the best available method. It can only be taken as indicating the probable relations between data.

Because of these difficulties, several different factor analysis programs were used on each of several different groups of variables and the results were compared so that the stability of the emergent factor might be estimated. The programs used were the BMDX 72 Factor Analysis, the S.P.S.S. subprogram FACTOR, and the Bedford College P.S.P. "Friendly Factor Analysis" program. Similar patterns were obtained for each program and each group of variables. The tables of factor loadings etc which follow as representative of the general results are taken from a "Friendly Factor Analysis" run.

For each analysis run the largest factor was one on which chronological age, mental age and all the Piagetian tests loaded positively. This accounted for about a third of the variance. The standardised intelligence tests and the IQ estimate fell onto another factor with predominantly low negative loadings by the Piagetian tests. The remaining major factors were less clear, and less stable from one analysis to another. There was some indication, particularly in the analyses done by the BMDX 72 method, that the conservation tests, the tests involving "spatial" abilities (M, C, Po, Pe) and the remaining Piagetian tests loaded on different factors; but it was by no means an unambiguous division, all the Piagetian tests tending to load on more than one factor. The suggested division of tests, though
not consonant with Piaget's postulated groups which it had been supposed would show up in factor loadings, might be related to the sorts of factors in intelligence found by British psychologists (g, v, s etc.) and to the division of tests found in a multivariate analysis by Versey (1974). Factor Analysis: Oblique Pattern Matrix and Oblique Structure Matrix Table 6.2.2c.

ų	n	14	50.	21.	- 17				.10	13	05	.36	05	25	.12	.20	v8	37	05	.63.	.32	23	·.55	23		90	c2.	62.	60.	.00	21	13	48	10.	.17	
	•	. 35	. 39	11.					•.34	25	• 04	.13	. 39	45	.10	.15	16	53	23	. 43		37	1		04	. 40	40	82	. 33	.13	37	27	24	25	36	
-	•	.51	.54	.10	191		10		24.	.23	16.	.41	.42	• 64	.41	• 26	.71	.53	.27	. 38	.40	. 45		67.		10.			60.	.51	.42	.78	.38	.54	.45	
•		.7.3	62.	11.	1.7				11.	00.	. 39	• 52	• 54	80.	60.	. 57	. 53	.75	.72	£4.	. 38	19.	10.			20.		10.	20.	.37	. 54	. 67	.70	. 56	.33	
-	•	.23	.21	. 55	01.					-13		C	0	.10			60	29	23		10	11.		62.	21				.13	.14	.17	16	10.	13	44	
FACTORS		AGE	SAVEN ZAN	REVEN STANDARD	CRICHTON KAN	CACHAR STATIS	T T ESTIMATE					STATE OFF	CLASS JTE			AND ANTITATIONE	SELATION ONE	011117225	AELGHT TAU											TALKIX THREE	CLASS INKEE	ROLE THREE	POSITION THREE	PERSPECTIVE THRE	RELATION THREE	
		1	2	•								10	1		2:		1		11			200	10	22	1	35	340		12		53	33	31	32	33	
		~-	• 12			-	10	2	0	2	2	3	n	8	2	n	1	3	4	0	5	2	2	2	P	5	0		12	¢.	2	00				
'n			•				a.		0	a	9.			N.		·	a		3.							•	•	•	•		-	•		•		
4		78.	20.		×0.		47	25	19	· 05	9:2.	. 37	60.	. 24	.36	.1.	-,43	19	12.	11	31	.1.1	.11	35	37	47	20	40	. 05	22	22	22	38	35		
n		.34			•••	32	35	60.	16.	10	. 38	.23	.43	.24	.43	15.	.14	42	37	. 32	.25	.32	.24	.43	.22	.19	. 37		. 45	.22	. 44	.15	.34	. 25		
v		.38		10.	. 34	00	·3	, 53	.54	.48	38	.37	12.	. 37	÷5.	. 33	. 42	c9.	. 52	40.	.32	60.	٠34	15.	.12	.35	P.C.*	. 51	04	.32	11.	49	. 32	. 32		
-		64			35	.43	1,06	02	44	16.	CN.	14	27	60.	50.	14	.19	42	50.	. 44	13	16	- 015	. 38	80.	.28	.24	\$0.	¢1.	PU -	.12	80	.10	12		
****																																				
FACTORS		465	24/EV 144	STANDARD	CTICHTON MAN	CALCATON STANDAR	I.S. LSTI "ATE	AFOUNT ONE	*E13-T 04E	VO SAF DVE	MATALX DNE	471 557 1-	SDIF DVF	PUSTION OVE	PEASUFULIVE DNE	211 211 311 OVF	THE THE	OF LTTO		ULT XIXIX	CI 155 TAU	SOLE TAU	ONT VEITISCE	PEASPECTIVE TWO	RELATION TAO	ANDULT THREE	AELGHT THREE	3-2+1 3. NOLV	MATRIX THREE	1 2 2 2 HHYFF	11711	ALL TUDE	STORESTIVE TADE			

THE DALIDUE STRUCTURE MATRIX DESCRIBES THE COMPOSITION OF THE FACTORS IN TERMS OF THE TESTS.

THE DALIDUE PATTERN MATRIX DESCRIBES THE COMPOSITION OF THE TESTS IN TERMS UF THE FACTORS.

'n		13	. 32	11.											21.		6	05	. 24	10.	.23	55	23	.16	14	. 23	60.	.14	. 35	22	15	48	90.	.15	(	
*		.86	.87	67.	4.5						c		P				53	- 23	. 82	.12	04	24	.11	05	40	-,55		. 82	8	•• 65	26	04		.44		
n		.45	44.	.11	0.0									60.			- 35.	.1.	12.	.41	.38	.47		15.	. 39	·	.23	. 62	· 52	• 34	1.6.	.29	.48	.39		
8		69.	.68	111.								.10	cc	15.		11	14.	.72	. 62	.22	64.	.39	.53	.50	. 32	£4.	. 65	10.	61.	14.	.41	. 64	£6.	.18		
1		. 52	.33	26.	04 -	24						10.	61		20.			15	32	33	10.	.11	.15	32	.13	35	27	47	.19	.11	. 38	68.	30	.19		
FACT																																				
IES F	•																																			
I I VANA		.86	.8.	. 89	17.		. H 7										54.	. 62	.39	.24	.45	.74	48.	99.	84.		19.	. 39	35	. 44	·0.	14.	. 5.2	.40		
COM				VDARD	N PM	GACU-AT 2	ATF ATF	1						11.5	AF DNC	Dive of		0	0	0			1 MO	VE THO	0~1				SEE			THREE	VE THRE	THREE		
TEST		3	VEN RAW	VEN STA	ICHTON	TCH1 IN	FSTIM	THE THEFT	THOMA THOMA		ATETA DI				11-305-3	1113N	1 1200h	EIGHT THU	JLUNE TH	ATHIX THIA	LASS TAU	0"E 140	VC11150	E-SPECTI	NCITALS	11 11.PI 1	FIGHT TH	ULUME TH	HI XIALE	LASS THR	JUE THRE	ACITISS	EHSPECT !	ELATION		
		46	Y A	22	C	2 L		1 -		2 3			1 3	r n	0	0	-1	5	>	5	C	r	0	а.	$\mathbf{r}$	1	<	>	5	0	x	α.	n	a:		

Table 6.2.2b. Factor Analysis: Varimax Factor Matrix

Table 6.2.2a. Factor Analysis: Principal Axis Factor Loadings (Unrotated)

**.**0

		.03 85.	P2 61-		.1	.1.3 .21	.16 .19	c1 1 1 c		 		.3369	el 16.	. 11 25	.32	. 46 39	.31 .13	.1813	.18 .33		.25 .17	-11 17	.8711	.15 .34	.31 .42	.22 .17	.3711	.2515	.0303	.25 .14	.16 36	. 22 26	.18 .27		.22 1.13	.77 53.23
	. 40	. 59.	- :12 -			. 85	12	- 15	46	 	32	- 10	e	- 44.	- 90	08	17		- 23.	. 69.	- 13 -	.22	. 64 -	- 12 -	· · · ·	27	36	. 25 -	.15	- 11.	. 13	. 69.	23		2.76 1.	46, 87 49,
Q1.		16.	55.		· · · 3	14	11.	- 55		 P.C	Þ¢.	.63	64.	1/.	. 63	.79	.73	.48	.44	.07	.58	69.	11.	75.	.75	69.	.48	.42	.63	.73	.68	.73	.43		12,45	37.72
																																				Ance
																																				7
246		STAUDARD	IJ' RAN	C. C	HAUT AIG TU	STINATE	T DRE	T CNE	+ DYE	 A U.15	345	0.1E	310 NCI	ECTIVE ONE	310 401	T THU	T TAO	E 140	x TAD	L 40	T +0	1 JV Tro	ECTIVE TAO	DAT VCI	I THREE	T 1-17EE	E THREE	X THREE	THREE	THREE	IDW THREE	ECTIVE THRE	ION LARGE		ACCOUNTED FOR	VE PERCENTAGE VAN

.86 

55.79

CUMULATIVE

#### 6.3. Discontinuities in developmental trends

The notions of equilibration, of structures-d'ensemble and of stages lead to an expectation that there will be unevennesses in the rate of development. Functioning will continue at a low cognitive level until the increased demands of the environment or changes in the organism itself make that level manifestly inadequate. A new strategy for coping with the problem is evolved, and this in turn is used until further development makes it too inadequate. Piaget's conception of operations as logical rather than probabilistic structures implies that the transition between stages and substages is short relative to the period of use of the structure-d'ensemble of each stage. One would expect therefore in the development of Piagetian concepts a step wise curve rather than a gradual linear improvement. The developmental curves for each test were examined for such trends. The postulation of a steplike curve gives rise also to predictions about the patterns of change to be expected between testings. These were also tested.

Besides discontinuities in growth rate on the development of the individual Piagetian operations, the structured'ensemble model suggests that there will be systematic changes in the relationships between its constituent operations. Notably, following Flavell and Wohlwill (1969), there will be changes in intertask correlations and variance, and the developmental curve for total scores should be an

exaggerated version of the individual ones, since their shapes should be coincident and cumulative. Similarly there should be systematic changes with age in the frequency of each level of responding, changes which again will be more or less discrete or continuous. The data obtained in this study were examined for the trends predicted by the various developmental models.

6.3.1. Changes in correlations and variances with age

Difficulties arise in the comparison of correlation matrices obtained from the scores of different groups of subjects because of the non-independence of correlation coefficients. There is no satisfactory statistical technique for such a comparison.

The stage model suggests that correlations should be low for lack of variance during the plateaux of development and higher during growth spurts as change occurs; no clear general tendency for this to happen is revealed in the matrices, and comparisons between single correlation coefficients are of doubtful value and again not amenable to statistical testing. It may only be said that so far as correlations are concerned the picture is not so clear as the simple stage model would suggest.

a for part pear too that, the storpes of the Sevelope over

The variance of test scores both for tests and for individuals should also rise and fall in the course of development. In order to test this prediction the variances of the tests and the individual's variance between tests for the different age groups were used as scores in separate analyses of variance. In each case there was a significant difference between the groups (for the test scores F = 5.6,  $v_1 = 5$ ,  $v_2 = 156$ , p < .001, and for the individual's variances F = 2.5,  $v_1 = 5$ ,  $v_2 = 114$ p < .05) but for both a trend analysis revealed that the prevailing trend was quadratic (F = 11.3, p < .001 and F = 10.7, p < .01 respectively). The variance of the tests was fairly stable from 5 to 9 and fell dramatically at 10 when several of the tests reached their ceiling, and that of individuals rose to a peak at 8 and then declined. Both curves show no sign of an intermediate plateau in development like Piaget's Stages. Nor is there good evidence for structures-d'ensemble.

### 6.3.2. Trend analyses of the developmental curves

Graphs were drawn of mean scores against age. In certain cases these appeared to show a marked non-linearity, which might have been interpreted as indicative of the sort of steplike development which a stage theory implies. Analysis of variance trend tests were carried out on the data for each test so that the shapes of the developmental functions might be elucidated. In view of the non-normality of the data, and the very restricted range of possible scores, the parametric analysis of variance can be used only with the greatest caution. The conservative significance level of .01 was therefore adopted, and results unconfirmed by other analyses were treated with suspicion.

Graphs of the mean scores against age appear as figures 6.3.2.1 - 7. The full summary tables of the analyses of variance are given as Appendix 2. A summary of this follows as table 6.3.2.1. It may be seen that linearity of trends is the rule rather than the exception, and this picture is repeated in the graphs of means. A stepwise developmental curve would produce a significant linear trend and significant higher order trends; none of the tests reveal such a pattern, and what had appeared in the graphs of means to be significant plateaus (e.g. Amount first test, Class Inclusion first test) must be seen as due to random group characteristics. More specifically, a steplike developmental curve would give rise to significant linear x quadratic and quadratic x linear components of the interaction between Age and Testing occasion; none such were found. The tests which showed a significant interaction between Age and Testing occasion did so because of ceiling effects (Amount, Relations) or floor effects and non-normality of data (Volume).

Age		6	7	8	9	10	11
Testing A	123	0.7 0.85 0.9	1.1 1.9 2.35	1.95 2.45 2.45	2.15 2.25 2.55	2.15 2.95 3.0	3.0 3.0 3.0
W	123	0.4 0.6 1.05	0.7 1.1 1.5	1.1 1.4 1.8	1.45 1.75 1.9	1.85 2.4 2.65	2.6 2.7 3.0
V	123	0.1 0.05 0.1	0.1 0.25 0.45	0.55 0.4 0.35	0.15 0.9 0.65	0.6 1.05 1.15	0.7 0.9 1.3

### Table 6.4B. Mean scores by age and testing: conservation tests

Figure 6.4B. Mean scores by age and testing: 6.3.2.1 conservation tests



		clas	ss incl	usion to	est		
Age		6	7	8	9	10	11
Testing	1	1.05	1.5	1.65	1.65	2.0	2.45
C	2	1.35	1.85	2.35	2.4	2.25	2.6
L. La Con	3	2.0	2.25	2.65	2.5	2.8	2.8

Table 6.5.2B. Mean scores by age and testing:

Figure 6.5.2B. Mean scores by age and testing: 6.3.2.3 class inclusion test



Age	0	6	7	8	9	10	11
Testing	1	1.8	2.0	1.75	2.15	2.0	2.4
M	2	1.95	2.5	2.2	2.55	2.55	2.75
3	3	2.5	2.55	2.75	2.75	2.95	2.9

Table 6.5.1B. Mean scores by age and testing: matrix test

Figure 6.5.1B. Mean scores by age and testing: 6.3.2.2 matrix test



Table	6.5.3B.	Mean	scores	by	age and	testin	g:
		role	inclus	ion	test		
Age	198	6	7 8	3	9	10	11

0			'	0	-	10		
Testing	1	1.0	1.7	2.3	2.4	2.35	2.7	1
R	2	1.2	1.55	2.4	2.0	2.25	2.6	
	3	1.45	1.75	2.85	2.5	2.6	2.85	

Figure 6.5.3B. Mean scores by age and testing: 6.3.2.4 role inclusion test



148

Table 6.6.1B. Mean scores by age and testing: position test

		T						
Age		6	7	8	9	10	11	
Testing	1	0.95	1.3	1.65	1.9	1.9	2.15	
Po	2	1.3	1.6	2.05	2.2	2.3	2.25	
	3	1.5	1.85	2.25	2.25	2.6	2.6	

Figure 6.6.1B. Mean scores by age and testing: position test



Table 6.6.3B. Mean scores by age and testing: reciprocal relations test

Age		6	7	8	9	10	11	
Testing	1	1.45	2.4	2.85	2.65	2.7	3.0	
Re	2	2.05	2.5	2.95	2.75	2.8	3.0	
	3	2.55	2.8	3.0	2.9	3.0	3.0	

Figure 6.6.3B. Mean scores by age and testing: 6.3.2.7 reciprocal relations test



		ber.	Speccrv	CD 0CD0			
Age		6	7	8	9	10	11
Testing	1	0.35	1.3	1.55	1.6	1.85	1.95
Ре	2	0.5	1.4	1.65	1.95	2.15	2.4
1	3	1.1	1.9	2.1	2.25	2.55	2.8

Table 6.6.2B. Mean scores by age and testing: perspectives test

Figure 6.6.2B. Mean scores by age and testing: 6.3.2.6 perspectives test



Table 6.3.2.1. Summary of trends in developmental curves

Test	Significant trends
Amount conservation	Age (.001); linear trend within Age (.001) quadratic trend within Age (.05) Testing (.001); linear trend within Testing (.001) Age x Testing (.025); linear x cubic trend (.001)
Weight conservation	Age (.001); linear trend within Age (.01) Testing (.001); linear trend within Testing (.001)
Volume conservation	Age (.025); linear trend within Age (.001) Testing (.001); linear trend within Testing (.001) quadratic trend within Testing (.01) Age x Testing (.001); linear x linear trend (.001) linear x quartic trend (.001) quadratic x quadratic trend (.001) quadratic x cubic (.01) quadratic x quintic (.001)
Multiplicative classification	Age (.025); linear trend within Age (.001) Testing (.001); linear trend within Testing (.001)
Class inclusion	Age (.001); linear trend within Age (.001) Testing (.001); linear trend within Testing (.001) Age x Testing (.025); linear x linear trend (.025) quadratic x quadratic trend (.05)
Role inclusion	Age (.001); linear trend within Age (.001) quadratic trend within Age (.025) Testing (.01); linear trend within Age (.025) quadratic trend within Age (.025)
Left-right position	Age (.001); linear trend within Age (.001) Testing (.001); linear trend within Testing (.001)
Co-ordination of perspectives	Age (.001); linear trend within Age (.001) quadratic trend within Age (.025) Testing (.001); linear trend within Testing (.001)

Age (.001); linear trend within Age (.001) quadratic trend within Age (.001) cubic trend within Age (.01) Testing (.001); linear trend within Testing (.001) Age x Testing (.001); linear x linear trend (.001) linear x quadratic trend (.01)

Reciprocity of Relations The evidence of the graphs and of the trend tests points towards a gradual improvement on each test rather than an abrupt transition between discrete stable levels of response. In case this smoothness of development was due to the use of chronological rather than mental age as the independent variable, the data were reanalysed with groups divided by their raw score on the Raven's Matrices test, and IQ was partialled out in an analysis of covariance; neither of these manipulations made any difference to the results.

This analysis may be summarised by saying that the picture obtained of the development of performance on each test is one of gradual transition from complete failure to complete success on each test, with no particular age-related discontinuities of strategy or growth rate and with a great deal of inter-individual variation.

### 6.3.3. Analysis of variance of change profiles

The postulation of a steplike age related developmental function leads to the prediction of a pattern of change scores. Individuals tested first in a stable and then in transitional period will show a positively accelerated curve (e.g. 001) while individuals tested first in a growth period and then in a more stable one will show the reverse, negatively accelerated pattern (e.g. 122). To produce a steplike developmental function individuals of the same change profile must be clustered together; conversely if the developmental function is of a stepwise sort and age related individuals of the same age should tend to have the same change profile. Using this rationale, the change profiles of the subjects were calculated and submitted to an analysis of variance. For eight of the nine tests, there were no significant differences between the age groups, and a One-sample Runs test indicated that the sequence of positively and negatively accelerated patterns was random. The exception to this was Weight Conservation, where the analysis of variance showed a just significant difference between groups (F = 3.19, youngest groups (up to 8) were almost all positive, while those in the older groups were almost all negative; the main component was a non-significant linear trend. The test was completely failed by the youngest children and completely passed by the oldest; there was no evidence of stages in development beyond these two periods and a transitional phase perhaps three years long. It cannot be said, therefore, that the postulated pattern was found.

Live range about of risk/Apale to the rest of the to the book up the range about of risk/Apale to the rest of the book up this of verify the bringer up to the bail ( weight in this invertee) and stongfor to the bail of the book up the s

## 6.4. Conservation tasks

These three tasks assessed the child's grasp of the invariance of amount weight and volume of a ball of plasticine which they saw rolled out into a "sausage". In each case the child was reinforced for an initial judgment of equality, and was then asked first to predict and then to judge the quantitative results of the transformation, and last to justify his answer. One point was given for each part of the test successfully answered. In each case, the commonest order of difficulty was Prediction (easiest), Judgment, Confirmation (hardest). One child produced a different pattern of responses on the Amount test, four on the Weight, nine on the Volume.

The overwhelming majority of children's responses to the conservation of amount and weight tests were clear, unambiguous and easily scored. The children were neither precipitate nor hesitant in answering; the majority (70%) of conservers justified their answer with positive or negative identity arguments ("It's the same plasticine, you just rolled it"), while non-conservers referred to perceptual features ("There's more because it's longer"). Responses to the conservation of volume test were less satisfactory; many children appeared to regard "takes up the same amount of room/space" as referring to the area of table covered by the sausage and the ball (which is not invariant) and attempts to draw their attention to three dimensional space were generally unsuccessful. This difficulty confirms Lovell and Ogilvie's doubts (Lovell & Ogilvie 1961) about the assessment of volume concepts by the use of a single test.

Tables 6.4A and B, below, give the distribution of scores and the mean scores by age for each testing. Figures 6.4A and B give the percentage success by age and the mean score by age. It will be seen that the proportion "conserving" increases with age, and that there is a clear decalage between conservation of amount, weight and volume. The sequence was not quite invariant; three five year olds passed weight but not amount, one six year old and one nine year old passed amount and volume but not weight. A comparison of groups of equivalent ages doing the tests for the first or third time reveals that there is no significant practice effect on these tests, though there were very significant age effects in each case. A table of F ratios for the analysis of testing appears in section 6.8.1. The order of administration of the conservation tests also had no effect upon scores; neither Amount nor Volume was done better or worse for being the first or third test (Z = .13, p = .45). The results of this study would appear to be comparable with the percentage success on conservation tests found for several earlier studies (Piaget and Inhelder 1969f, Lovell and Ogilvie 1961, Elkind 1961b, Beard 1963, Uzgiris 1964). On the Piagetian criterion of an approximately 67% pass rate, the ages of accession would appear to be Amount 7.6, Weight 10.0; the criterion is not reached for Volume.

														15
	1	Weigens	hairy.										. 1	
	M	0	0	0	20	0	0	0	20	0	0	CU .	5	
4	N	0	0	0	20	0	N	N	16	4	M	M	M	
	-	0	0	0	20	N	5	M	14	77	4	4	N	
	M	0	0	0	20	7	~	N	16	75	0	~	0	
10	N	0	0	~	19	N	м	2	13	0	5	N	4	
	7	N	N	м	13	4	N	м	17	14	N	М	~	
	M	M	0	0	2	9	7	N	7	14	~	M	N	
5	CU	4	7	~	14	9	N	M	6	1	м	M	M	
	-	м	N	~	14 .	00	N	м	2	100	~	~	0	
	2	M	0	N	5	5	24	M	6	10	N	~	-	
00	N	N	N	~	5 7	00	M	N	6	6 1	N	0	N	
	-	0	0	N	5 7	00	5	M	4	5	N	0	N	
			1		4					7				
	N	M	CU	0	5	00	0	CU	00	14	K	M	0	
2	CU	0	4	CU	11	00	0		4	17	C	0		
	-	4	-	N	11	5	4	10	10	5	0	(-	0	
	M	73	~	~	5	7	N	N	5	19	0	~	0	
9	N	13	~	N	4	14	M	7	N	19	4	0	0	
	~	14	0	4	N	15	N	M	0	100	N	0	0	
	ng	0	7	N	M	0	7	N	M	0	7	N	M	
	th	OF		A	*		1.1	3			11	>		

6.4.1A. Distribution of scores by age, type and testing: conservation of amount





6.4.3A. Distribution of scores by age, type and testing: conservation of volume



Age		6	7	8	9	10	11
Testing A	123	0.7 0.85 0.9	1.1 1.9 2.35	1.95 2.45 2.45	2.15 2.25 2.55	2.15 2.95 3.0	3.0 3.0 3.0
W	123	0.4 0.6 1.05	0.7 1.1 1.5	1.1 1.4 1.8	1.45 1.75 1.9	1.85 2.4 2.65	2.6
V	123	0.1 0.05 0.1	0.1 0.25 0.45	0.55 0.4 0.35	0.15 0.9 0.65	0.6 1.05 1.15	0.7 0.9 1.3

Table 6.4B. Mean scores by age and testing: conservation tests

Figure 6.4B. Mean scores by age and testing: conservation tests



Most children improved or maintained their performance over the year of testing, as may be seen from the increase in mean scores and percentage of successes. There were however regressions. It is tempting to suppose that regressions of the later conservations, weight and volume, were due to an increase in sophistication of concepts of weight and volume after an earlier conservation response based on an awareness of the invariance of undifferentiated "amount"; the tendency for regressions on weight and on volume to occur together might be seen as supporting this hypothesis. The children's explanations do not provide any evidence on this, and since we lack any knowledge of circumstances external to the testing situation which might account for initial overestimation or subsequent underestimation of the child's performance it is not possible to decide between alternative explanations. The non parametric correlations ( ) between administrations of the conservation tests were as follows :- Amount firstsecond administrations .69, second-third .86, first-third .64; Weight first-second .63, second-third .62, firstthird .57; Volume first-second .36, second-third .53, first-third .42.

There were no sex-differences on the conservation tests, nor were there differences between schools of the same level.

There was an interesting association in the conservation of weight problem between age and the nature of an erroneous judgment of weight. The younger the child, the greater was the probability that he would choose the sausage as being heavier than the ball; for children over seven the pattern was the reverse. A Chi Square test on the contingency table 1d gave a  $\chi^2$  of 8.13 (.02 < p < .05). A similar analysis on subjects divided according to whether they had or had not conserved amount (table 1e) showed that this was the cause of the difference; children who conserved amount but not weight chose the ball as heavier than the sausage, showing a concept of weight based on pressure per unit area, rather than the sausage, which looked bigger and was judged by those children who said it was heavier to have "more in". In this case  $\chi^2$ was 10.2, p < .05. The implication is that children who understood the conservation of amount maintained that invariance in the conservation of weight situation also, but judged relative weights wrongly because they conceived of weight in a subjective sense-based way. Versey (1974) has also noted that the nature of erroneous judgments changes with increasing age, children of 7 being more likely than children of 6 to say that the ball was heavier than the sausage.

Table 1d Conservation of Weight: erroneous judgments

by age.

The three	Sausage heavier	Ball heavier
Age 5	7	13
	13	14
aspes to7th	7	15
8	6	14
	2	11
10	2	5

Table 1e Conservation of Weight: association of erroneous judgments with Conservation of Amount performance.

5.5.1. Matrix	Sausage heavier	Ball heavier
Fail (0, 1 or 2) Amount	30	28
Pass (3) Amount	10	37

odification of Pinget's. The first item of the test sourded the result of a spontaneous "putting together has that are alize" by the shild. All subjects in this apple used all the pictures in their sort, the used the test was to pick out all the resting of one kind ing. grey sitting) and surveys then, in a line for the

# 6.5. Classification tests

The three tests in this group assessed the child's ability to co-ordinate classification systems, in hierarchies or as alternatives. They used different types of material ranging from abstract geometric shapes to the child's own surroundings. Piaget's arguments suggest that the operations necessary for these tests develop in parallel; they were of approximately equal difficulty but not particularly highly correlated (see table 6.8.1.), and changes in score on one test did not seem to be associated with changes on the others. For these reasons, and because of test-specific factors which became apparent during testing, the three tests are described separately.

### 6.5.1. Matrix test

The form of test used in this study was derived from Lovell, Mitchell and Everett (1962); the differences were of materials only, the rabbits were light brown and dark grey and a card with four adjustable sections was used instead of a box. Lovell et al's procedure was a codification of Piaget's. The first item of the test recorded the result of a spontaneous "putting together those that are alike" by the child. All subjects in this sample used all the pictures in their sort; the usual strategy was to pick out all the rabbits of one kind (e.g. grey sitting) and arrange them, in a line for the younger children or a pile (for the older children).

Table 6.5.1A.	Distribution of	scores by	age, type and
	testing: matrix	test	

Age Testing			6			7			8			9			10			11	3
		1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	
Score	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
R.*	1	8	8	4	8	2	4	7	8	1	5	3	2	7	2	0	4	2	1
F1	2	8	5	2	4	6	1	6	0	3	2	3	1	5	3	1	4	1	0
	3	4	7	14	8	12	15	6	12	16	12	14	17	8	15	19	12	17	19
					-	-									-				

Figure 6.5.1A. Distribution of scores by age, type and testing: matrix test



		mau	TTY CG	50			
Age		6	7	8	9	10	11
Testing	1	1.8	2.0	1.75	2.15	2.0	2.4
М	2	1.95	2.5	2.2	2.55	2.55	2.75
	3	2.5	2.55	2.75	2.75	2.95	2.9
				The second second			

Table 6.5.1B. Mean scores by age and testing: matrix test





children who recognised that the two dichotomies were equally good, and who arranged the cards in a matrix scored 3. The distributions of these scores are shown in Table 6.51a and Fig. 6.51a; mean scores in Table 6.51b and Figure 6.51b.

It may be seen from these tables that although there was a tendency for scores to improve with age it was less uniform than in the cases of certain other tests. In the Analysis of Variance the Age Mean Square was 2.84, F = 3.01, p < .05, which is small in comparison with other tests. Partitioning showed that only the linear component was important. Piaget mentions a tendency for the youngest children to perform very well on the test and for there to be a lapse into poor performance later; this he attributes to the possibility that young children can construct a matrix on the basis of the perceptual characters of its elements rather than on the logical relations between them. He suggests that these nonlogical successes would be reduced if the arrangement of the matrix was less symmetrical. The results of an experiment by Overton and Brodzinsky (1972), where children were tested under conditions which encouraged either perceptual or logical solutions and it appeared that young children were if anything worse on the most perceptual condition, cast doubt on this somewhat post-hoc explanation.

The age of accession (67% pass rate) was approximately 8.6.

The adoption of first perceptual and then logical strategies would not account for the variation in score found in this study.

Great difficulty was found in co-ordinating the two criteria of class multiplication, the construction of an ordered matrix and the verbal explanation of the combination of subclasses. There were many children who arranged the cards in a perfect matrix but would not consent to both dichotomies, and many who allowed or suggested rule-guided pairings but could not or would not arrange a proper matrix, that is the two criteria were not well correlated. It was felt that it was necessary to choose one as the more important, and therefore the final score was based on the child's explanation and his reactions to all possible pairings rather than on his arrangement of the classes in a matrix. This choice avoided the possibility of perceptually based or chance solutions of the matrix but introduced an increased demand on the child's verbal abilities. In view of the test's generally high correlations with the logically similar and completely non-verbal Raven's Matrices test, and the significant Chi Square for association between Raven and success on the Multiplication of classes test ( $\chi^2 = 9.6$ , p = .01), this may not be a serious difficulty. Its test-retest correlations are moderate (M12 = .36, M13 = .31, M23 = .29), and correlations with other Piagetian tests are good for the second and third administrations but rather low for the first.

There was a significant practice effect (F = 13.4,  $v_1 = 1, v_2 = 114, p < .001$ ), and the speed of the children's sortings increased over testings. It would appear that they were learning what response the experimenter required to what were overtly open-ended questions. While it is not possible clearly to distinguish between the actual or potential state of the child's operational structures and the effect of the experimenter's questions it is difficult to feel perfectly confident about the diagnostic power of the test in its present form.

### 6.5.2. Class Inclusion

Piaget in his analysis of class inclusion said that to be able to compare the sizes of a class B and its subclass A it was necessary to know that  $B = A + A^1$  and  $A = B - A^1$ ; thus "dogs" consists of "spaniels" and "not-spaniel dogs", and "spaniels" is the class which would remain if "notspaniels" were removed by some arbitrary decision of Crufts from the class of "dogs". According to his grouping model, the two equations given above must develop synchronously and prior to the solution of the comparison between B and A. The test used in this study asked for all three comparisons on the same, clearly defined, material (eight circles of which five were pink and three blue). One point was given for each correct answer. Table 6.5.2A. Distribution of scores by age, type and testing: class inclusion test

Age		6			7			8			9			10			11		
Testin	ng	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Score	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
C	1	17	13	4	10	5	3	9	1	0	9	1	1	4	4	0	3	0	0
	2	2	5	12	6	12	9	9	11	7	7	10	8	8	7	4	5	8	.4
	3	0	1	4	3	3	8	2	8	13	4	9	11	8	9	16	12	12	16

Figure 6.5.2A. Distribution of scores by age, type and testing: class inclusion test


		CLA	ss incli	usion te	est		
Age	-	6	7	8	9	10	11
Testing	1	1.05	1.5	1.65	1.65	2.0	2.45
C	2	1.35	1.85	2.35	2.4	2.25	2.6
	3	2.0	2.25	2.65	2.5	2.8	2.8

Table 6.5.2B. Mean scores by age and testing:

Figure 6.5.2B. Mean scores by age and testing: class inclusion test

Average score of group

3

2

1



ťO

11

Age

9

8

7

As may be seen from graphs and tables of mean scores, performance improved with age. \* A split-plot analysis of variance (Age, Occasion of Testing) gave Fs for Age  $(F = 15.55, v_1 = 5, v_2 = 114)$  and for Testing (F = 55.11,  $v_1 = 2, v_2 = 228$ ) significant at the .001 level, with a strong linear component in each case (Fs respectively of 70.8 and 110.2). The Age X Testing interaction was significant at the .025 level; although all groups improved over testing the older groups improved less than the younger, though maintaining their absolute superiority of score. This may be a ceiling effect. There was a significant practice effect (F = 21.4,  $v_1 = 1$ ,  $v_2 = 114$ p < .001).

Piaget's results indicated that errors on the class inclusion question relating B and A often arose from a mistaken comparison of A and A<sup>1</sup>. He surmised that young children found it difficult to keep in mind B and its subclasses simultaneously. The errors found in this study were of a similar form; correct comparisons of A and A<sup>1</sup> were often produced in response to a request for a comparison of B and A. Many children when asked "Are there more round ones or more pink ones?" replied "More pink ones than blue ones" and appeared to regard this as an acceptable answer to the question. This was the commonest error and the most persistent; repetition, rephrasing and the clearest enunciation of the question had no effect on answers.

The age of accession (67% pass rate) was approximately 10.9.

Table 6.5.2c.Number of subjects answering constituent<br/>questions of class inclusion test correctly<br/>(N = 360)Successful on<br/>n  $A = B - A^1$  B > A  $B = A + A^1$ <br/>pass 0 3 - - -1847770213413412863139139139139139

Total number 350 274 145 of successes

impressively longer name. Only the oldest and host practised childred wave able to go beyond the alternative enswers offered to them and way "the same". This order of difficulty,  $a + b + a^2$ , b > A,  $b + 1 + a^2$ is clearly different from Piege  $b + a + b + a^2$  and  $b + a + a^2$ b > A. It might be possible to make  $b + b^2$  and  $b + a + a^2$ start and pedantic "the counting as correct only the start and pedantic "the count pint ones"; but in that case b > A would become the estimate of the questions, not as in Hage; has magneted the hardest. Before concluding that Plaget was drastically mong on the order of achievement of these operations, a replacation study was carried out.

It is clear from the pattern of successes and failures (table 6.5.2c) that the next easiest question was the class inclusion question, "Are there more round ones or more pink ones?" Errors on this were usually comparisons of A and A<sup>1</sup>. More than half of children over  $6\frac{1}{2}$ , and almost all children over 87, passed it. The last question "Are there more round ones or more pink ones and blue ones together?" was the hardest. It produced a variety of errors. The commonest amongst the youngest children was to compare A and A1 and answer "more pink ones". Slightly older children overlooked the "together", although it was said with emphasis, and comparing B and A answered "more round ones". A few children said "more pink ones and blue ones", which may have been a misphrasing of "more pink ones than blue ones", or, less probably, may have been a tribute to the impressively longer name. Only the oldest and most practised childred were able to go beyond the alternative answers offered to them and say "the same".

This order of difficulty,  $A = B - A^{1}$ , B > A,  $B = A + A^{1}$ is clearly different from Piaget's  $A = B - A^{1}$  and  $B = A + A^{1}$ , B > A. It might be possible to make  $A = B - A^{1}$  equal in difficulty to  $B = A + A^{1}$  by counting as correct only the exact and pedantic "the round pink ones"; but in that case B > A would become the easiest of the questions, not as Piaget has suggested the hardest. Before concluding that Piaget was drastically wrong on the order of achievement of these operations, a replication study was carried out. Eight different arrays were used, varying on parameters believed to be important and covering the range of arrays used by other investigators. They differed in content (children or geometric shapes), number of stimuli (B = 8 or B = 21) and presence or absence of stimuli not members of B. The arrays were presented as a multiple choice group test. Each array was accompanied by questions relating B, A and  $A^1$  in random order; the order of wording of the questions and the answers were also randomised between arrays. The order of the arrays was randomised between groups of subjects. Thus each subject saw the same sheets of arrays with questions but in one of four different random orders.

The subjects were fifty second-year children from a small junior school in a working class area of North London. They were aged between 7.9 and 9.3. They were tested in four groups (n = 10, n = 12, n = 14, n = 14), by their teacher while I watched. The children were told that they would be shown pictures and would have to answer questions about them by underlining the correct answer. It was emphasised that they should not voice the answer nor consult their neighbours - attempts to do so were discouraged. The booklet of arrays was gone through page by page; the tester read the questions clearly and slowly and with even emphasis, and a few minutes were allowed after each for the child to make his answer. Only one child failed to complete the testing.

Table 6.5.2d. Number of subjects answering constituent questions on class inclusion replication arrays correctly (N = 50)

Crosses Children  $A=B-A^{\perp}$  B > A  $B=A+A^{\perp}$   $A=B-A^{\perp}$  B > A  $B=A+A^{\perp}$ Small number 47 23 19 50 38 10 distractor present Small number distractor absent 47 19 13 46 5 30 distractor present 47 10 16 49 43 9 Large number 48 19 8 50 41 13

distractor absent 48 19 8 50 41 15

in mind simultaneticly or in quick succession B and its subclasses. B > A could be solved without consideration of A<sup>1</sup>; a child und coded the size of B as "tery big" and of A as "middle-sized" could theory inger that 3 > A. There is inconcrevertible evidence that children use sod coding and can make such interences (Dryant 1974). Following Kohnstemn (1968), I would surgest that the class inclusion problem in solved in this way.

The frequency of successes appears in table 6.5.2**d**. On the whole, the order of difficulty found in the main study is supported. These eight year olds found the  $A = B - A^{1}$  question very easy - its lowest success rate was 92%. The next easiest question was B > A for seven of the eight arrays;  $B = A + A^{1}$  was the hardest for all but the one array. Reasons for the exception will be discussed later.

The extreme easiness of  $A = B - A^{1}$  may be due in part to the fact that for this question only it is not necessary to consider the objects in the array as members of two classes (e.g. shape and colour, shape and size). It is possible to reach the correct answer without considering the existence of B as an entity; awareness of A and  $A^{1}$  alone is sufficient.

For both the other questions it is necessary to have in mind simultaneously or in quick succession B and its subclasses. B > A could be solved without consideration of  $A^1$ ; a child who coded the size of B as "very big" and of A as "middle-sized" could thence infer that B > A. There is incontrovertible evidence that children use such coding and can make such inferences (Bryant 1974). Following Kohnstamm (1968), I would suggest that the class inclusion problem is solved in this way.

on which weaked must over 1 , and must account t

The solution of  $B = A + A^{1}$  requires more exactness. The child could count B and, remembering this answer, count A and  $A^{1}$  together and compare the results. Alternatively he could see that there are no B which are not A or  $A^{1}$ , and no A or  $A^{1}$  which are not B, thence concluding that there is the same quantity of Bs as  $A + A^{1}s$ . Either strategy demands a grasp of the defining attributes of B, A and  $A^{1}$  and the ability to think of each without forgetting the others, which entails a considerable memory load.

# Results

It had been supposed that class inclusion questions involving familiar objects such as children might be easier than those involving geometric objects. This is not entirely so. The  $A = B - A^{1}$  question is equally easy for both sets of arrays in this sample; the B > A (children) question is much easier than the B > A (crosses) question but the  $B = A + A^{\perp}$  (crosses) is easier on three of four occasions than the  $B = A + A^{\perp}$ (children) question. Thus children find it easier to judge that there are more children than boys than that there are more crosses than big ones, but harder to say that there are as many children as boys and girls together than to say that there are as many crosses as big ones and little ones together. It was the  $B = A + A^{\perp}$  (children) question which evoked most overt puzzlement amongst the subjects. One reason for this may be that the identity

of B and A + A<sup>1</sup> as classes is much stronger in the case of children than crosses; thus the subject's expectancy that the two items he is asked to compare will be different is more severely violated. Subjects when asked if two clearly identical things are different may respond with puzzlement rather than an affirmation that the question is nonsense and B  $A + A^{1}$ . An explanation of this type would account for the higher success role on the crosses questions, where the familiarity and thus the identity is less strong, and for the very low success rate on the simplest array, of five boys and three girls, where the identity is most striking. The greater success rate on the two crosses/distractor set present arrays would be due then to the fact that here there are  $A^{l}$  which are not B, and therefore  $A + A^{l} > B$ , so that the two items to be compared are different, and confusion and hesitation are less likely to arise. If the synonymity of "children" and "boys and girls" were stronger than that of "crosses" and "big ones and little ones" this would also account for the subjects' better performance on B > A (children) than on B > A (crosses).

It had been supposed also that arrays with a large number of items would be harder than those containing fewer items. This was so for both B > A and  $B = A + A^1$ for the crosses arrays, perhaps because the counting procedures which are relatively more important for arrays of this sort are harder to carry out on large numbers, or perhaps because the area occupied by A had greater perceptual pregnancy. The differences were not very

large, however. For the arrays of children, the smaller arrays were if anything harder than the larger. It must be remembered that only the small arrays had pictures, and it has been noted (e.g. Wohlwill 1968) that verbally presented class inclusion problems are easier than pictured ones. Overt attempts by the subjects to count the people in the room were not observed. Piaget's operational analysis would suggest that the number of items in an array would not greatly influence its difficulty; an analysis based on relative coding of size, perceptual extent, expectation and intuitive solution, would suggest differences of the sort obtained.

It had been supposed, finally, that the presence of a distractor set would increase the difficulty of the problem B > A and decrease the difficulty of  $B = A + A^{\perp}$ because A + A<sup>1</sup> would in fact be greater than B. The latter prediction was on the whole supported; for the small number arrays the former was reversed. There was very little difference for the large number (children) arrays; the comparison in the case of the large arrays of crosses is confused by the anomalous pattern of responses on the array of 18 large crosses, 3 small ones and 2 small circles, where the success rate on B > A is extremely low, lower than that on  $B = A + A^{\perp}$ . Only posthoc explanations of this anomaly can be offered; they would have to be in terms of an interaction between the perceptual characteristics of that particular array and the order of the questions and answers linked to it.

Thus under very different administrative conditions, and using a variety of arrays with different contents and different class/subclass ratios (and with different testers) the order of difficulty was fairly constant.  $A = B - A^{1}$  was easier than B > A, and  $B = A + A^{1}$  was harder than either. This was the commonest order for seven of the eight arrays used in the replication and for the majority of subjects in both samples. No support was found for Piaget's claim that success on B > A requires prior success on the interdependent and mutually facilitating  $A = B - A^{1}$  and  $B = A + A^{1}$ .

The large variation between arrays also decreases the plausibility of Piaget's operational explanation. There may be two factors which Piaget has overlooked. The first is that the child does not expect to be asked to compare two identical objects or classes, thus he is confused by questions such as "more children or more boys and girls" where he is very familiar with the identity of the two classes. This suggestion might be tested by the use of a form of question that placed more emphasis on the possibility of answering "the same". A tendency of this sort, to assume that there should be no overlap between the two items in a comparison, would account for the overwhelming proportion of the errors which are a comparison of A and A<sup>1</sup>. The second is that the class inclusion problem may be solved by intuitive inference rather than by the coordination of operations. A child who was able to code the size of B as, say, "very big"

and that of A as "middle sized" could correctly compare B and A by making a simple transitive inference. Success on this problem would only require the simultaneous consideration of B and A. Processes of these sorts would account for the results found in these studies.

# 6.5.3. Role Inclusion

This test assessed whether the child realised that it was possible to be in two places at once if one was included in the other. Following Piaget (1926) and Beard (1957), the child was questioned about the relationship between his home district and London, and between London and England.

This test was perhaps the most knowledge-dependent and verbal of all the tests in the battery. Considerable difficulty arose because of these faults. A fair proportion of children did not feel that their home was in London; again many children did not know what or where "England" was. It was easy for them to pick up a parrotted answer or explanation such as "London is the capital of England" without understanding the inclusion relation. A lot of guessing, random responding and fishing for answers was observed; the questions "Can you be in London but not in England?" and "Can you be in England but not in London?" which had been added to Beard's procedure did something to show which children were certain of their answers, but I cannot regard the test as satisfactory in its present form. Table 6.5.51. Distribution of stores by age, type a

184

It may be seen from the tables and graphs of mean scores and frequencies which follow that on the whole performance improved with increased age.<sup>\*</sup> Thirty-seven children showed lapses on performance. The age difference was significant (F = 29.22,  $v_1 = 2$ ,  $v_2 = 114$ , p < .01), the test difference was not (F = 0.21). The interaction between Age and Test was also non-significant (F = 0.56). The linear and quadratic components of the Age trend were significant at the .01 and the .05 levels respectively. The test-retest correlations were fairly high;  $\rho_{12} = .60$ ,  $\rho_{13} = .55$ ,  $\rho_{23} = .66$ . The home-district-London question was a little easier than the London-England question, but most children were certain on both or neither. Very few children above the age of 8 denied both inclusions.

The age of accession (67% pass rate) was approximately 10.6.

Table 6.5.3A.	Distribution	of	scores	by	age,	type	and
	testing: rol	e in	nclusior	1 te	est		

Age			6			7			8			9			10			11		
Testin	ng	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	
Score	0	9	9	3	8	8	6	1	0	0	0	2	2	1	1	0	0	0	0	
P	1	4	4	9	1	2	1	2	2	0	3	6	0	1	2	1	0	1	0	
R	2	5	2	4	5	4	5	7	8	3	4	2	4	5	7	6	6	6	3	
	3	2	5	4	6	6	8	10	10	17	13	10	14	13	10	13	14	13	17	

Figure 6.5.3A. Distribution of scores by age, type and testing: role inclusion test



Age	15 m	6	7	8	9	10	11
Testing	1	1.0	1.7	2.3	2.4	2.35	2.7
R	2	1.2	1.55	2.4	2.0	2.25	2.6
	3	1.45	1.75	2.85	2.5	2.6	2.85

Table 6.5.3B. Mean scores by age and testing: role inclusion test

Figure 6.5.3B. Mean scores by age and testing: role inclusion test



# 6.6. Relation tests

The three tests in this group assessed the child's ability to co-ordinate asymmetrical and symmetrical relationships in a spatial and in a familiar context. The tests are supposed by Piaget to rest on the same structure-d'ensemble of operations, developing in parallel; the Left-Right discrimination test and the Coordination of Perspectives test are closely related, and Piaget has treated the Reciprocal Relations (Brotherhood) test as an analogy of the former. However since in this sample the tests varied greatly in difficulty they are here discussed separately.

#### 6.6.1. Concepts of left and right

This test assessed the child's idea of left and right in relation to himself, to other people and to objects. Questioning followed Laurendeau and Pinard (1970), and as in their test all parts of a question had to be answered correctly for that question to be counted as passed. There were no scoring difficulties; all but three children who were correct in relating the left and right of three objects were also correct about their own left and right limbs and those of the experimenter opposite, and all but two children who indicated E's limbs correctly were correct also about their own. Four children said "left" instead of "right" and vice versa throughout testing; following Laurendeau and Pinard these consistent reversers were counted as correct. As may be seen from the tables and graphs of mean scores and frequency of responses, performance improved with age. In a split-plot Analysis of Variance the difference between age groups was significant at the .01 level (F = 10.3,  $v_1 = 5$ ,  $v_2 = 114$ ), and partitioning showed that this was almost entirely due to the linear component of the trend (F = 47.5,  $v_1 = 1$ ,  $v_2 = 114$ ). The interaction with testing was not significant; an analysis of variance comparing experienced and inexperienced subjects of matched ages showed that test experience had a significant effect (F = 3.7,  $v_1 = 1$ ,  $v_2 = 114$ , p<.05). Thirty-nine children showed lapses in performance; the test-retest correlations were moderate ( $\rho_{12} = .48$ ,  $\rho_{13} = .49$ ,  $\rho_{23} = .60$ ).

The children's responses fitted the pattern described by Piaget (1926) and by Laurendeau and Pinard (1970). Almost all children knew their own left and right limbs, but the majority of children up to 7 answered as if "left" and "right" were defined by the two sides of their body and could be applied to all objects to the appropriate side of their own midline. Objects lying on the midline were described as "in the middle". About a third of children over 6 recognised that other people's divisions into "left-space" and "right-space" were possibly reversed, but questions relating three objects were still answered in terms of the absolute "to the left" and "to the right" instead of the relative "left of" and "right of". Completely relative answers were not given by a majority of the subjects until the age of  $10\frac{1}{2}$ .

Age			6			7			8			9			10			11	
Testin	ıg	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Score	0	3	1	0	3	1	0	1	0	1	2	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	0
Po	1	15	11	11	10	10	8	9	6	2	3	4	3	6	3	1	2	3	2
FO	2	2	7	8	6	6	7	6	7	8	7	8	5	6	8	6	12	6	4
71.00	3	0	1	1	1	3	5	4	7	9	8	8	10	7	9	13	6	10	14

Figure 6.6.1A. Distribution of scores by age, type and testing: position test



		pos	ition t	est				
Age		6	7	8	9	10	11	- 14
Testing	1	0.95	1.3	1.65	1.9	1.9	2.15	
Ро	2	1.3	1.6	2.05	2.2	2.3	2.25	
	3	1.5	1.85	2.25	2.25	2.6	2.6	
								_

Table 6.6.1B. Mean scores by age and testing: position test

Figure 6.6.1B. Mean scores by age and testing: position test



#### 6.6.2. Coordination of perspectives

This test required the child to identify the picture representing a view of the mountain scene before him which he had never seen. The apparatus used was the schematic arrangement of cones used by Laurendeau and Pinard (1970), and the questioning involved answering with and without feedback. The child's choice of picture and his explanation were recorded.

Apart from volume conservation, this was the most difficult of the tests used in this study, as in others (e.g. Dodwell 1963). As the table and graph of frequencies of responses show, until the age of 6, complete failure was the largest category of responses. These children chose their own view whatever the position of the doll, or chose pictures on some irrelevant basis such as their location on the table, or at random. They typically responded rather quickly and without deep consideration of the problem, and gave garbled explanations or none. Children in the next category of failure did consider all the pictures carefully, but their choice was mostly wrong and they were unable to correct it after they had seen the mountains from the appropriate viewpoint. Their explanations tended to be couched in topological terms; "that one's there", and "it's next to that one" were common phrases. The next level of response again involved a careful consideration of the alternative pictures and an only partially correct choice, but these

				te	esti	ng:	pe	rsp	ect	ive	es t	test	5						
Age			6			7			8			9			10			11	
Testi	ng	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Score	0	14	13	6	6	5	1	3	3	1	3	1	1	2	2	0	1	0	0
	1	5	5	7	4	4	4	7	6	4	3	3	1	2	2	2	4	0	0
Pe	2	1	2	6	10	9	11	8	6	7	12	12	10	11	7	5	10	12	4
1	3	0	0	1	0	2	4	2	5	8	2	4	8	5	9	13	5	8	16

193

Table 6.6.2A. Distribution of scores by age, type and

Figure 6.6.2A. Distribution of scores by age, type and testing: perspectives test

Percentage frequency



perspectives test											
Age		6	7	8	9	10	11				
Testing	1	0.35	1.3	1.55	1.6	1.85	1.95				
Pe	2	0.5	1.4	1.65	1.95	2.15	2.4				
13-15	3	1.1	1.9	2.1	2.25	2.55	2.8				

Table 6.6.2B. Mean scores by age and testing:

Figure 6.6.2B. Mean scores by age and testing: perspectives test





Material used in test seen 1 from in front, 2 from above. Letters refer to successive positions of doll (AECF) and to choice of pictures shown below.



The four viewpoints whose representation the child had to identify were A (the child's own), E (at 180° to the child), C (at 90°) and F (at 270°); the two surplus pictures were of B (45°) and D (135°). From E and C the smallest (blue) mountain was not visible, being hidden by one of the other mountains. The easiest viewpoint was A, which was also, because of the "egocentric" errors of the youngest children, the most frequently chosen picture. Almost all the children were able to select the picture representing their own viewpoint without difficulty and without prompting. The next easiest position was F; E and C, which were frequently confused, were harder. There was a tendency for children to overlook the subtle distinction of whether the yellow mountain was slightly in front of or slightly behind the red, and to view E and C as equivalent. Younger children frequently chose the same picture for both positions; older children were more careful not to use the same picture for different positions and were often, therefore, wrong on both, though able to correct their choice on viewing.

The "little man" was moved around the mountains in the order A, E, C, F for all children. The use of an inanimate doll as observer and the order of viewpoints may both have contributed to the frequency of egocentric responses in the youngest children. An experiment by Cox (1975) showed that children made more correct and fewer egocentric choices of picture when they had to choose the representation of E's view than when a doll was the observer; the imaginative effort required to conceive of the doll as animate and capable of seeing increased the difficulty of the task. Work by Aebli and Garner and Plant (1972) shows a very significant difference in performance between children who were asked to choose the picture of their own view first of all and those who had to choose another viewpoint first. It is suggested that children who give an "egocentric" response in the later stages of the former condition do so not because they believe their own view is the only possible one, but because when faced with a difficult task they reproduce the response which satisfied the experimenter last time, rather than struggle to work out the correct representation. The apparent lack of consideration of response of the stage O children could be taken as support for this theory, but it might equally well reflect perfect confidence that "everyone sees only what I see". In both Cox's and Garner and Plant's studies the youngest children were over 6 years of age; in this study "egocentric" responses had suddenly dropped in frequency at this age. It was only in the youngest group of children during the first two testing sessions, when they averaged  $5\frac{1}{2}$  and 6 years of age, that a majority of children produced "egocentric" responses. It would be interesting to see the effects of order and of having an animate observer on younger children.

The question where the number of brothers was the first piece of information was a little easier than that in which one child was introduced first and said to have three brothers. As in Piaget's study, a common error was to disregard this child when counting his brothers' brothers, but the commonest error in both questions was to give a different number of brothers to each child asked about. Younger children making this error tended to produce numbers more or less at random, perhaps because they had forgotten the names and the less salient number of brothers; older children seemed to regard the sequence of names as ordered, usually from oldest to youngest, so that the first presented of three boys would be said to have two brothers, the second only one and the third none. There was no consistent relation between the sort of answer given to the enumerative questions and the type of definition produced.

To be counted as correct the definition of "brother" had to include the elements "male" and "child of same parents"; where the child answered ambiguously prompt questions about families in which there was only one child and families of one boy and one girl were employed. All the children knew that brothers were boys, but the second, relational, element was more elusive. One common error was to equate "having a brother" with "being a brother"; thus there was no brother in a family of one son and one daughter. Another error, which seemed to be related to the child's position in his family, was to limit "brother" to either older or younger brothers, and some children even applied this to their own families; e.g.

200

Gary H., the third of three brothers, defined "brother" as "a boy who looks after you and takes you out", and when considering his own family said that his oldest brother, Michael, has no brothers; his second brother, John, has one brother (Michael), and he himself has two brothers, Michael and John. The implicit restriction of the term to older brothers applied also to his two sisters; ordinal position in the family was of paramount importance.

The Analysis of Variance showed a large Age effect (F = 17.3,  $v_1 = 5$ ,  $v_2 = 114$ , p < .001) whose most important components were a linear (F = 58.5) and a quadratic (F = 18.2) trend, both significant at the .001 level. There was a significant effect of testing (F = 12.9,  $v_1 = 2$ ,  $v_2 = 228$ , p < .001) which was almost entirely due to a linear trend (F = 25.7,  $v_1 = 1$ ,  $v_2 = 228$ , p < .001). The interaction between Age and Testing was also significant at the .001 level (F = 3.47,  $v_1 = 10$ ,  $v_2 = 228$ ) reflecting the ceiling reached by the oldest children. The main component of the interaction was a linear change in the linear trends (F = 23.8,  $v_1 = 1$ ,  $v_2 = 228$ , p < .001). Test-retest correlations were moderate (Relation<sub>12</sub> = .52, Relation<sub>13</sub> = .35, Relation<sub>23</sub> = .57).



Age		6	7	8	9	10	11	
Testing	1	1.45	2.4	2.85	2.65	2.7	3.0	
Re	2	2.05	2.5	2.95	2.75	2.8	3.0	
	3	2.55	2.8	3.0	2.9	3.0	3.0	
1 2 1 2 1 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Contract in		and the second second					1

Table 6.6.3B. Mean scores by age and testing: reciprocal relations test

Figure 6.6.3B. Mean scores by age and testing: reciprocal relations test



intelligence and school and with parental occupation rated by an independent judge as unequivocally middle class or working class were therefore drawn from the sample and compared. The "middle class" children had a slight superiority in vocabulary but there were no other significant differences. Two things may be noted, however; the middle class children were able to establish a closer rapport with the tester, and all those very young children who did very well (e.g. subjects 75, 81, 65, 71, 11, 13) were the offspring of middle class intellectuals.

At the end the second testing the children were asked whether the and the any bies in that seesion which they had go from in the province has, "had anything today been net" in arestingly, none of the interpreted the marking what had been left set as "patterns in a box" which has constituted the interfeto "patterns in a box" which has constituted the interfeto "patterns in a box" which has constituted the interfeto to abalanty test and the interfeto into here patterns interpreted Election lesis may be harden of the patterns in a box " which has constituted the interfeto to abalanty test and the interfeto into here patterns to here interfeto election of the interfeto into here patterns to here interfeto election on the tests may be interfeto end interfeto that any tool in the second similation end interfeto end on the tests into the interfeto, parents in interfeto in the interfeto into the interfeto, parents in interfeto in the interfeto into the interfeto, parents in interfeto in the interfeto into the interfeto, parents interfeto into an the tests in the interfeto, parents interfeto into an the tests into the interfeto, parents interfeto in any test in the interfeto interfeto, parents interfeto interfeto into interfeto into the interfetore, parents interfeto interfeto into interfeto into the interfeto.

### 6.8.0. Differences between administrations

As the testing procedure was the same for each administration, and at no time was the child informed about or differentially rewarded for the correctness of his answers, differences between administrations would be due firstly to the increased age of the subjects and secondly to what may generally be called "practice effects". As may be seen from the tables of mean scores, and the summary of the analyses of variance for developmental trends in table 6.3.2.1., there was a significant difference between administrations on all tests, always reflecting a better performance on the third testing than on the first.

At the end of the second testing the children were asked whether they had done anything in that session which they had <u>not</u> done in the previous one, "had anything today been new?" Interestingly, many of them interpreted this as asking what had been left out of the second testing, and recalled the "words" and the "patterns in a book" which had constituted the Crichton Vocabulary test and the Raven's Matrices. The best remembered Piagetian tests were the Perspectives test and the Matrix test, undoubtedly because of the picturesqueness of their materials, but there were very few claims that any test in the second administration was "new". All the children denied that they had received any information on the tests from their teachers, parents or peers; the only experience cited in response to questions about whether they had ever done anything "like this" in lessons was making plasticine models in nursery school. While it may be concluded from this that there had been little or no overt training, the superiority of performance of children whose parents were middleclass intellectuals and were probably therefore aware of the possibility of enhancing cognitive growth suggests that covert facilitation of cognitive development probably goes on.

## 6.8.1. Practice effects

In order to separate the effects of practice from those of increased age, a comparison was made of children aged 6.0 to 6.11, 8.0 to 8.11 and 10.0 to 10.11 doing the test for the first time with those of the same age doing it for the third time. A summary of this analysis follows (Table 6.8.1), and the summary tables of the analyses as appendix.

The Age effect was significant at the .001 level for all the tests except the Matrix test, where it was significant at the .05 level only. As usual the older children scored higher than the younger. The Testing effect was not significant for Amount, Weight and Volume Conservation, Role Inclusion, Position and Reciprocal Relations; it was significant at the .05 level for Perspective and at the .001 level for the Matrix and Class Inclusion tests. The only significant interaction between Age and Testing was on the Relations test (p < .001); this was because the oldest children had reached a ceiling of performance on this test at their first testing.

Thus test experience had a significant effect only on the Matrix, Class Inclusion and (to a lesser extent) the Perspective tests. It is interesting that the first and third of these were the most popular and best remembered of the test battery. Both involved a relatively large amount of interaction with the tester, especially a large number of "Why" questions to evoke explanations of his actions from the child. It was speculated earlier, also, that both tasks involve, or at least require as a prerequisite, grouping III, the biunivocal multiplication of classes. It is this grouping that is necessary for the Matrix test, and its relational counterpart, the biunivocal multiplication of relations (grouping VII) is one of those necessary for the Perspectives test. The other is that of the addition of asymmetric relations, grouping V, which is important also for the left-right Position test and does not appear to be significantly affected by practice. Thus test experience may have had its effect on these tests because of the greater familiarity of the tester (leading to less shyness and thus more willingness to give careful explanations, and to a clearer idea of the sort of answer which would be accepted as satisfactory) or because of the greater

familiarity of the materials (some children on the third administration of the Matrix test started to sort out the rabbits before they were asked to) or to the presence of a grouping which is susceptible to outside influence. No one of these can be either singled out or ruled out.

The other test to be significantly affected by test experience is the Class Inclusion test. Like the Matrix and Perspectives test, this is one where the child's expectations of the tester are important. The improvement was due to there being fewer erroneous comparisons of A and  $A^1$  instead of B and A or B and  $A + A^1$ . Such an improvement may have resulted from increased operational dexterity or from a more careful attention to the question asked or, again, both.

It would appear that, for Piaget, external stimuli accelerate development only if they are not consonant with the current cognitive state of the organism, that is if they induce in the organism conflict and a state of disequilibrium. The children in this study were not ever told whether their responses to the test situations were "wrong" or "right", though some of them anxiously asked; supportive nods and smiles were forthcoming almost irrespective of the quality of the child's answer. Any conflict states induced were not particularly obvious. The general improvement of performance with practice on all the tests is probably due to the children's greater ease in the test situation as much as to advanced operationality.

Table 6.8.1. Summary of Analysis of Variance for

Effects	of	Test	experience
For the second sec		and the second se	Automatica and Televisian and the second s

Source	SS	MS	F	υ1	υ2	р
Amount: Age	83.78	41.89	40.47	2	114	< .001
Testing	0.43	0.43	< 1	1	114	NS
Age x Testing	0.19	0.095	< 1	1	114	NS
Error	117.99	1.035				
Weight: Age	56.32	28.16	21.29	2	114	< .001
Testing	2.7	2.7	2.04	1	114	NS
Age x Testing	0.15	0.075	< 1	2	114	NS
Error	150.8	1.323				
Volume: Age	16.47	8.235	11.74	2	114	< .001
Testing	1.2	1.2	1.7	1	114	NS
Age x Testing	0.8	0.4	< 1	2	114	NS
Error	79.997	0.7				
Matrix: Age	3.65	1.825	3.05	2	114	< .05
Testing	8.01	8.01	13.38	1	114	< .001
Age x Testing	0.017	0.0085	< 1	2	114	NS
Error	68.25	0.6				
Class Inclusion:						
Age	14.45	7.225	16.02	2	114	< .001
Testing	9.63	9.63	21.37	1	114	< .001
Age x Testing	1.72	0.86	1.9	2	114	NS
Error	51.4	0.45				
Role Inclusion:						
Age	39.22	19.61	29.22	2	114	< .001
Testing	0.21	0.21	< 1	1	114	NS
Age x Testing	1.12	0.56	< 1	2	114	NS
Error	76.45	0.67				

Table 6.8.1. (Continued)

Source	SS	MS	F	v <sub>1</sub>	υ2	p
Position: Age	21.67	10.83	18.74	2	114	< .001
Testing	2.13	2.13	3.69	1	114	NS
Age x Testing	0.26	0 13	< 1	2	114	NS
Error	65.9	0.58				
Perspective:	1999 - A.	Service All Strategy		28.0-	a lean	capite .
Age.	22.65	11.33	14.56	2	114	< .001
Testing	3.675	3.675	4.73	1	114	< .025
Age x Testing	1.95	0.975	1.25	2	114	NS
Error	88.65	0.78				
Relation: Age	6.22	3.11	14.56	2	114	< .001
Testing	0.41	0.41	1.91	1	114	NS
Age x Testing	6.84	3.42	16.03	2	114	< .001
vanianing Error	24.33	0.21				

-1 - Designed Barrier
Section 7. Discussion and Conclusions

COLLARIANT OF SELL SAN ALL S CONSERS S. NEVERSI

The aim of the study was to investigate the development of certain concrete operations in children of primary school age. It was hoped to test the existence of Piaget's postulated sequence of stages and his structure-d'ensemble of operations. To this end, 120 children were given tests supposedly calling on various concrete operational groupings and testing without feedback was repeated so that the effects of test experience might be discerned.

The main feature of the results was the marked variation between children of the same age and between the different tests of operational thought. Performance was largely test-specific, and it was not possible perfectly to predict the level of response on one test from another, with the exception of the conservation tests where the well-documented decalage between Amount, Weight and Volume was evident in these subjects also. There was a fairly stable order of difficulty of the tests such that a Scalogram Analysis produced satisfactory coefficients of Scalability, but a high proportion of respondents had "error" patterns of scores. Correlations between tests of operations of the same group were not consistently higher than between tests of operations of different groups; age (chronological or mental) was, on the whole, the best predictor of performance.

All the tests used had several parts and admitted a categorization of failures and successes at several levels. For certain of the tests (Conservations, Position, Perspectives) the children's responses to the test fell neatly into the Piagetian framework of development; there were few responses unlike in kind or in pattern to those he had described, and a highly predictable order of response patterns. For the Class Inclusion test this last was true also, and the prevailing error was of the sort which Piaget has described; but for this test the order of achievement of sub-tests by these subjects was radically different from that strongly and repeatedly put forward by Piaget, and a replication showed this obtained order to be stable and generalised. For two tests (Matrix and Relation) there was a rather poor correspondence between verbalisations and explanations on the one hand, and non verbal behaviour (sorting and counting) on the other, and for the latter test the typical error was rather different from that of Piaget's samples. The last test, that of Role Inclusion, was very poorly understood by the children, whose geographical knowledge was deficient in ways not apparently considered by Piaget; it was hard to induce scoreable results and to avoid leading questions.

Thus although for the majority of tests the types of answer which Piaget has said are characteristic of "stages" are discernible in the responses, the hypothesised stages were generally neither parsimonious nor exhaustive models of the data. For none of the tests used in this study did analysis of the developmental trends show any evidence of age-related stages, the major trend being without exception a linear increase in score with age. Performance seemed to follow a classical learning curve of a gradual negatively accelerated rise to a plateau of efficient responding, with a greater or lesser extent of "floor" and "ceiling" according to the difficulty of the test. Such curves can of course be generated by one-step, two-step or multistep models, so that the form of the curve does not unequivocally indicate the nature of the underlying process. A model involving the sudden closure of logical structures developing in close parallel and in age-related synchrony would however be a poor representation of the trends found here. The development of Piagetian operations might be said from the evidence of this study to be a gradual one of progression from inevitable failure to unvarying success, the improvement being clearly related to age and experience, but with considerable variation in response type between individuals (and between tests) and with a fair proportion of regressions to a poorer performance.

If, as it appears, children's performance on Piagetian tests tends to be highly dependent on the precise parameters of the task situation, certain lines of investigation suggest themselves. The oldest of these is the search for explanations of horizontal decalage, for example Piaget's explanation of the relative amenability of flowers to the class inclusion processes compared to the intransigence of birds - flowers are commonly seen in bunches by children, birds rather rarely in mixed flocks. Explanations of this sort have a germ of truth in them perhaps, and lead to testable predictions (for example about the performance of children brought up in flowerless aviaries) but they tend to have a post-hoc quality. A possibly more fruitful strategy is to undertake a precise analysis of the demands of the tasks, to discover which (if any) operations of perception or memory or reasoning are necessary or sufficient for success. This sort of analysis has shown its merits for transitivity (Bryant and Trabasso 1971), class inclusion (Klahr and Wallace 1972, Trabasso (personal communication)), conservation (Lefrancois 1968, Carey 1974) and other tests. In each case, the importance of non-operational factors has been highlighted. It has even been argued (Steiner 1974) that cognitive structures, being inferred from representational behaviour and therefore inextricably linked with representation, have no independent existence apart from representations and are "represented and organised anew" on each occasion. "Cognitive structures are constructed

ad hoc, even in the Geneva-type experiments" (Steiner 1974, p.895). It may be more profitable to look for similarities and differences between tasks in the subskills they require rather than in their abstract logical structure.

Thorough task-analysis of many Piagetian tests would probably reveal failures due to memory lapses, vocabulary failures and inadequacies of social interaction skills, and successes despite operational lacunae because of features of the presentation of the task. Pascual-Leone and Bovet's recommendation (Pascual-Leone and Bovet 1966) that testing situations should be such as to discourage solutions not based on a solid and generalised operational system would rule out false positives, but not the possibly more interesting cases of false negatives; and it must be noted that their recommendations have not been generally applied. The tests used in this study were chosen with some care as being the best possible revealers of Piagetian structures and stages. Their almost total failure to make manifest such entities may be attributed either to faults in testing, or to faults in the test, or to the non-existence of generalised stages and structuresd'ensemble. Where, as in this study, testing procedures and test materials conformed as closely as possible to the Piagetian paradigms the third possibility must be considered seriously.

In Steiner's paper (Steiner 1974) the point is also made that the experimental situation is inevitably a social one. "The Piagetian clinical interview is itself a source of some ambiguity, however, since it has not been carefully analysed in relation to the character of the information conveyed to the child through the form of the questions asked, their order, the vocabulary content of the messages, the rule-ordered properties of the organisation of inquiry as well as the organisation represented in the materials themselves" (ibid.). Besides these prestructurings by the experimenter there are the ideas about testing situations brought to the interaction by the child: he may be more or less confident, more or less used to being asked what often are or appear to be anomalous questions, and his powers of generalisation will depend on his pre-existing categorisation system. The child's experience may also have been such as to militate against the construction of operations, as in the conservation situation where "amount" and perceptual size are believed to co-vary as they have in most of the quantitative judgments which the child has made or observed in the past. The child's imitation of adults' judgments, occluding his basic concept of invariance, would perhaps account in part for such phenomena as the behavioural weight conservation in infants demonstrated by Mounond and Bower (Bower 1974) which vanishes when the child starts to make verbal judgments, and for Bryant's paradox of children's alternative and incompatible strategies for judging number (Bryant 1974). A similarly experience-based expectation

that the two objects of a comparison will be different entities would lead to the sort of confusion of performance manifested in the class inclusion task.

It would be dangerous and foolish to suppose that the young child or infant has the essential capacities to cope with all the intellectual problems of his world but is thrown off a successful course by the confused teaching situations and miscues of language and behaviour provided by the adults around him. The child is limited by ignorance of the critical variables, by lack of experience from which to generalise, by syntax and vocabulary less practised and fluid than the adult's, by limitations of memory and of processing capacity (Pascual-Leone 1970, Case 1972, 1974), by poorer combinations of the constituents of skills (Carey 1974), and, doubtless, by the as yet incomplete myelinisation of his central nervous system. He is also very open to social pressures, to agreement with the tester or parrotting of the latest part of his question, and to the need to "get it right". Children show considerable skill in picking up the responses desired by the adult in question, and are anxious for his approval. A complete picture of cognitive development must take account of all these factors.

There has begun to be a feeling amongst psychologists working on cognitive development that Piaget made a serious error in excluding from his analysis of the thought of middle-childhood consideration of children's memory and processing capacities and social interactions and expectations. His abstract and generalised model of the child, while a considerable intellectual achievement, is found inadequate for psychological purposes precisely as it lacks the coping qualities of the real child. From this perspective, the logico-mathematical structures model, with its emphasis on all-or-none development and the sudden composition of structures-d'ensemble, appears to be an unnecessary self-handicap. We have no particular reason (beyond wishful thinking) to believe that the intellectual processes of children, or indeed adults (Wason and Johnson-Laird 1972), have as much system and structure as Piaget, with his strong bent towards symmetry and order, has suggested. "What we are suggesting is that an accurate picture of intellectual life in this period (concrete operations) would probably show a somewhat lower order of organisation, a somewhat looser clustering of operations, in short, a somewhat less strong and less neat system than Piaget's grouping theory postulates." (Flavell 1963, p. 438) This is certainly the sort of picture revealed by the data of this study.

## 6.7.1. Intelligence

Raven's Coloured Progressive Matrices and the Crichton Vocabulary Test were administered to the subject's on the first testing. Standardisation of the scores according to the norms and percentiles given in the manual gave rise in both cases to highly negatively skewed distributions. This was interpreted as reflecting either the above average intelligence of the children of NW1 or systematic bias on the part of the tester. The percentile scores and an IQ estimate derived from them were thus used in the analysis. Very recently however data from a large scale survey by the ILEA Research and Statistics group (Woods n.d.) has revealed that Raven's standardisation may be at fault rather than either sampling or testing in this study. There are large discrepancies between percentile positions for the London and Dumfries samples; London children have to score 6+ more points to be in the 95th, 90th or 75th percentiles, and 2+ less to be in the 5th percentile. The sample in this study is, by ILEA standards, "normal".

For the whole sample, mental age was as good a predictor of performance on the Piagetian tests as chronological age, but neither the standardised intelligence test scores nor the I.Q. estimate correlated significantly with the Piagetian tests. Within groups limited to an age range of one year, none of the intelligence tests were good predictors of performance; X<sup>2</sup> tests on children in the 50% success rate age groups for each test revealed a significant association between intelligence and success only in the cases of the

## Glossary

- <u>Accommodation</u> the process whereby the organism modifies its functioning to fit the specific features of the object with which it is concerned; the application of a general structure to a particular situation. Accommodation to a new situation leads to the differentiation of a previous structure and thus to the emergence of new structures. The counterpart of assimilation.
- <u>Adaptation</u> a balanced state of a biological organism within its environment, the general name of the process by which such a state is achieved and maintained. It occurs whenever an organism-environment interaction has the effect of modifying the organism in such a way that further interchanges are more likely to be favourable to the preservation of the organism. Equilibration between accommodation and assimilation.
- <u>Assimilation</u> the process whereby the organism interprets elements in the environment only in such a way that they can be incorporated in the structure of the organism; the construing of reality in terms of the prior state of understanding. The counterpart of accommodation.
- <u>Associativity</u> a property of algebraic groups; the order of combination of elements does not affect the result e.g. (A + B) + C = A + (B + C).

<u>Compensation</u> - a form of reversibility by reciprocity, particularly evident in conservation; thus the increased length and decreased width of the ball transformed into a sausage compensate for each other.

<u>Composition</u> - a property of algebraic groups; the product which results from combining any element with any other by means of a defining operation of the group is itself an element in the system. e.g. 1 + 2 = 3 (1, 2 are elements of the group of real numbers, + is a defining operation of that group; 3 is also an element of the group)

- <u>Concrete operations</u> the characteristic form of thought of the first stage of operational thought. The structural basis of this stage is modelled by the groupings (q.v.); their application is limited to real (concrete) objects.
- <u>Conservation</u> the maintenance of the identity (object constancy) or of the quantitative aspects of an object despite changes on its appearance. The subordination of the perceived state of the object to understanding of its transformations.
- <u>Decalage</u> horizontal repetition within the same general level of functioning; the timelag between the successive applications of a given cognitive structure to two or more different contents, e.g. the conservation of mass and of weight.

- <u>Decalage</u> vertical repetition at different levels of functioning; the application of different cognitive structures to the same content e.g. object constancy and the coordination of perspectives of a single object.
- <u>Empiricism</u> the philosophical system which holds that all knowledge including logically necessity has its sufficient cause in experience and induction from the information of the senses.
- <u>Epistemology</u> the theory of knowledge; traditionally a branch of philosophical inquiry but regarded by Piaget as open to scientific psychological investigation. Thence genetic epistemology, the study of the development of knowledge.
- <u>Equilibration</u> the internal regulatory process underlying all biological organisation and manifested throughout life, particularly in intelligence; it gives rise to a series of Equilibrium states i.e. organised systems of actions. The equilibration model provides a basic continuity between different cognitive levels and subsumes conventional interpretations of change mechanisms such as maturation and learning.

- <u>Formal operations</u> the characteristic form of thought of the final stage of operational thought. The basis of this stage is an integrated lattice-group structure used for interpropositional operations and a set of formal-operational schemas, e.g. the notions of proportions, probability etc. Formal operations give rise to propositional and hypothetico-deductive thought.
- <u>Group</u> an algebraic structure or system consisting of a specified set of elements and operations and having the properties of Composition, Associativity, Identity and Reversibility, e.g. the set of positive integers.
- <u>Groupings</u> the characteristic structures of the concrete operations period; hybrid logico-algebraic structures possessing properties of both mathematical groups and lattices.
- <u>Homeorhesis</u> Processus diachronique reglant un ensemble d'interactions fonctionnelles entre l'ontogenese du systeme nerveux et les incitations du milieu. L'homeorhesis rend possible l'homeostasis en tant qu'equilibre structural. (Inhelder, Bovet and Sinclair 1974).
- <u>Identity</u> a property of algebraic groups; the set of elements constituting the group contains one and only one element, called the identity element, which combined with any other group element leaves that element unchanged.

<u>Induction</u> - reasoning from particular cases to general conclusions, a logically invalid procedure because although "all past futures have resembled past pasts it does not follow that all future futures will resemble future pasts." (Magee 1973) A very common psychological procedure however.

- <u>Intelligence</u> the co-ordination of orhanisation and adaptation (assimilation and accommodation), biologically rooted and expressed in the functioning of structures.
- <u>Invariants, functional</u> Assimilation and Accommodation. So-called because they function throughout the life span.
- Lattice a logico-algebraic structure consisting of a set of elements and a relation such that any two elements have one greatest lower bound and one least upper bound, e.g. class hierarchies.
- Learning the acquisition of knowledge; for Piaget it requires a theoretically prior interior structure of equilibration which provides the capacity to learn and the structuring of the learning process. Training in the absence of at least part-formed structures results in uncoordinated assimilation and isolated structures; in considering the results of training interventions "learning" is used in a pejorative sense and corresponds only to the lowliest types of learning as normally considered by psychologists (cf. Gagne 1965).

Learning - Apprentissage sens strict: acquisition en fonction de l'experience, se deroulant dans le temps. Apprentissage sens large: union des apprentissages sens strict et des processus d'equilibration Inhelder, Bovet and Sinclair 1974, p. 294 (Piaget 1959).

- Logic the formalised system describing thought. Logical systems derive from cognitive processes not vice versa; thus logical systems differ at different genetic levels.
- <u>Maturation</u> biological changes as a function of the increasing age of the organism, often considered as determinants of development but for Piaget subsumed by equilibration.
- <u>Operation</u> a cognitive act which is an integral part of an organised network of related acts and is therefore reversible; the characteristic generalisable action of mature intelligence.

<u>Operativity</u> - the generalisable structuring aspect of all intelligence.

<u>Organisation</u> - a functional invariant of biological existence, but of somewhat different nature at different stages of development; always a totality relating its different elements and having intrinsic regulatory mechanisms. <u>Preoperational</u> - relating to the preparatory part of the concrete operational stage of intelligence, when representative thought begins but is still egocentric, unstable, irreversible and centred on perceptual features and static configurations.

- <u>Reversibility</u> the criterion of operational structure; the possibility of performing a given action in a reversed direction. It has two main forms, negation or inversion, where the inverse operation cancels out the direct operation (e.g. + A - A = 0), and reciprocity, where the reciprocal and the direct operation result in an equivalence (e.g. if A < Bthen B > A).
- <u>Stages</u> successive developmental periods of intelligence characterised by a stable general structure resynthesizing earlier structures.
- <u>Structures</u> the organisational properties of intelligence constructed through functioning and mediating between the functional invariants and changing behavioural contents.
- <u>Structures-d'ensemble</u> the integrated whole defining a stage, a system of highly interdependent structures, e.g. the concrete-operational groupings, the formal operations (Identity, Negation, Reciprocal, Correlative) group of transformations.

## References

- AHR, P.R. and YOUNISS, J. (1970) "Reasons for failure on the class inclusion problem". Child Development, v 41, 131-43.
- ALMY, M., CHITTENDEN, E. and MILLER, P. (1967) "Young children's thinking; Studies of some aspects of Piaget's theory". NY: Columbia Teacher's College Press.
- ALMY, M., CHITTENDEN, E. and MILLER, P. (1970) "Logical Thinking in the second grade"

N.Y: Columbia Teacher's College Press.

ANNETT, M. (1959) "The classification of instances of 4 common class concepts by children and adults". British Journal of Educational Psychology, v.29, p. 223-233.

- BAKER, I. (1972) "Memory and Transitive Inferences in Young Children: A Follow-up to Bryant and Trabasso". Unpublished paper, Bedford College, University of London.
  BALTES, P.B. and REINERT, G. (1969) "Cohort effects in cognitive development of children as revealed by X-sectional sequences". Developmental Psychology v. 1. p. 169-177.
- BEARD, R.M. (1957) "An Investigation of concept formation among infant school children". Unpublished Ph.D. thesis, London University.
- BEARD, R.M. (1963) "The order of concept development: studies in two fields". Educational Review, v. 15, pt. 2, 105-117, v. 15, pt. 3, 228-237.

BEARD, R.M. (1969) "An Outline of Piaget's Developmental Psychology for Students and Teachers". London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.

BEARISON, D.J. (1969) "Role of Measurement Operations in the Acquisition of Conversation". Developmental Psychology, v. 1, No.6, p. 653-660.

- BEILIN, H. (1965) "Learning and operational convergence in logical thought development". Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, v. 2, p. 317-339.
- BERLYNE, D.E. (1965) "Structure and Direction in Thinking" New York: Wiley.
- BERRY, J.W. and DASEN, P.R. (1974) "Culture and Cognition" London: Methuen.
- BERZONSKY, M.D. (1971) "The interdependence of Inhelder and Piaget's model of logical thinking". Developmental Psychology, v. 4, No. 3, p. 469-476.
- BETH, W.E., MAYS, W. and PIAGET, J. (1957) "Epistemologie genetique et recherche psychologique". Etudes d'epistemologie genetique. Vol. 1. Paris: P.U.F.
- BITTNER, A.C. and SHINEDLING, M.M. (1968) "A methodological investigation of Piaget's concept of conservation of substance". Genetic Psychology Monographs, v. 77, p. 135-163.
- BLANK, M. (1975) "Eliciting Verbalisation from Young Children in Experimental Tasks: A Methodological Note" Child Development, v. 46 (1) p. 254-257.

BOERSMA, F.J. and WILTON, K.M. (1974) "Eye movements and Conservation Acceleration". Journal of Experimental Child Psychology. v. 17, p. 49-60.

Merrill Palmer Quarterly, v. 20, No. 4. BOWER, T.G.R. (1974b) "Development in Infancy"

BOWER, T.G.R. (1974a) "Repetition in Human Development"

W.H. Freeman & Co.,

BRAINE, M.D.S. (1959) "The Ontogeny of Certain Logical Operations: Piaget's Formulation Examined by Nonverbal Methods". Psychological Monographs, No. 475.

BRAINERD, C.J. (1970) "Continuity and discontinuity hypotheses in studies of conservation" Developmental Psychology, v. 3, p. 225-8.

BRAINERD, C.J. (1973) "Judgments and explanations as criteria for the presence of cognitive structures" Psychological Bulletin, v. 79, p. 172-179.

BRAINERD, C.J. (1973d) "The consequences of criterion errors in concept development research" Unpublished manuscript, University of Alberta.
BRAINERD, C.J. (1973s) "The Role of Structures in explaining cognitive development". Paper presented as part of symposium "Cognitive Development through Life: Research based on the Piagetian System" at the biannual meeting of the International Society for the Study of Behavioural Development, Ann. Arbor., Michigan, August 1973. BRAINERD, C.J. (1974) "The concept of structure in cognitive-developmental theory". Paper presented as part of symposium "Structural Psychology: Indications of convergence towards a new paradigm" 82nd Annual convention, American Psychological Association, New Orleans, August 1974.

BRAINERD, C.J. and ALLEN, T.W. (1971) "Experimental inductions of the conservation of "first-order" quantitative invariants". Psychological Bulletin,

BRODZINSKY, D.M., JACKSON, J.P. and OVERTON, W.F.(1972) "Effects of perceptual shielding in the development of spatial perspectives". Child Development,

v. 43 (3) p. 1041-46.

v. 75, p. 128-144.

BRUNER, J.S. (1964) "The course of cognitive growth" American Psychologist, v. 19 (1) p. 1-15.

BRUNER, J.S., OLVER, R., GREENFIELD, P.M. et al. (1966) "Studies in Cognitive growth". New York: Wiley.

BRYANT, P.E. (1971) "Cognitive Development" British Medical Bulletin, v. 27, No. 3, p. 200-205.

- BRYANT, P.E. (1972) "The understanding of invariance by very young children" Canadian Journal of Psychology, v. 26, p. 78-95.
- BRYANT, P.E. (1974) "Perception and Understanding in Young Children" London: Methuen.
- BRYANT, P.E. and TRABASSO, T. (1971) "Transitive inferences and memory in young children". Nature 232 p. 456-8.

CALVERT, W.M. (1972) "A "short-term" longitudinal study. The development of classificatory behaviour in children at the pre-operational and concrete operational stages". Unpublished M.Ed. thesis, Birmingham University.

CAREY, S. (1974) "Cognitive Competence" in Connolly, K.J. and Bruner, J.S. "The Growth of Competence" p. 169-193. Academic Press, London and New York.

CARPENTER, T.E. (1955) "A pilot study for a qualitative investigation of J. Piaget's original work on concept formation". Educational Review, v. 7, p. 142-149.

interpretation". Human Development, v. 15, p. 339-58. CASE, R. (1972b) "Validation of a neo Piagetian capacity construct". Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, v. 14, p. 287-302.

CASE, R. (1972a) "Learning and developments a neo-Piagetian

CASE, R. (1974) "Mental Strategies, Mental Capacity and Instruction: a neo Piagetian Investigation". Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, v. 18 (3) p. 382-97.

CATHCART, W.G. (1971) "The relation between primary students' rationalization of conservation and their mathematical achievement". Child Development, v. 42, p. 755-765.
CELLERIER, G. (1972) "Information-Processing Tendencies in Recent Experiments in Cognitive Learning - Theoretical Implications" in Farnham-Diggory, S. (ed.) "Information Processing in Children" Chapter 6B p. 115-125, Academic Press: New York. COHEN, G.M. (1967) "Conservation of quantity in children: the effects of vocabulary and participation". Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology, v. 19, p. 150-154.

CORBALLIS, M.C. and BEALE, I.L. (1970) "Bilateral symmetry and behaviour". Psychological Review, v. 77, p. 451.

CORBALLIS, M.C. and BEALE, I.L. (1971) "On telling left from right". Scientific American, 224.

COX, M.V. (1975) "The Other Observer in a Perspectives Task". British Journal of Educational Psychology, v. 45, pt. 1. p. 83-85.

CUNNINGHAM, M. (1972) "Intelligence: Its Organisation and Development". Academic Press: New York.

- CURCIO, F., KATTEF, E., LEVINE, D. and ROBBINS, O. (1972) "Compensation and Susceptibility to Conservation training". Developmental Psychology, V. 7, No. 3, p. 259-265.
- DANZIGER, K. (1957) "The Child's Understanding of Kinship terms: A study in the development of relational concepts". Journal of Genetic Psychology, v. 91, p. 213-232.

DEVRIES, R. (1974) "Relationships between Piagetian, I.Q. and Achievement Assessments". Child Development, v. 45 (3) p. 746-756.

DIXON, W.J. (ed.) (1971) "BMD: Biomedical Computer Programs" Berkeley: Univ. of California Press. DOCKRELL, W.R. (1970) "On Intelligence" The Toronto Symposium on Intelligence. Methuen: London.

DODWELL, P.C. (1963) "Children's understanding of spatial concepts". Canadian Journal of Psychology. v. 17, p. 141-161.

DONALDSON, M. and BALFOUR, G. (1968) "Less is more: a study of language comprehension in children" British Journal of Psychology, v. 59 (4) p. 461-71. DONALDSON, M. and McGARRIGLE, J. (1974) "Some clues to

the nature of semantic development"

Journal of Child Language, v. 1. (2) p. 185-194. DUDEK, S.Z., LESTER, E.P. and GOLDBERG, J.S. (1969) "Relationship of Piaget's measures to standard

intelligence and motor scales".

Perceptual & Motor Skills, v. 28, p. 351-362. ELKIND, D. (1961a) "The development of quantitative

thinking: a systematic replication of Piaget's

studies". Journal of Genetic Psychology, v. 98, p.37-46. ELKIND, D. (1961b) "Children's discovery of the Conservation

of M, W and V: Piaget's Replication Study II"

Journal of Genetic Psychology, v. 98, p. 219-227. ELKIND, D. (1961c) "The development of the additive composition of classes in the child: Piaget's Replication Study III". Journal of Genetic Psychology, v. 99, p. 51-57.

ELKIND, D. (1961d) "Conceptions of right and left: Piaget's Replication Study IV". Journal of Genetic Psychology, v. 99, p. 269-276. ELKIND, D. (1961e) "Quantity conceptions on junior and senior high school students". Child Development, v. 32, p. 551-560.

ELKIND, D. (1962a) "Quantity conceptions in college students. Journal of Social Psychology, v. 57, p. 459-465.

ELKIND, D. (1962b) "Children's conceptions of brother and sister: Piaget's replication study V".

Journal of Genetic Psychology, v. 100, p. 129-136. ELKIND, D. (1966) "Conservation across illusory transformations in young children". Acta Psychologia, v. 25, p. 389-400.

ELKIND, D. (1967) "Piaget's conservation problems" Child Development, v. 38, p. 15-28.

ELKIND, D. (1969) "Piagetian and psychometic conceptions of intelligence". Harvard Educational Review,

v. 39 (2) p. 319-37.

ELKIND, D. and FLAVELL, J.H. (eds.) (1969) "Studies in cognitive development: essays in honor of Jean

Piaget". Oxford University Press.

ELKIND, D. and SCHOENFELD, E. (1972) "Identity and equivalence conservation at two age levels"

Developmental Psychology, v. 6 (3) p. 529-533. FARNHAM-DIGGORY, S. (ed.) (1972) "Information-Processing

in Children". Academic Press, New York and London. FEIGENBAUM, K.D. (1971) "A pilot investigation of the

effects of training techniques designed to accelerate children's acquisition of conservation of discontinuous quantity". Journal of Genetic Psychology, v. 119, p. 13-23. FELDMAN, S.S. (1972) "Children's Understanding of Negation as a logical operation". Genetic Psychology Monographs, v. 85, p. 3-49.

FISHBEIN, H.D., LEWIS, S. and KEIFFER, K. (1972) "Children's understanding of spatial relations: co-ordination of perspectives".

Developmental Psychology, v. 7 (1) p. 21-33. FLAVELL, J.H. (1963) "The Developmental Psychology

of Jean Piaget". New York: Van Nostrand. FLAVELL, J.H. (1971) "Concept Development" in

Carmichael's Manual of Child Psychology ed. Mussen p. 983-1059.

FLAVELL, J.H. et al. (1968) "The Development of roletaking and communication skills in children" New York: Wiley.

FLEISCHMAN, B., GIIMORE, S. and GINSBURG, H. (1966) "The Strength of Non-conservation"

Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, v. 4, p. 353-368.

FOGEIMAN, K.R. (1969) "Difficulties of using Piagetian tests in the classroom - I". Educational Research, v. 12 (1) p. 36-40.

FOGELMAN, K.R. (1970a) "Piagetian tests and sex differences

II". Educational Research, v. 12, p. 154-155.

FOGELMAN, K.R. (1970b) Piagetian tests for the Primary

school". National Foundation for Educational Research,
Slough.

FRAISSE, P. and PIAGET, J. (eds.) (1969) "Experimental Psychology: Its Scope and Method VII Intelligence" London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.

FREYBERG, P.S. (1966a) "Stages in cognitive development general or specific?" New Zealand Journal of Educational Studies. v. 1, p. 64-77.

FREYBERG, P.S. (1966b) "Concept development on Piaget terms in relation to school attainment".

Journal of Educational Psychology, v. 57, p. 164-168. FURTH, H.G. (1964) "Conservation of weight in deaf

and hearing children". Child Development, v. 35, p. 143-150.

FURTH, H.G. (1969) "Piaget and Knowledge: theoretical foundations". London: Prentice-Hall International Inc. GAGNE, R.M. (1965) "The Conditions of Learning"

New York: Holt, Rinehart & Winston. GARNER, J. and PLANT, E.L. (1972) "On the measurement of egocentrism: a replication and extension of Aebli's findings". British Journal of Educational Psychology, v. 42, p. 79-83.

GELMAN, R. (1969) "Conservation acquisition: a problem of learning to attend to relevant attribues".

Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, v. 7, p.167-187. GELMAN, R. (1972) "The Nature and development of early number concepts", in Advances in Child Development and Behaviour, vol. 7, ed. Lipsitt and Spiker.

GELMAN, R. and TUCKER, M.F. (1975) "Further Investigations of the Young Child's Conception of Number" Child Development, v. 46 (1) p. 167-175.

GESELL, A. (1945) "The embryology of behaviour: the

- beginnings of the human mind". New York: Harper. GESELL, A. (1954) "The ontogenesis of infant behaviour" in L. Carmichael (ed.) Manual of Child Psychology, New York: Wiley.
- GIBSON, E.J. and OLUM, V. (1960) "Experimental methods of studying perception in children" in P.H. Mussen (ed.) Handbook of Research Methods in Child Development, New York: Wiley.
- GINSBURG, H. and OPPER, S. (1969) "Piaget's theory of Intellectual Development". Prentice-Hall.
- GOLDSCHMID, M.L. (1967) "Different types of conservation and their relation to age, sex, IQ, MA and vocabulary" Child Development, v. 38 (2) p. 1229-1246.
- GOLDSCHMID, M.L. (1968) "The relation of conservation to emotional and environmental aspects of development" Child Development, v. 39 (1) p. 579-589.
- GOLDSCHMID, M.L. (1969) "The role of experience in the rate and sequence of cognitive development". Paper given at Conference on Ordinal Scales of Cognitive Development, Monterey. Published in Green, Ford & Flamer 1971 "Measurement and Piaget" New York: McGraw-Hill.
- GOLDSCHMID, M.L. and BENTLER, P.M. (1968) "The dimensions and measurement of conservation" Child Development, v. 39, p. 787-802.

GOODNOW, J.J. (1962) "A test of milieu effects with some of Piaget's tasks". Psychological Monographs, 76 No. 36 (whole No. 555).

GOODNOW, J.J. (1972) "Social and Informational Aspects to Cognitive and Representational Development" in Farnham-Diggory S. (ed.) "Information Processing in Children", chapter 5, p. 83-102, Academic Press, New York.

GOODNOW, J.J. (1973) "Compensation arguments on conservation tasks". Developmental Psychology, v. 8 (1) p. 140.
GOODNOW, J.J. and BETHON, G. (1966) "Piaget's tasks:

the effects of schooling and intelligence" Child Development, v. 37, p. 573-582.

- GOULET, L.R. and BALTES, P.B. (1970) "Life-span Developmental Psychology: Research and Theory", New York: Academic Press.
- GREEN, B.F. (1956) "A method of scalogram analysis using summary statistics". Psychometrika, v. 21, p. 79-88.
  GREEN, D.R., FORD, M.P. and FLAMER, G.B. (1971)

"Measurement and Piaget", New York: McGraw-Hill. GRIFFITHS, J.A., SHANTZ, C.U. and SIGEL, I.E. (1967)

"A methodological problem in conservation studies, the use of relational terms". Child Development,

v. 38, p. 841-8.

GRUEN, G.E. (1965) "Experiences affecting the development of number conservation in children", Child Development, v. 36 (4) p. 963-979. GRUEN, G.E. (1966) "Note on conservation: methodological and definitional considerations". Child Development, v. 37, p. 977-983.

- GUTTMAN, L. (1950) "The basis for scalogram analysis" in S.A. Stouffer et al. "Measurement and Prediction" Princeton, N.J., Princeton Univ. Press.
- HALL, V.C. and KINGSLEY, R.C. (1968) "Conservation and equilibration theory". Journal of Genetic Psychology, v. 113, p. 195-213.

HALL, V.C. and SIMPSON, G.J. (1968) "Factors influencing extinction of weight conservation". Merrill Palmer Quarterly, v. 14, p. 197-210.

HALPERN, E. (1965) "The effects of incompatibility between Perception and Logic in Piaget's stage of concrete operations". Child Development, v. 36, p. 491-7.
HAMEL, B.R. and RIKSEN, B.O.M. (1973) "Identity,

Reversibility, Verbal Rule Instruction and Conservation" Developmental Psychology, v. 9, p. 66-72.

HARASYM, C.R., BOERSMA, F.J. and MAGUIRE, T.O. (1971)

"Semantic differential analysis of relational terms used in conservation. Child Development, v. 42,

p. 767-79.

HARRIS, L.J. (1972) "Discrimination of left and right, and development of the logic of relations".

Merrill Palmer Quarterly, v. 18, No. 4, p. 307-320. HAVILAND, S.E. and CLARK, E.V. (1974) "This man's father

is my father's son: a study of the acquisition of English kin terms". Journal of Child Language, v. 1, p. 23-47.

HOOPER, F.H. (1969) "Piaget's conservation tasks: the logical and developmental priority of identity conservation". Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, v. 8. p. 234-249.

- HOOPER, F.H. (1973) "Cognitive Assessment across the Life-span: Methodological Implications of the Organismic Approach" in Nesselroade and Reese op. cit. ch. 14.
- HUNT, J. McV. (1961) "Intelligence and Experience" New York: Ronald Press.
- HUNT, J. McV. (1963) "Intrinsic motivation and its role in psychological development" in Levine (ed.) Nebraska Symposium on motivation, p. 189-282.
- HUNT, J. McV. (1969) "The impact and limitations of the giant of developmental psychology" in Elkind and Flavell op. cit.
- HYDE, D.M. (1959) "An investigation of Piaget's theories of the concept of number". Ph.D. dissertation, University of London.
- HYDE, D.M. (1970) "Piaget and Conceptual Development" London: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- INHELDER, B. (1956) "Criteria of stages of mental development" in Tanner, J.M. and Inhelder, B. (eds.) "Discussions on Child Development" vol. 1. London: Tavistock Publications. INHELDER, B. (1962) "Some aspects of Piaget's genetic approach to cognition" in Kessen, W. and Kuhlman C, (eds.) "Thought in the Young Child", Society for Research in Child Development Monographs, 27 (2) Ser. No. 83, p. 19-34.

INHELDER, B. (1972) "Information-processing Tendencies

in Recent Experiments in Cognitive Learning -Empirical Studies" in Farnham-Diggory, S. (ed.) "Information-Processing in Children", Chapter 6A p. 103-114, Academic Press: New York.

INHELDER, B. and PIAGET, J. (1958) "The Growth of logical thinking from childhood to adolescence". London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.

INHELDER, B., SINCLAIR, H. and BOVET, M. (1974)

"Apprentissage et structures de la connaisance"

Presses universitaires de France.

JACOBS, P.I. and VANDEVENTER, M. (1971) "The learning and transfer of Double Classification Skills by First graders". Child Development, v. 42, p. 149-59. JAHODA, G. (1964) "Children's concepts of nationality:

a critical study of Piaget's stages".

Child Development, v. 35, p. 1081-1092. KAGAN, J. (1967) "On the need for relativism".

American Psychologist, v. 22, p. 131-142. KAUFMAN, A.S. (1971) "Piaget and Gesell: A psychometric analysis of tests built from their tasks" Child Development, v. 42, p. 1341-60.

KAUFMAN, A.S. and KAUFMAN, N.L. (1972) "Tests built from Piaget's and Gesell's tasks as predictors of 1st grade achievement". Child Development, v. 43, p. 521-535. KEASEY, C.T. and CHARLES, D.C. (1967) "Conservation of substance in normal and mentally retarded children" Journal of Genetic Psychology, v. 111, p. 271-279.
KESSEN, W. (1962) "Stage and structure in the study of

children". Society for Research in Child Development, vol. 27 (2, whole no 103) p. 65-86.

KESSEN, W. (1966) "The concept of development"

(ed. Stevenson, H.W.) Society for Research in Child Development, vol. 31 (5, whole no 107), p. 55-70. KESSEN, W. (1960) "Research design in the study of

developmental problems" in P. Mussen (ed.) "Handbook of Research Methods in Child Development". New York: Wiley.

KESSEN, W. and KUHLMAN, C. (eds.) (1962) "Thought in the Young Child". Monog. Society for Research in Child Development, 27 (2) Ser. No. 83.

KINGSLEY, R.C. and HALL, V.C. (1967) "Training conservation through the use of learning sets". Child Development, v. 38, p. 1111-1126.

KLAHR, D. and WALLACE, J.G. (1970) "An Informationprocessing analysis of some Piagetian Experimental

tasks". Cognitive Psychology, v. 1, p. 358-387.

KLAHR, D. and WALLACE, J.G. (1972) "Class Inclusion Processes"

in Farnham-Diggory, S. (ed.) "Information-Processing

in Children", p. 144-175.

KOFSKY, E. (1966) "A scalogram study of classificatory development". Child Development, v. 37 (1), p. 191-204. KOFSKY, E. and OSLER, S.F. (1967) "Free classification

in children". Child Development, v. 38, p. 927-37. KOHLBERG, L. (1968) "Early Education: A cognitive-

developmental view". Child Development, v. 39,

p. 1014-1062.

KOHNSTAMM, G.A. (1968) "Piaget's Analysis of Class Inclusion: Right or Wrong?" The Hague and Paris: Mouton & Co.

KUHN, D. (1972) "Mechanisms of Change in the development of cognitive structures". Child Development, v. 43, p. 833-844.

LASRY, J.C. (1966) "Enseignment operatoire de la notion d'inclusion". Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Montreal University, (cited in Kohnstamm 1968).
LAURENDEAU, M. and PINARD, A. (1962) "Gausal Thinking

in the Child". New York: International Universities Press.

LAURENDEAU, M. and PINARD, A. (1970) "The Development of the Concept of Space in the Child. International Universities Press: New York.

LAWSON, G., BARON, J. and SIEGEL, L. (1974) "The role of no. and length cues in children's quantitative judgments". Child Development, v. 45 (3) p. 731-736.

LEE, L.C. (1971) "The concomitant development of cognitive and moral modes of thought". Genetic Psychology Monographs, v. 83, pt. no 2, p. 93-147.

LEFRANCOIS, G. (1968) "A treatment hierarchy for the acceleration of conservation of substance". Canadian Journal of Psychology, v. 22 (4) p. 277-284. LITTLE, A. (1972) "A longitudinal study of cognitive development in young children".

Child Development, v. 43, p. 1024-1034.

LLOYD, B.B. (1971) "Studies of conservation with Yornba children of differing ages and experience".

Child Development, v. 42, p. 415-428. LOVELL, K., MITCHELL, B. and EVERETT, I.R. (1962)

"An experimental study of the growth of some logical structures". British Journal of Psychology, v. 53, p. 175-188.

- LOVELL, K. and OGILVIE, E. (1960) "A study of the conservation of substance in the junior school child. British Journal of Educational Psychology, v. 30, p. 109-118.
- LOVELL, K. and OGILVIE, E. (1961a) "A study of the conservation of weight in the junior school child. British Journal of Educational Psychology, v. 31, p. 138-144.
- LOVELL, K. and OGILVIE, E. (1961b) "A study of the conservation of volume in the junior school child. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, v. 2, p. 118-126.
- LUNZER, E.A. (1965) "Problems of formal reasoning in test situations". Society for Research in Child Development, vol. 30, 2, p. 19-46.
- LUNZER, E.A. (1960) "Some points of Piagetian theory in the light of experimental criticism". Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, v. 1. p. 191-202.

MACKAY, C., FRASER, J. and ROSS, I. (1970)

"Matrices, 3 by 3: Classification and Seriation"

Child Development, v. 41, p. 787-797.

MAGEE, B. (1973) "Popper", Collins : London.

MERMELSTEIN, E. and SHULMAN, L.S. (1967) "Lack of formal

schooling and the acquisition of conservation"

Child Development, v. 38, p. 39-52.

MILLER, G.A., GALANTER, E. and PRIBRAM, K. (1960)

"Plans and the structure of behaviour". New York: Holt.

MILLER, S.A. (1971) "Extinction of conservation: A

methodological and theoretical analysis"

Merrill Palmer Quarterly, v. 17, p. 319-334.

MILLER, S.A. (1973) "Contradiction, surprise and cognitive change: the effect of disconfirmation of belief on conservers and non-conservers". Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, v. 15, p. 47-62.

MILLER, S.A., SCHWARTZ, L.C. and STEWART, C. (1973) "An attempt to extinguish conservation of weight in college students". Developmental Psychology, v. 8, 2, p. 316.

MISCHEL, T. (ed.) (1971) "Cognitive Development and Epistemology". Academic Press, New York.

MODGIL, S. (1974) "Piagetian Research: A Handbook of Recent Studies. National Foundation for Educational Research.
MOYNAHAN, E. and GLICK, J. (1972) "The relation between identity conservation and equivalence conservation within four conceptual domains". Developmental Psychology, v. 6 (2) p. 247-251. MURRAY, F.B. (1970) "Stimulus mode and the conservation of weight and number". Journal of Educational Psychology, v. 61 (4) p. 287-291.

- MURRAY, F.B. and JOHNSON, P.E. (1969) "Reversibility in non-conservation of weight". Psychonomic Science, v. 16 (6) p. 285-287.
- MUSSEN, P. (ed.) (1960) "Handbook of research methods in Child Development". New York: Wiley.

MUSSEN, P. (ed.) (1970) "Carmichael's Manual of Child Psychology", 3rd edition, New York: Wiley.

- MUSSEN, P.H., LANGER, J. and COVINGTON, M. (eds.) (1969) "Trends and issues in developmental psychology" New York: Holt.
- NASSEFAT, M. (1963) "Etude quantitative sur l'evolution des operations intellectuelles". Neuchatel: Delachaux and Niestle.
- NESSELROADE, J.R. and REESE, H.W. (1973) "Life-span Developmental Psychology: Methodological Issues" New York: Academic Press.
- NUMMEDAL, S.G. and MURRAY, F.B. (1969) "Semantic factors in conservation of weight". Psychonomic Science, v. 16, p. 323-324.
- O'BRYAN, K.G. and BOERSMA, F.J. (1971) "Eye movements, perceptual activity and conservation development" Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, v. 21, p. 151-169.
- O'BRYAN, K.G. and BOERSMA, F.J. (1972) "Movie presentation of Piagetian tasks: a procedure for the assessment of conservation attainment". Journal of Genetic Psychology, v. 121, p. 295-302.
- OLVER, R.R. and HORNSBY, J.R. (1966) "On Equivalence" in Bruner J.S., Olver, R.R. and Greenfield, P.M. "Studies in Cognitive Growth". New York: Wiley.
- OSTERREITH, P.A. et al. (1956) "Le Probleme des Stades en Psychologie de l'enfant". Paris: Presses Univ. de France.
- OVERTON, W.F. and BRODZINSKY, D. (1972) "Perceptual and logical factors in the development of multiplicative classification". Developmental Psychology, v. 6, p. 104-109.
- OVERTON, W.F. and JORDAN, R. (1971) "Stimulus preference and multiplicative classification in children" Developmental Psychology, v. 5 (3) p. 505-10. OVERTON, W.F., WAGNER, J. and DOLINSKY, H. (1971)
  - "Social Class Differences and task variables on the development of multiplicative classification" Child Development, v. 42, p. 1951-58.
- PALERMO, D.S. (1973) "More about less: a study of language comprehension". Journal of Verbal Learning and Verbal Behaviour. v. 12, p. 211-221.
- PARKER, D.J. and DAY, M.C. (1971) "The use of perceptual functional and abstract attributes in multiple classification". Developmental Psychology, v. 5, no. 2, p. 312-9.

PASCUAL-LEONE, J. (1970) "A mathematical model for the transition rule in Piaget's developmental stages" Acta Psychologica, v. 63, p. 301-45.

PASCUAL-LEONE, J. and BOVET, M. (1966) "L'apprentissage de la quantification de l'inclusion et la theorie operatoire". Acta Psychologia, v. 25, p. 334-356.PASCUAL-LEONE, J. and BOVET, M. (1967) "L'apprentissage

de la quantification de l'inclusion et la theorie operatoire: Partie II 'Quelques resultats experimentaux nouveaux". Acta Psychologia, v. 26, p. 64-76.

PASCUAL-LEONE, J. and SMITH, J. (1969) "The encoding and decoding of symbols by children: A new experimental paradigm and a neo-Piagetian model".

Experimental Child Psychology, v. 8, p. 328-355. PHILEH. and KELLY, M. (1974) "Product and Process in Cognitive development: some comparative data on the performance of school age children in different cultures". British Journal of Educational Psychology, v. 44, p. 248-265.

PIAGET, J. (1926) "Judgment and Reasoning in the Child" London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.

PIAGET, J. (1952) "The Child's conception of number" London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.

PIAGET, J. (1953) "Logic and Psychology" with an introduction on Piaget's Logic by W. Mays. Manchester, Manchester University Press. PIAGET, J. (1956) "Les stades du developpement intellectual de l'enfant et de l'adolescent" in Osterrieth, P.A.

et al. "Le Probleme des stades en Psychologie de

l'enfant". Paris: Presses Univ. de France.

PIAGET, J. (1960) "The general problems of the psychobiological development of the child" in Tanner, J.M. and Inhelder, B. (eds.) "Discussions in Child

Development". vol. IV. London: Tavistock Publications. PIAGET, J. (1970) "Piaget's theory" in "Carmichael's

manual of Child Psychology", ed. Mussen 3rd edition, PIAGET, J. (1971b) "Biology and Knowledge". Edinburgh:

E.U.P.

- PIAGET, J. (1971s) "Structuralism". London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- PIAGET, J. (1971g) "The Theory of Stages in Cognitive Development" in (eds) Green, D.R., Ford, M.P. and Flanner, G.B. "Measurement and Piaget". McGraw-Hill, 1971, p. 1-11.
- PIAGET, J. (1973) "The Child and Reality", Frederick Muller: London.
- PIAGET, J. and INHELDER, B. (1956) "The Child's Conception of Space". (French edition 1948). London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- PIAGET, J. and INHELDER, B. (1964) "The Early Growth of Logic in the Child". (French edition 1959). London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- PIAGET, J. and INHELDER, B. (1969a) "Intellectual operations and their development" in (ed.) Fraisse, P. "Experimental Psychology: Scope and Method", v.7, "Intelligence", London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.

PIAGET, J. and INHELDER, B. (1969b) "The Psychology of

the Child". London: Routledge & Kegan Paul. PIAGET, J., INHELDER, B. and SZEMINSKA, A. (1960)

"The Child's Conception of Geometry". London: Routledge & Kegan Paul. (French edition 1948). PINARD, A. and LAURENDEAU, M. (1969) "'Stage' in Piaget's cognitive-developmental theory: Exegesis of a concept" in Elkind, D. and Flavell, J.H. (eds.) "Studies in Cognitive Development". Oxford University Press. PRATOOMRAJ, S. and JOHNSON, R.C. (1966) "Kinds of questions

- and types of conservation tasks as related to children's conservation responses". Child Development v. 37, p. 343-353.
- REESE, H.W. and SCHACK, M.L. (1974) "Comment on Brainerd's criteria for cognitive structures". Psychological Bulletin, v. 81, no. 1, p. 67-69.
- RAVEN, J.C. (1956) Guide to using the Coloured Progressive Matrices. London: H.K. Lewis.

ROSE, S.A. and BLANK, M. (1974) "The Potency of Context in Children's Cognition: An illustration through conservation". Child Development, v. 45, p. 499-502.
ROSENTHAL, T.L. and ZIMMERMAN, B.J. (1972a) "Modeling by exemplification and instruction in training conservation" Developmental Psychology, v. 6, p. 392-401.
ROSENTHAL, T.L. and ZIMMERMAN, B.J. (1972b) "Observational learning of rule governing behaviour by children" Psychological Bulletin, vol. 81, no.1, p. 29-42. SAMEROFF, A. (1974) "The continuum of caretaking casualty: continuities in development, fact or fancy? Unpublished paper given in a seminar at Bedford College, November 14th 1974.

SCHAIE, K.W. (1970) "A reinterpretation of age-related changes in cognitive structure and functioning" in Goulet, L.R. and Baltes, P.B. "Life-span Developmental Psychology: Research and Theory".

New York: Academic Press. SCHNALL, M., ALTER, E., SWANLUND, T. and SCHWEITZER, T.

(1972) "A sensory-motor context affecting performance in a conservation task; A closer analogue of reversibility than empirical return".

Child Development, v. 43, p. 1012-1023. SCHWEBEL, M. and RAPH, J. (1974) "Piaget in the Classroom"

London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.

SHANTZ, C.V. and SMOCK, C.D. (1966) "Development of distance conservation and the spatial coordinate

system". Child Development, v. 37 (4) p. 943-948. SHANTZ, C.V. and WATSON, J.S. (1971) "Spatial abilities

and spatial egocentrism in the young child"

Child Development, v. 42, p. 171-81.

- SHAPIRO, B.J. and O'BRIEN, T.C. (1970) "Logical thinking in children ages 6 through 13". Child Development, v. 41, p. 823-9.
- SHEPPARD, J.L. (1974) "Compensation and Combinatorial systems in the acquisition and generalisation of Conservation". Child Development, v. 45, p. 717-730.

252

SIEGEL, L.S. and GOLDSTEIN, A.G. (1969) "Conservation of Number on Young Children: Recency vs Relational Response Strategies". Developmental Psychology, v. 1, p. 128-130.

SIEGELMANN, E. and BLOCK, J. (1969) "Two parallel scalable sets of Piagetian tasks". Child Development, v. 40, p. 951-956.

SIEGLER, R.S. and LIEBERT, R.M. (1972) "Effects of Presenting Relevant Rules and Complete Feedback on the Conservation of Liquid Quantity task" Developmental Psychology, v. 7, no.2, p. 133-138.

SIGEL, I.E. (1953) "Developmental trends on the abstraction ability of children". Child Development, v. 24, p. 131-44.

SIGEL, I.E. and HOOPER, F.H. (eds.) (1968) "Logical Thinking in Children; research based on Piaget's theory". London: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
SILVERMAN, I. and SCHNEIDER, D.S. (1968) "A study of the development of conservation by a non-verbal method". Journal of Genetic Psychology, v. 112 p. 287-291.

SIMON, H.A. (1962) "An Information-Processing Theory of Intellectual Development" in Kessen, W. and Kuhlman, C. (eds.) 1962 "Though in the Young Child" Monog. Society for Research in Child Development, v.27 (2, whole no 83 p. 65-82). SINCLAIR-de-ZWART, H. (1969) "Developmental Psycholinguistics" in Elkind, D. and Flavell, J.H. "Studies in cognitive development". p. 315-336. Oxford University Press.

SMEDSLUND, J. (1961a) "The Acquisition of conservation of substance and weight in children: l. Introduction" Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, v. 2, p. 11-20.
SMEDSLUND, J. (1961b) "II External reinforcement of conservation of weight and of the operations of addition and subtraction".

Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, v. 2, p. 71-84. SMEDSLUND, J. (1961c) "III Extinction of conservation of weight acquired "normally" and by means of empirical controls in a balance".

Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, v. 2, p. 85-7. SMEDSLUND, J. (1961d) "IV Attempt at extinction of the visual components of the weight concept"

Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, v. 2, p. 153-5. SMEDSLUND, J. (1961e) "V Practice in conflict situations without external reinforcement"

Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, v. 2, p. 156-160. SMEDSLUND, J. (1961f) "VI Practice in continuous vs discontinuous material in problem situations without external reinforcement".

Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, v. 2, p. 203-210.

SMEDSLUND, J. (1962) "VII conservation of discontinuous quantity and the operations of adding up and taking away". Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, v. 3, p. 69-77.

SMEDSLUND, J. (1964) "Concrete reasoning: a study of intellectual development". Monog. Society for Research in Child Development, v. 29, no.2, p. 3-39.
SMEDSLUND, J. (1968) "Conservation and resistance to

extinction: a comment on Hall and Simpson's article" Merrill Palmer Quarterly, v. 14, no. 3.

SMEDSLUND, J. (1969) "Psychological diagnostics"

Psychological Bulletin, v. 71, p. 237-248. SMITHER, S.J., SMILEY, S.S. and REES, R. (1974)

> "The Use of Perceptual Cues for Number Judgment by young children". Child Development, v. 45, (3) p. 693-699.

STEINER, G. (1974) "On the Psychological Reality of Cognitive Structures: A Tentative Synthesis of Piaget's and Bruner's Theories".

Child Development, v. 45, p. 891-899.

- STEPHENS, B., McLAUGHLIN, J.A., MILLER, C.K. and GLASS, G.V. (1972) "Factorial structure of selected psychoeducational measures and Piagetian reasoning assessments". Developmental Psychology, v. 6, no.2, p. 343-348.
- STONE, M.A. and AUSUBEL, D.P. (1969) "The Intersituational Generality of Formal Thought". Journal of Genetic Psychology. v. 115, p. 169-180.

255

SULLIVAN, E.V. (1969) "Transition problems in conservation research". Journal of Genetic Psychology, v. 115, p. 41-54.

- TANNER, J.M. and INHELDER, B. (eds.) (1956) "Discussions in Child Development" vol. 1. London: Tavistock Publications.
- TANNER, J.M. and INHELDER, B. (eds.) (1960) "Discussions in Child Development" vol. 4. London: Tavistock Publications.

TOWLER, J.O. and WHEATLEY, G. (1971) "Conservation concepts in college students: a replication and critique" Journal of Genetic Psychology, v. 118, p. 265-270.

- TUDDENHAM, R.D. (1970) "A Piagetian test of cognitive development" in Dockrell, W.R. (ed.) "On Intelligence" London: Methuen.
- UZGIRIS, I. (1964) "Situational generality of conservation" Child Development, v. 35 p. 831-841.

VERSEY, J. (1974) "A longitudinal study of some aspects of cognitive development of primary school children" Unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of London.

- WALLACE, J.G. (1965) "Concept Growth and the Education of the Child". National Foundation for Educational Research, Slough.
- WALLACE, J.G. (1972) "Stages and Transition in Conceptual Development: An Experimental Study" National Foundation for Educational Research, Slough.

256

WASON, P.C. and JOHNSON-LAIRD, P.N. (1972)

"The Psychology of Reasoning". London: Batsford.

WEI, T.T.D., LAVATELLI, C. and JONES, R.S. (1971) "Piaget's concept of classification: A comparative study of socially disadvantaged and middle class young children". Child Development, v. 42, p.919-927. WEINREB, N. and BRAINERD, C.J. (1975) "A developmental

study of Piaget's groupement model of the emergence of speed and time concepts". Child Development, v. 46 (in press).

WERNER, H. (1937) "Process and Achievement - A basic problem of education and developmental psychology" Harvard Educational Review, v. 7, p. 353-368.

WERNER, H. (1948) "Comparative Psychology of Mental development". New York: I.U.P.

- WHITE, S.H. (1965) "Evidence for a hierarchical arrangement of learning processes". (eds.) Lipsitt, L.P. and Spiker, C.C. Advances in Child Development and Behaviour. vol. 2.
- WHITE, S.H. (1970) "The learning theory tradition and Child Psychology" in Mussen, P. (ed.) "Carmichael's Manual of Child Psychology" (3rd edition), vol. 1, p. 657-701.
- WINKELMANN, W. (1974) "Factorial Analysis of Children's Conservation Task Performance". Child Development vol. 45, no. 3, p. 843-848.

WOHLWILL, J.F. (1960) "A study of the development of

the number concept by scalogram analysis"

Journal of Genetic Psychology, v. 97, p. 345-377. WOHLWILL, J.F. (1963) "Piaget's system as a source of empirical research". Merrill Palmer Quarterly, v. 4, p. 253-262.

WOHLWILL, J.F. (1966) "Piaget's theory of the development of intelligence in the concrete-operations period" American Journal of Mental Deficiency, v. 70, p.57-105. WOHLWILL, J.F. (1968) "Children's responses to class-

inclusion questions with verbally and pictorially presented items". Child Development, v. 39, p.449-66. WOHLWILL, J.F. (1970) "Methodology and research strategy

in the study of developmental change", in Goulet and Baltes op. cit.

WOHLWILL, J.F. and LOWE, R.C. (1962) "Experimental analysis of the development of the conservation of number" Child Development, v. 33, p. 153-167.

WOODS, J. ( ) "Raven's Coloured and Standard Progressive Matrices: some unexpected findings on their application to two large samples of London school children"

National Foundation for Educational Research, Slough. ZIMILES, H. (1963) "A note on Piaget's concept of

conservation". Child Development, v. 34, p. 691-695. ZIMMERMAN, B.J. and LANARD, P. (1974) "Acquiring and retaining conservation of length through modelling and reversibility cues". Merrill-Palmer Quarterly, v. 20, (3) p. 145-61. APPENDIX 1. Subjects' raw scores.

KEY TO DATA SHEETS

SNO	=	Subjec	et's	s identifying number	
f.	=	female	9		
m	=	male			
AGE		in yea	ars	and months at first time of testing	
R1	=	number	2 01	f correct choices of completing pattern	
		on Rav	ren	's Coloured Matrices, Series A, B, AB	
R2	=	R1 exp	pres	ssed as percentile score*	
C1	=	number	: oi	f correct definitions on Crichton Vocabula	ry
co		01 077		Te:	st
02	=	on ext	T.e.	*	
IQest	5=	IQ est	ima	ate derived from R1 score	
A	=	Score	on	Conservation of Amount test	
W	=		11	" of Weight "	
V	=	11	11	" of Volume "	
M	=	11	11	Multiplication of Relations (matrix) test	
C	=	11	11	Class Inclusions test	
R	=	11	11	Role " "	
Po	=	U	11	Discrimination of Left/Right Positions te	st
Pe	=	н	11	Co-ordination of Perspectives test	
Re	=	11	11	Reciprocity of Relations (Brotherhood) tes	st

\* (upper line by Raven's standardisation, lower line by ILEA data (Woods n.d.)) 259

SNO.		AGE.	R1.	.R2.	. C1.	.02.	IQest.	A.	W.	v.	M.	C.	R.	Po.	Pe.	Re.
079	f	05.01	18	90	28	95	157	0	0	0	2	1	2	1	0	1
				75			113	0	0	0	3	1	0	1	1	0
								0	3	0	3	1	2	2	3	3
076	f	05.03	14	75	17	75	105	0	0	0	1	1	2	1	0	1
				50			89	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	1
	-							0	0	0	3	1	1	2	2	2
082	f	05.03	15	75	21	90	114	2	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	1
				50			95	0	0	0	2	2	3	2	0	1
_								0	0	0	2	2	1	1	0	2
077	m	05.04	20	95	23	95	161	0	2	1	1	1	0	1	0	1
				75			125	0	1	0	2	2	0	2	0	1
								0	1	0	1	2	1	2	1	1
075	f	05.04	22	95	34	95	169	3	2	0	3	1	3	0	1	3
				75			138	3	2	0	3	2	3	3	1	3
								3	3	0	3	2	3	2	3	3
025	m	05.04	17	90	23	90	140	0	0	0	2	1	1	2	0	1
				50			106	3	0	0	2	1	1	2	0	1
								3	2	0	3	3	2	1	1	3
023	ſ	05.04	18	90	15	50	150	0	0	0	2	1	0	1	0	3
				75			113	1	0	1	3	1	2	1	0	3
								3	2	2	3	1	2	1	2	3
073	f	05.05	19	75	22	95	152	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	1
				75			119	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	2
								0	3	0	3	2	0	2	1	2
081	f	05.06	21	95	23	90	159	3	2	0	3	1	1	1	1	1
				75			131	3	3	0	3	1	3	2	2	3
								3	3	0	3	3	3	3	2	3
019	m	05.06	16	75	30	95	127	2	0	0	2	2	5	1	1	2
				50			100	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	1
-								0	0	0	3	2	1	2	2	3
022	f	05.06	16	75	21	75	127	0	0	0	2	1	2	1	1	2
				50			100	0	0	0	3	2	0	2	2	1
								0	0	0	3	2	1	1	1	2

2	P	4
6	D	
	~	-

SNO.		AGE.	R1.	.R2.	.01.	.02.	IQest.	A.	w.	v.	M.	c.	R.	Po.	Pe.	Re.
026	m	05.06	22	95	28	95	163	2	1	0	3	1	3	0	0	3
				75			138	3	1	0	3	2	3	2	0	3
								3	3	0	3	3	3	1	0	2
074	f	05.07	17	90	24	90	134	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	2
				50			106	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	3
								0	0	0	2	2	0	1	2	3
078	m	05.08	20	90	25	90	150	0	0	1	1	1	0	1	0	0
				50			125	0	0	0	2	1	0	0	0	3
							-	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	3
024	m	05.08	26	95	36	95	185	2	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	3
				75			163	2	1	0	3	3	3	1	1	3
								2	1	0	3	3	3	1	1	3
027	m	05.09	18	90	24	90	139	0	0	0	3	1	2	1	0	0
				50			113	0	0	0	1	1	2	2	0	2
								0	0	0	3	2	5	2	0	3
029	f	05.09	18	90	24	90	139	0	0	0	2	2	0	1	0	1
				50			113	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	1
								0	0	0	1	2	1	2	0	1
015	ſ	05.10	22	95	13	25	154	0	0	0	2	1	0	2	2	2
				75			138	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	1
								0	0	0	3	2	1	1	1	3
017	m	05.11	16	75	24	90	118	0	0	0	2	1	0	1	1	0
				50			100	2	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	3
								0	0	0	1	2	1	1	1	3
083	I	05.11	21	95	23	90	148	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	2
				75			131	0	2	0	2	1	1	1	1	5
and the second				-				1	0	0	3	2	1	1	0	3

#### DATA SHEET 2

SNO.		AGE.	R1	.R2.	C1.	.02.	IQest.	A.	W.	v.	M.	C.	R.	Po.	Pe.	Re.
009	f	06.00	27	95	27	50	179	2	1	0	1	2	3	3	2	3
				75			169	3	1	0	3	2	0	2	3	3
								3	0	0	3	2	1	2	2	3
018	m	06.01	16	50	27	90	115	2	2	0	2	2	0	1	2	3
				50			100	3	3	0	2	2	0	1	2	3
								3	3	2	1	2	3	2	2	3
126	m	06.01	24	95	28	90	156	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	1
				50			150	3	2	0	3	2	1	1	0	2
								3	0	0	3	3	0	1	2	2
067	m	06.01	20	90	29	95	139	0	0	0	1	1	0	2	0	1
				50			125	0	0	0	1	1	0	2	0	1
								0	0	0	3	3	0	1	1	1
070	m	06.02	22	95	34	95	145	0	0	0	3	3	2	1	2	2
				50			138	3	2	0	3	2	1	1	3	3
								3	0	2	3	2	3	2	2	3
030	ſ	06.02	17	75	26	90	121	0	0	0	2	1	3	1	0	2
				50			106	3	0	0	2	2	3	2	2	3
								3	0	0	1	2	2	2	1	3
014	m	06.03	23	95	26	90	148	3	1	0	2	1	2	1	2	3
				50			144	3	1	3	3	1	3	2	2	3
								3	3	0	3	3	3	3	3	3
020	m	06.03	16	50	20	50	112	0	0	0	2	1	0	1	1	1
				50			100	0	1	0	2	2	0	1	1	2
								1	2	0	3	1	2	2	2	3
065	m	06.03	28	95	40	95	176	3	3	0	1	3	3	2	2	3
				75			175	3	3	0	2	2	3	3	2	3
								3	3	0	3	3	3	3	2	3
127	f	06.03	20	90	33	95	139	0	0	0	3	1	1	0	1	3
				50			125	3	0	0	3	3	2	2	1	3
								3	2	0	3	3	0	1	2	2
069	m	06.03	19	75	45	95	132	0	0	0	3	1	3	1	2	3
				50			119	0	0	0	3	3	3	1	0	3
								0	0	0	3	3	3	1	2	3

SNO.		AGE.	R1	.R2	.C1	.02.	IQest.	A.	W.	v.	M.	C.	R.	Po.	Pe.	Re
800	m	06.04	22	90	27	75	142	0	0	0	1	2	0	0	1	2
				50			138	0	0	0	1	2	0	1	2	2
								3	3	1	1	2	2	3	3	3
016	m	06.06	11	10	16	10	85	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0
				10			75	1	1	0	3	1	0	1	0	3
								1	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	3
021	m	06.06	17	50	23	50	115	0	0	0	3	1	1	1	1	3
				25			90	3	0	0	3	2	2	0	2	3
-	_							3	3	0	3	2	3	2	2	3
080	f	06.06	16	50	26	75	108	2	1	0	3	1	0	2	0	3
				25			85	0	0	0	3	1	3	1	1	3
								3	0	0	3	3	2	1	3	3
072	m	06.07	18	75	28	75	112	3	1	0	3	3	3	1	2	3
				25			95	2	1	0	2	2	2	2	2	2
-								3	1	0	3	2	3	1	3	3
063	f	06.08	17	50	32	90	112	0	0	0	3	1	2	2	0	3
				25			90	0	0	0	2	1	0	1	0	3
							1	0	0	0	3	1	0	1	0	3
064	f	06.08	22	90	38	95	134	0	0	0	1	1	2	1	2	3
				50			110	2	1	0	3	3	2	3	1	3
								3	3	1	3	2	2	3	2	3
002	m	06.10	13	10	22	25	81	3	2	0	1	2	0	2	2	3
				10			79	3	3	1	3	2	0	1	2	2
								3	3	1	2	2	0	2	1	3
071	f	06.11	26	95	33	90	151	3	3	2	3	2	3	2	2	3
				75			130	3	3	1	3	2	3	3	2	3
								3	3	2	3	3	3	3	2	3

# DATA SHEET 3

SNO.		AGE.	R1	.R2.	.C1.	.02.	IQest.	A.	W.	v.	М.	C.	R.	Po.	Pe.	Re.
011	m	07.00	31	95	46	95	171	3	3	0	3	3	3	3	3	3
				95			155	3	3	1	3	3	3	3	3	3
					-			3	3	0	3	3	3	3	3	3
061	m	07.00	17	50	32	75	107	2	0	0	3	2	3	1	2	2
				25			85	1	1	0	3	2	2	2	1	3
	-		-					2	1	0	3	3	3	3	2	3
062	m	07.00	21	75	52	95	125	3	0	0	2	3	3	2	0	3
				50			105	3	3	0	3	3	3	3	1	3
	_				_			3	1	0	2	3	3	3	2	3
068	f	07.00	25	95	38	95	146	3	2	0	3	1	2	1	1	3
				75			125	3	0	0	3	1	2	1	2	3
			-					3	1	1	3	2	3	2	2	3
004	m	07.01	18	75	30	75	112	3	3	3	2	2	2	1	1	3
				25			90	3	0	0	1	3	3	1	2	3
-					-			3	0	0	3	2	3	2	2	3
088	f	07.02	16	50	23	25	098	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	0	3
				25			80	0	0	0	1	2	1	1	0	2
								0	0	0	3	2	2	0	0	3
084	m	07.02	30	95	41	95	165	0	0	0	0	2	3	2	2	3
				95			150	3	0	0	1	3	3	3	2	3
-					_			3	3	0	3	3	3	2	3	3
007	f	07.03	22	90	39	95	124	3	2	0	2	1	2	1	2	2
				50			110	3	3	0	3	2	3	2	1	3
-	_							3	3	0	3	2	3	1	2	3
010	m	07.03	25	95	32	75	141	3	1	0	2	1	2	2	2	3
				75			125	3	1	0	3	2	2	3	3	3
						_		3	3	0	2	2	3	3	3	3
012	f	07.03	17	50	28	50	105	3	0	0	3	1	3	3	2	3
				25			85	3	3	1	3	2	1	2	1	3
								3	2	1	3	2	3	2	3	3
013	ſ	07.04	32	95	37	95	163	3	3	3	2	2	3	3	3	3
				95			160	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
								3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3

SNO.		AGE.	R1	.R2	.C1	. 02.	IQest.	A.	W.	V.	Μ.	С.	R.	Po.	Pe.	Re
005	f	07.05	12	5	28	50	67	0	0	0	1	1	3	1	1	2
				10			65	0	0	0	1	2	2	1	0	3
								0	0	0	1	2	2	1	1	3
129	m	07.09	22	75	33	75	109	3	1	0	3	1	2	1	0	3
				50			105	3	1	0	1	2	2	1	0	3
	_							3	3	0	3	3	2	3	1	3
006	f	07.06	21	75	41	95	116	3	2	1	1	1	3	2	2	3
				50			100	3	3	0	3	2	3	2	3	3
								3	3	0	3	3	3	2	3	3
003	f	07.06	26	95	26	25	140	3	3	3	1	2	3	2	1	3
				50			124	3	2	0	1	3	3	2	.1	3
								3	3	2	3	3	3	3	2	3
090	m	07.07	25	95	41	95	135	0	0	0	2	2	2	1	1	3
				50			119	1	0	0	1	2	2	1	2	3
								2	0	0	3	3	3	2	1	3
001	f	07.07	23	90	39	90	122	2	1	0	1	2	2	1	1	3
				50			110	3	0	0	3	2	3	2	3	3
								3	2	0	3	3	3	2	2	3
089	m	07.09	21	.75	36	75	113	0	0	0	3	1	1	3	2	3
				50			100	3	0	0	3	2	2	2	2	3
								3	2	0	3	3	3	3	3	3
086	m	07.11	17	50	41	95	100	3	1	1	1	2	0	2	1	3
				25			81	3	3	3	1	3	2	3	1	3
								3	3	0	2	3	3	2	1	3
087	f	07.11	22	75	44	90	114	0	1	0	1	2	3	1	2	3
				50			105	2	2	0	3	3	3	3	2	3
	1					-		0	0	0	3	3	3	3	3	3

•

DATA SHEET 4

SNO.		AGE.	R1	.R2	.C1.	.02.	IQest.	<b>A</b> .	W.	v.	M.	C.	R.	Po.	Pe.	Re.
032	m	08.00	28	95	37	75	137	3	3	0	2	1	3	3	1	3
				75			122	3	3	1	3	3	3	3	2	3
	1							3	3	2	3	3	3	3	3	3
036	f	08.00	21	75	29	50	109	2	2	1	1	1	3	2	0	3
				25			91	0	0	0	1	2	1	2	1	2
				-				3	0	0	3	2	2	1	0	3
033	m	08.01	20	50	50	95	105	3	3	0	1	1	3	1	0	3
				25			87	3	3	0	2	2	3	2	1	3
					-			3	0	0	1	1	3	2	2	3
039	f	08.01	17	25	28	25	93	0	0	0	3	1	3	0	1	3
				25			74	0	0	0	2	2	1	1	2	3
								0	0	0	2	2	2	0	2	3
040	f	08.01	15	10	32	50	77	3	2	0	1	1	1	1	0	1
				10			53	3	3	0	2	1	0	1	0	3
								3	2	2	1	2	0	2	2	3
034	m	08.02	26	95	33	50	128	3	3	0	3	2	3	2	2	2
				50			113	3	3	3	3	3	1	1	2	3
			1773					3	3	2	3	3	2	3	2	3
098	m	08.02	28	95	43	90	134	3	2	2	3	3	2	5	2	3
				75			122	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
								3	3	0	3	3	3	3	3	3
100	m	08.02	26	95	30	50	128	0	1	0	3	1	2	2	3	3
				50			113	1	0	0	3	2	1	2	2	3
								3	2	1	3	2	3	2	2	3
096	ſ	08.02	23	75	30	50	113	1	0	0	3	2	2	3	2	3
				50			100	0	0	0	3	2	1	2	2	3
								0	0	0	3	2	3	1	1	3
101	f	08.03	26	95	39	75	127	3	1	0	1	3	3	3	2	3
				50			113	3	3	0	3	3	3	3	2	3
								3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
037	m	08.03	17	25	41	75	93	1	0	0	3	1	3	0	2	3
				25			74	0	0	0	3	2	3	3	2	1
	1							0	0	0	3	2	0	3	2	1

DATA SHEET 4 (Contd.)

147 - AL VILLE - 24 47 7- 50

SNO.		AGE.	R1	.R2.	.C1.	.02.	IQest.	A.	W.	v.	M.	C.	R.	Po.	Pe.	Re.
094	f	08.04	21	75	48	95	105	3	0	0	0	2	1	2	2	3
				25			91	3	1	2	1	3	2	2	2	3
								3	3	0	3	3	3	3	2	3
092	m	08.05	33	95	58	95	140	3	3	0	3	2	3	3	2	3
				95			143	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
								3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
099	f	08.05	23	75	44	90	109	3	0	0	1	3	3	2	2	3
				50			100	3	0	2	3	3	3	2	2	3
								3	1	0	3	3	3	2	3	3
038	m	08.05	25	90	45	90	121	3	3	0	3	1	3	3	2	3
				50			109	3	2	0	3	2	3	3	2	3
								3	3	0	3	2	3	3	2	3
031	f	08.07	19	25	34	50	96	3	3	0	2	2	3	2	1	2
				25			73	3	3	0	3	2	2	1	3	3
								3	3	0	3	2	3	2	2	3
125	f	08.10	32	95	46	75	133	3	0	0	3	3	3	3	2	3
				75			123	3	1	1	3	3	3	3	3	3
								3	0	0	3	3	3	3	3	3
097	m	08.08	24	75	37	50	112	0	0	0	3	2	2	3	3	3
				25			92	2	2	0	3	2	0	2	2	1
								3	3	0	3	3	3	1	3	3
093	f	08.09	23	75	44	75	105	3	0	0	3	2	1	3	2	3
				25			88	3	2	1	1	3	1	2	1	3
-								3	3	0	3	3	2	2	3	3
091	m	08.11	25	75	44	75	115	3	3	0	3	1	3	1	2	3
				25			96	3	3	2	3	2.	3	3	2	3
								3	3	0	3	3	3	3	2	3

DATA SHEET 5

SNO.		AGE.	R1	.R2	. C1	.C2.	IQest.	A.	W.	v.	M.	С.	R.	Po.	Pe.	Re.
047	ſ	09.00	23	50	47	75	103	3	3	0	3	2	3	2	2	3
				25			85	3	3	0	3	2	3	1	3	3
								3	3	0	3	2	2	3	3	3
048	m	09.00	33	95	48	75	130	3	3	0	3	2	3	2	3	3
				75			122	3	3	0	2	3	3	3	3	3
	-							3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
095	m	09.00	24	50	41	50	108	3	3	0	3	2	3	3	3	3
				25			89	3	1	0	3	1	3	2	2	3
			_	-				3	2	0	3	3	3	3	3	3
132	f	09.00	29	95	47	90	122	3	3	0	1	3	3	2	1	3
				50			107	3	0	0	3	3	3	1	2	3
					-			3	3	0	3	3	3	3	3	3
045	f	09.01	19	25	32	10	83	1	1	1	1	1	3	2	0	3
				10			70	3	0	0	3	2	2	2	1	3
							in martin	3	2	3	3	3	2	1	0	3
043	m	09.03	19	25	49	75	89	3	3	0	1	3	3	1	2	3
				10			70	3	3	1	3	3	3	2	3	3
								3	3	3	3	3	3	2	2	3
112	m	09.03	21	25	44	50	75	3	3	3	2	3	1	1	3	3
				25			78	3	3	3.	3	3	3	3	3	3
								3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
042	f	09.04	19	25	38	50	88	1	0	0	2	3	3	1	2	3
				10			70	3	2	1	2	2	2	2	0	3
_								3	3	0	3	2	2	2	1	3
050	m	09.05	27	75	56	95	115	2	0	0	3	2	0	1	5	3
				50			100	3	3	0	3	3	0	1	3	3
						_		3	1	0	3	2	3	3	3	3
113	f	09.05	19	25	47	75	88	2	2	0	2	2	2	1	2	3
				10			70	3	3	1	2	1	1	3	2	3
								3	3	0	3	3	2	2	2	3
107	f	09.05	22	50	38	50	96	2	2	0	1	1	2	1	1	3
				25			81	3	1	0	3	2	1	3	2	3
						1		3	3	0	3	3	1	2	2	3

SNO.		AGET	R1.	.R2.	.C1.	.C2.	IQest.	A.	W.	v.	M.	C.	R.	Po.	Pe.	Re.
044	f	09.06	32	95	41	50	120	3	3	1	3	2	3	3	3	3
				90			133	3	3	3	1	2	2	3	3	3
								3	3	2	3	3	3	3	3	3
108	m	09.06	28	75	59	95	115	3	1	1	3	3	3	3	2	3
				75			117	3	3	2	3	3	2	3	3	3
								3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
109	m	09.06	29	75	54	75	121	3	3	2	1	2	3	3	3	3
				75			121	3	3	1	1	1	2	2	2	3
		and in						3	3	0	3	3	3	2	3	3
102	f	09.07	24	50	46	50	99	0	0	0	2	3	5	2	2	3
				50			100	3	1	0	3	2	2	3	2	3
								3	3	0	3	3	2	3	1	3
041	m	09.07	19	10	39	25	86	0	0	0	2	1	2	0	0	1
				25			79	2	2	0	3	1	2	2	0	1
								3	0	0	2	2	2	2	2	3
106	ſ	09.07	25	50	44	50	107	3	3	0	1	3	3	2	2	2
				50			104	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	1	3
_								3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
130	m	09.09	29	75	53	75	118	3	3	0	3	3	3	3	2	3
				75			121	3	3	0	3	3	3	3	3	3
								3	3	0	3	3	3	3	3	3
111	f	09.09	29	75	50	75	118	3	3	2	1	1	2	3	2	3
				75			121	3	3	2	3	3	3	2	2	3
-	-					_		3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
105	m	09.10	28	75	54	75	112	3	1	0	3	2	3	3	2	3
				50			117	3	3	0	3	2	3	3	3	3
								3	3	0	3	3	3	3	3	3

DATA SHEET 6

SNO.	_	AGE.	R1.	.R2.	.01.	.02.	IQest.	A.	W.	v.	М.	C.	R.	Po.	Pe.	Re.
054	ſ	10.00	22	25	36	10	90	3	3	0	1	3	2	1	2	3
				25			76	3	3	3	3	2	2	0	2	3
			-					3	3	1	3	3	2	2	3	3
051	m	10.00	33	95	60	90	120	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
				75			114	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
				_				3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
057	f	10.00	26	50	38	10	105	3	2	0	3	2	3	2	2	3
				25			90	3	3	0	3	2	2	2	2	3
			_				1	3	3	2	3	3	2	2	2	3
110	m	10.00	27	50	47	50	107	3	3	0	2	1	3	2	2	3
				25			93	3	3	2	1	3	3	3	2	3
								3	3	1	3	3	3	3	3	3
103	f	10.01	24	50	55	75	99	3	3	0	3	3	3	3	1	3
				25			83	3	3	0	3	2	3	2	2	3
								3	3	0	3	3	3	3	3	3
056	f	10.01	26	50	55	75	104	3	3	0	2	3	3	2	2	3
				25			90	3	3	1	3	2	3	3	2	3
								3	3	1	3	2	3	3	2	3
123	m	10.08	31	90	68	95	109	3	0	2	3	3	2	2	2	3
				75			107	3	3	2	3	3	3	3	2	3
								3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
059	f	10.03	23	25	47	50	91	3	1	0	2	5	3	3	1	3
				25			79	3	3	0	3	2	3	2	2	3
_						0.		3	3	0	3	2	3	3	3	3
058	m	10.03	30	75	56	75	115	3	3	0	3	3	3	2	2	3
				50			103	3	3	0	3	3	3	3	2	3
	_				_		-	3	3	0	3	3	3	3	3	3
060	f	10.04	28	75	45	50	106	3	3	1	3	2	3	2	3	3
				50			97	3	1	0	3	3	2	5	3	3
			-					3	3	1	3	3	3	3	2	3
117	m	10.04	23	25	61	90	90	3	3	0	3	2	3	2	2	3
				25			79	3	3	0	3	3	3	1	3	3
		Service Ser						3	3	1	3	3	3	1	3	3

DATA SHEET 6 (Contd.)

SNO.		AGE.	R1.	.R2.	.C1.	.02.	IQest.	A.	W.	v.	M.	C.	R.	Po.	Pe.	Re.
118	f	10.05	26	50	34	10	101	3	3	0	1	2	2	3	2	3
				25			90	3	2	0	3	2	1	3	3	3
-	-	1. Composition						3	3	0	3	2	2	3	3	3
055	m	10.05	33	95	48	50	114	3	2	2	3	3	3	2	2	3
				75			114	3	1	0	3	2	3	2	3	3
-		- and		_				3	3	1	3	3	3	2	3	3
119	f	10.05	31	90	59	90	114	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	3	3
				75			107	3	3	0	3	3	3	3	3	3
			_					3	3	2	3	3	3	3	3	3
052	f	10.06	28	50	50	50	105	3	3	0	3	3	2	2	0	3
				50			100	3	3	1	3	3	2	3	2	3
		-						3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
114	m	10.06	29	75	50	50	115	3	2	0	1	1	3	1	2	3
				50			104	3	3	1	1	2	2	1	2	3
								3	3	1	3	2	3	1	3	3
115	f	10.08	17	5	38	10	71	3	3	2	1	1	2	2	1	3
				10			61	3	2	0	2	3	2	1	2	3
		A STRACT						3	3	0	1	3	3	2	2	3
120	m	10.08	30	75	45	25	108	3	3	0	3	3	3	3	3	3
				50			107	3	3	2	3	3	3	3	3	3
								3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
121	f	10.09	30	75	64	75	108	3	3	0	2	3	3	2	1	3
				50			107	3	3	0	3	3	3	2	2	3
		3.5	-					3	3	0	3	3	3	3	3	3
124	m	10.10	32	90	61	75	114	3	0	2	3	3	2	3	3	3
				75			114	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
7.8.	101				200		2.24	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3

Volume

Source	SS	MS	F	υ <sub>1</sub>	υ2	P
Age	34.62	6.92	2.83	5	114	< .025
linear trend	34.4	34.4	14.03	1	114	< .001
quadratic trend	. 04	.04	< 1	1	114	NS
cubic trend	0	0	< 1	1	114	NS
quartic trend	.12	.12	< 1	1	114	NS
quintic trend	.09	.09	< 1	1	114	NS
Subjects within age 2	78.77	2.45				
Testing	5.87	2.94	43.7	2	228	< .001
linear trend	5.25	5.25	75.4	1	228	< .001
quadratic trend	. 504	. 504	7.25	1	228	< .01
Age x Testing	9.13	.913	13.6	10	228	< .001
linear x linear trend	2.12	2.12	31.6	1	228	< .001
x quadratic trend	.04	• 04	< 1	1	228	NS
x cubic trend	.26	. 26	3.8	1	228	NS
x quartic trend	1.22	1.22	18.2	1	228	< .001
x quintic trend	1.45	1.45	21.6	1	228	< .001
quadratic x linear trend	.02	.02	< 1	1	228	NS
x quadratic	.75	.75	11.2	1	228	< .001
x cubic trend	.63	.63	9.4	1	228	< .01
x quartic trend	.25	.25	3.7	1	228	NS
x quintic trend	1.42	1.42	21.2	1	228	< .001
Testing x Subjects within Age	15.33	.067				

#### Matrix

Source	SS	MS	F	υ1	υ2	P
Age	14.2	2.84	3.01	5	114	< .025
linear trend quadratic trend	12.7	12.7	13.52	1 1	114 114	< .001 NS
quartic trend quintic trend	• 12 • 29 1• 05	.12 .29 1.05	< 1 < 1 1.12	1 1 1	114 114 114	ns ns ns
Subjects within Age	107.45	•94	ē			
Testing	27.45	13.73	31.8	2	228	< .001
linear trend quadratic trend	27.34 .113	27.34 .113	63.6	1	228 228	< .001 NS
Age x Testing	3.48	• 348	< 1	10	228	NS
Testing x Subjects within Age	98.41	•432				

#### Weight

Source	SS	MS	F	υ1	υ2	P
Age	173.6	34.73	14.7	5	114	< .001
linear trend	171.6	171.6	7.26	1	114	< .01
quadratic trend	. 58	. 58	< 1	1	114	NS
cubic trend	. 18	.18	< 1	1	114	NS
quartic trend	.69	.69	< 1	1	114	NS
quintic trend	56	. 56	< 1	1	114	NS
Subjects within age	269.4	2.36	3 1	1		18
Testing	23.6	11.8	15.6	2	228	< .001
linear trend	23.44	23.44	30.8	1	228	< .001
quadratic trend	.2	.2	< 1	1	228	NS
Age x Testing	1.15	.115	< 1	10	228	NS

### Appendix 2

### Amount

Summary of Split-plot	Analyses	of Vari	ance for	Deve	elopmen	tal Trends
Source	SS	MS	F	v <sub>1</sub>	υ2	P
Age	140.4	35.09	12.15	4	95	< .001
linear trend	124.2	124.2	42.98	1	95	< .001
quadratic trend	11.7	11.7	4.04	1	95	< .05
cubic trend	4.0	4.0	1.38	1	95	NS
quartic trend	0.48	0.48	< 1	1	95	NS
Subjects within age	274.3	2.89			ata	
Testing	16.22	8.11	17.14	2	190	< .001
linear trend	15.68	15.68	33.36	1	190	< .001
quadratic trend	0.54	0.54	1.15	1	190	NS
Age x Testing	9.21	1.15	2.43	8	190	< .025
linear x linear trend	.01	.01	< 1	1	190	NS
x quadratic tre	end .35	. 35	< 1	1	190	NS
x cubic trend	6.0	6.0	13	1	190	< .001
x quartic trend	.86	.86	1.9	1	190	NS
quadratic x linear tre	end .12	. 12	< 1	1	190	NS
x quadratic trer	nd O	0	< 1	1	190	NS
x cubic	1.4	1.4	3	1	190	NS
x quartic	• 47	• 47	1	1	190	NS
Testing x Subjects within age	89.9	• 47			226	ЪЦ.
The state of the second						

#### Class

Source	SS	MS	F	υ1	υ2	P
Age	50.95	10.2	15.6	5	114	< .001
linear trend	46.7	46.7	70.8	1	114	< .001
quadratic trend	2.1	2.1	3.2	1	114	NS
cubic trend	1.6	1.6	2.5	1	114	NS
quartic trend	0	0	< 1	1	114	NS
quintic trend	. 48	.48	< 1	1	114	NS
Subjects within Age	74.72	.66				
Testing	31.55	15.8	55.1	2	228	< .001
linear trend	31.54	31.54	110.2	1	228	< .001
quadratic trend	.001	.001	< 1	1	228	NS
Age x Testing	5.89	• 589	2.06	10	228	< .025
linear x linear trend	1.8	1.8	6.29	1	228	< .025
x quadratic tre	nd .39	• 39	1.5	1	228	NS
x cubic trend	.09	.09	< 1	1	228	NS
x quartic trend	. 24	.24	< 1	1	228	NS
x quintic trend	. 27	.27	< 1	1	228	NS
quadratic x linear tres	nd .02	.02	< 1	1	228	NS
x quadratic trend	1.34	1.34	4.67	1	228	< .05
x cubic trend	d .45	.45	1.9	1	228	NS
x quartic trend	1.0	1.0	3.5	1	228	NS
x quintic trend	. 26	.26	< 1	1	228	NS
Testing x Subjects	65.24	.286				113
Within Age						* 1001

1 10 229 10

277

Role

Source	SS	MS	F	υ1	υ2	P
Age	113.36	22.67	13.7	5	114	< .001
linear trend	90.03	90.03	54.3	1	114	< .001
quadratic trend	10.31	10.31	6.2	1	114	< .025
cubic trend	.93	.93	< 1	1	114	NS
quartic trend	5.95	5.95	3.6	1	114	NS
quintic trend	6.11	6.11	3.7	1	114	NS
Subjects within Age	188.68	1.66				
Testing	8.32	. 4.16	5.41	2	228	< .01
linear trend	4.26	4.26	5.52	1	228	< .025
quadratic trend	4.05	4.05	5.2	1	228	< .025
Age x Testing	3.75	• 375	< 1	10	228	ns
Testing x Subjects wi Age	thin 175.27	•77				
Position						
Source	SS	MS	F	v7	υ2	P
Age	54.9	10.98	10.3	5	114	< .001
linear trend	50.8	50.8	47.48	1	114	< .001
quadratic, trend	3.5	3.5	3.3	1	114	NS
cubic trend	.07	.07	< 1	1	114	NS
quartic trend	. 34	• 34	< 1	1	114	NS
quintic trend	.20	.20	< 1	1	114	NS
Subjects within Age	121.5	1.07				
Testing	18.96	9.48	24.2	2	228	< .001
linear trend	18.8	18.8	38.5	1	228	< .001
quadratic trend	.1	.1	< 1	1	228	NS
Age x Testing	2.69	. 269	< 1	10	228	NS
Testing x Subjects within Age	89.35	• 39				

#### Perspective

Source	SS	MS	F	υ1	υ2	P
Age	114.0	22.8	16.62	5	114	< .001
linear trend	102.5	102.5	74.8	1	114	< .001
quadratic trend	7.5	7.5	5.5	1	114	< .025
cubic trend	3.03	3.03	2.21	1	114	NS
quartic trend	.91	.91	< 1	1	114	NS
quintic trend	.06	.06	< 1	1	114	NS
Subjects within Age	156.4	1.37				
Testing	28.82	14.41	40.36	2	228	< .001
linear trend	28.02	28.02	77.8	1	228	< .001
quadratic trend	.8	.8	2.2	1	228	NS
Age x Testing	1.7	.17	< 1	10	228	NS
Testing x Subjects within Age	81.4	• 36	143.8°			

## Relation

Source	SS	MS	F	υ1	υ2	P
Age	42.05	8.41	17.28	5	114	< .001
linear trend	28.67	28.67	58.51	1	114	< .001
quadratic trend	8.92	8.92	18.20	1	114	< .001
cubic trend	3.78	3.78	7.71	1	114	< .01
quartic trend	.021	.021	< 1	1	114	NS
quintic trend	.66	.66	1.35	1	114	NS
Subjects within Age	55.48	• 49				
Testing	5.74	2.87	12.94	2	228	< .001
linear trend	5.7	5.7	25.7	1	228	< .001
quadratic trend	.035	.035	< 1	1	228	NS
Age x Testing	7.69	•769	3.47	10	228	< .001
linear x linear trend	5.23	5.23	23.8	1	228	< .001
x quadratic trend	d 1.63	1.63	7.4	1	228	< .01
x cubic trend	.61	.61	2.8	1	228	NS
x quartic trend	.004	.004	< 1	1	228	NS
x quintic trend	.004	.004	< 1	1	228	NS
remainder (quadratic x	.21	.21	.9	5	228	NS
Testing x Subjects within Age		.222				